Rising to the
challenge
Annual Report 2020

charteredaccountantsanz.com

This year has been a catalyst for change. It has tested our society and economy in
previously unfathomable ways. As a future-focused organisation, our education,
resources and personal support has helped members to become uniquely equipped
to chart the best course of action and make a real difference to their clients,
businesses and communities when they need it the most.
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About us
Chartered Accountants ANZ
is committed to promoting prosperity
in Australia and New Zealand
by supporting our members to
work effectively in their businesses
and communities
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About Chartered Accountants
Australia and New Zealand
Chartered Accountants Australia and New Zealand (Chartered Accountants ANZ) was formed on 1 January 2015 through the
amalgamation of the former Institute of Chartered Accountants Australia and the New Zealand Institute of Chartered Accountants.

Our professional body represents 128,683 members globally, the majority based in
Australasia. We are committed to promoting prosperity in Australia and New Zealand
by supporting our members to work effectively in their businesses and communities, and
through our in-house thought leadership on matters of public interest and constructive
submissions on government policy and regulation.

As part of our obligation to members, we offer lifelong learning opportunities, networking
events and professional support. We also maintain a robust process to discipline poor
conduct and support Chartered Accountants who offer services directly to the public and
perform practice reviews of chartered accounting practices to protect the public and the
reputation of the profession.

As a higher education provider in accounting, the Chartered Accountants Program
(CA Program) combines the rigour of education and the practical application of learned
skills in the workplace.

Chartered Accountants ANZ is a member of the International Federation of Accountants,
the Global Accounting Alliance and Chartered Accountants Worldwide, linking us into a
global community of millions of Chartered Accountants and accounting students.

Chartered Accountants are required to undertake continuing professional development
after securing their qualification that covers topics from technological innovation to ethics.
They are also required to demonstrate the values of professional integrity, principled
judgment, financial discipline and a forward-looking approach to business, which underpins
the profession.

We are an associate member of the ASEAN Federation of Accountants, a member of the
Confederation of Asian and Pacific Accountants and have a strategic alliance with the
Association of Chartered Certified Accountants.
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Chartered Accountants ANZ is an Australian registered body corporate that is governed
by its supplemental Royal Charter and is domiciled in Australia. Members of Chartered
Accountants ANZ are not liable for the debts and liabilities of the CA ANZ Group.

Copyright © Chartered Accountants Australia and New Zealand. All rights reserved. ABN 50 084 642 571

Our global network
Members globally – 128,683
Members last year – 125,802

30,687
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Our members
Designation

Class

30 June 2020

30 June 2019

% change from
June 2019 –
June 2020

Chartered Accountant

Full

96,085

93,491

2.8%

18,745

18,293

2.5%

Fellow

7,499

7,507

-0.1%

Full

2,321

2,487

-6.8%

252

337

-25.2%

42

46

-8.7%

Full

1,111

1,094

1.6%

Provisional

456

532

-14.1%

6

4

50%

2,166

2,011

7.7%

128,683

125,802

2.3%

Provisional
Associate Chartered Accountant

Provisional
Fellow
Accounting Technician

Fellow
Affiliate

Total
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13%

43%

(2019 13%)

(2019 43%)

Our members by gender

Our members by age

Full

13%

59%
(2019 59%)

44%

43%

(2019 13%)

(2019 43%)

(2019 44%)
Full

Full
44% Percentage change
2019 ‒ 30 June 2020

41%
(2019 41%)

(2019 44%)
30 June

Percentage change

29%

30 June 2019 ‒ 30 June 2020
MALE

FEMALE

Percentage change

40 AND UNDER

(2019 27%)

48%

40 AND UNDER

(2019 48%)

Provisional

(2019 58%)

52%

40-60

OVER 60

29%

43%
(2019 42%)

FEMALE

(2019 73%)

Provisional

30 June 2019 ‒ 30 June 2020
MALE

57%
(2019 58%)

All members

Percentage change
30 June 2019 ‒ 30 June 2020
Percentage change

43%
(2019 42%)

(2019 73%)

71%

(2019 27%)

Percentage
change
All
members

71%

OVER 60

Provisional

57%

(2019 52%)

40-60

30 June 2019 ‒ 30 June 2020

30 AND UNDER

OVER 30

30 June 2019 ‒ 30 June 2020

Percentage change

30 June 2019 ‒ 30 June 2020

30 AND UNDER

OVER 30

Percentage change
30 June 2019 ‒ 30 June 2020

MALE

MALE

FEMALE

FEMALE

Note: The gender data does not include 125 members who have chosen not to provide their gender.
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Note: The age data does not include 132 members who have no date of birth recorded.
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Our strategy
Developed following a strategic review in consultation with members globally in late 2017, our strategic intent is to proactively
shape the accounting profession of the future by developing opportunities for our members that build value for themselves,
their clients and the communities in which they live and work.

The strategy discovery, invention and design process yielded four lenses on the future that
reflect member feedback – the accounting professional of the future, practice of the future,
services of the future and communities of the future.
We applied these lenses to our activities to understand how our work reinforces the capacity
of members to thrive and adapt which led to the development of strategic initiatives such as
the review of the CA Program, My CA, CA Catalyst and CA Capability+.

Accounting professional of the future:
to maintain the relevance of accounting professionals, to enhance their value to business
and society and develop Chartered Accountants who are equipped with the right mix of
capabilities, attract a more diverse pool of candidates, meet market demand for well-rounded
accounting professionals and support ongoing development.

Communities of the future:
enable our diverse membership to collaborate with each other and their professional body
to leverage the combined intelligence of our community to create solutions and amplify
advocacy messages, facilitate opportunities to network and understand member needs in
real-time.

Services of the future:
help members explore what roles, markets and services they can add value to and that
are most relevant in the marketplace, leveraging the position of trust held by Chartered
Accountants to extend their reach into new areas of opportunity and shape the education
and advocacy programmes to drive opportunities for members.

Practice of the future:
support small and mid-tier practices to reconceive their business models, work practices and
capabilities, address their key issues across the lifecycle of their practice and create better
tools, learning programmes and advocacy for the changing nature of work.
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Chair’s report
John Palermo FCA outlines the Chartered Accountants Australia and New Zealand Board’s focus
throughout the year and direction into the future.
In writing this report, I am cognisant of the fact that the year
2020 requires no context setting, whether now or in history.
As the domino effects of the COVID-19 pandemic ripple through
communities, businesses and the profession more broadly, we
remain firm in our commitment to support and guide our members
as they continue to make a difference.
At the outset of the pandemic, the Board adopted a set of guiding
principles for our response, with a particular focus on ensuring the
high quality of service provided to members persisted regardless
of change in delivery format, the continued pursuit of long-term
sustainability of the organisation and supporting the wellbeing of
members and employees.
This assessment steered the Board’s decision-making and resulted
in a number of actions, including the application of a cash flow
scenario analysis for potential adverse implications such as low
revenue or reduced membership numbers, the introduction of
quarterly payments for membership renewals as an alternative to
an upfront fee and extending our Employee Assistance Program to
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members for counselling support. We delayed some capital projects
while fast-tracking others that were much-needed, such as further
investment into our IT infrastructure to ensure the online delivery
of our flagship CA Program and to support employees working
from home. Expenditure was reviewed as the pandemic developed
to ensure member support had a sustainable focus. To support this,
in light of the economic conditions the executive team acted early to
relinquish their variable remuneration in 2020. The Board felt this
was over and above our expectation, given the increased workload
and intense change.
The rapid online pivot of the CA Program was a particularly
noteworthy milestone this year. With over 90 per cent of the
8,750 candidates enrolled in Term 1 choosing to continue their
studies online, Chartered Accountants Australia and New Zealand
delivered nine invigilated exams, upskilled employees, facilitators
and markers, held over 200 workshops and provided the necessary
resources and support to our students. This exceptional effort over
a short time has also set us up well for the long-term refresh of our
CA Program.
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“I am pleased to report that at the time of writing,
we have stable, sustained membership and
enrolment numbers. Our guiding principles will
continue to form the basis of our decision-making
as we face unknown headwinds before us.”
– John Palermo FCA, Chair
As the final year of our three-year strategy comes to an end, we aim
to transition to a renewed CA Program environment in mid-2021.
A Capability Model that maps out the development of members
and the capabilities required at different career stages has been
developed through extensive engagement and research, with a
diagnostic tool to be launched in the first half of FY21.

body through the adjustments required to support members and
continue to operate effectively during the COVID-19 pandemic.
I am pleased to report that at the time of writing, we have stable,
sustained membership and enrolment numbers. Our guiding
principles will continue to form the basis of our decision-making as
we face unknown headwinds before us.
This year saw a series of significant events both externally and
within your professional body. An extraordinary crisis required an
extraordinary response and the accounting profession rose to the
challenge.

This year also saw the appointment of a new Chief Executive
Officer, Ainslie van Onselen. Commencing the role in May 2020,
Ainslie’s strong record of strategic thinking, agility and digital
acumen will drive how we shape the future of the professional
body, particularly in a post COVID-19 context, with a strategy
refresh currently underway.
The Board and I would like to acknowledge and thank Rick Ellis for
his contribution to the designation since joining as Chief Executive
Officer in 2017. During his time Rick oversaw a strategic review
which underpinned an ambitious vision for the future of the
profession and Chartered Accountants Australia and New Zealand.

John Palermo FCA, Chair

We also wish to thank Simon Hann who was our interim Chief
Executive Officer during 2020 for ably steering our professional
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President’s report
Peter Rupp FCA summarises how we supported the full depth and breadth of our membership, whether new
or experienced, in metro or regional areas, and members working in business or practice.
When I started my year as President in January 2020, my eyes were
to the future of the profession, to navigating digital disruption and
with a priority focus on supporting the next generation of younger
and upcoming Chartered Accountants.
While I could have never predicted the disruption that would come,
even after the challenges of drought and bushfires as we entered the
New Year, 2020 has presented new opportunities to engage with
our members on various online platforms including My CA. It has
made us focus on how we can become better equipped digitally
to ensure that we are providing the right tools and resources for
members at every stage of their careers.
It was humbling to see the generosity of our membership during
the Australian bushfires earlier this year. As your professional body
focused on providing relevant resources, support and guidance,
our members offered to volunteer their time and skills to make a
difference as part of our new programme to help impacted regional
and rural businesses.
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This compassion was a constant theme for our members
throughout the year, as I frequently heard them recount how they
were on the frontline advising, managing and guiding businesses,
their local communities and economies. Your professional body
shaped its response on members’ input – from channelling
feedback on the practical implementation of measures to
Government and regulators, to publishing tailored guides on the
areas members said they were struggling with. Topics such as the
digital transformation of their practices, financial and tax reporting,
and personal wellness and resilience were covered.

“I am passionate that the next generation of
Chartered Accountants be part of the shaping
of their own future.”
– Peter Rupp FCA, President
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Members often found clever and creative ways to respond to their
situation with some young Chartered Accountants building a
chatbot on their practice’s website within 48 hours specifically
to handle COVID-19-related enquiries. We, in turn, are finding
imaginative ways to respond including exploring ways to hold
a global member ceremony in late 2020. We are committed to
recognising the class of 2020 achieving their designation which is
a great accomplishment at the best of times and a special feat amid
the upheavals of 2020.
Technology has enabled me to attend a range of Regional Council
and Young Chartered Accountant panels and meetings throughout
the year, providing me with insight into the challenges we are facing
now and into the future. I was fortunate to be able to showcase
to the rest of the profession the enormous contribution and
enthusiastic ambition our younger Chartered Accountants have
through the #GenCA podcast series. This was great fun to produce
and has provided a platform to showcase the differences being made
by these members.
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I am passionate that the next generation of Chartered Accountants
be part of the shaping of their own future. Now more than ever,
as we commence the long journey of recovery, we need to amplify
their voice within our governance structure. This is one of the many
reasons why going forward, we are progressing with the inclusion
of a Young Chartered Accountant on our Chartered Accountants
Australia and New Zealand Council. Around 40 per cent of our
membership are provisional or young members who have varying
goals and needs to other demographics. Their collective voice will
only get stronger, and I am extremely hopeful their future will too.

Peter Rupp FCA, President
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CEO’s report
Ainslie van Onselen articulates the significant pivot by Chartered Accountants Australia and
New Zealand to uphold our high-quality of education, training and support so members were
equipped to make a real difference.
2020 was a test of resilience for the profession, for the community
and for organisations including Chartered Accountants Australia
and New Zealand. No body such as ours could thoroughly prepare
for the COVID-19 pandemic in advance, but rather many had to
rely on the foundations that had already been built and the quality
and agility of their team to respond. These strong footings and rapid
adaption of our management and our people allowed us to continue
and enhance our delivery for members.
For our education offering, this meant setting the high ambition
to transition the CA Program to online for the first time while
maintaining academic integrity and support. In six weeks, we
delivered four modules remotely with an online format for every
part, starting from workshops and classes to online exams with
remote proctoring and marking. This involved over 600 facilitators
and markers being upskilled, over 200 workshops held, and
nine online invigilated exams for over 8,000 students across 10
countries. Quality was maintained with our post implementation
review finding nearly 90 per cent of participants were satisfied with
the online exam experience.
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This effort was replicated across our professional development for
members. Existing workshops, conferences and regional events
were reconfigured with ultimately over 46,000 members attending
158 online events. This included weekly webinar sessions for
members to hear directly from Government stakeholders and
experts on how to tackle COVID-19 related challenges and new
ways of working. We made over 25,000 knowledge products
complimentary and ensured we were actually providing for and
supporting members by making more than 6,400 proactive
wellbeing and enrolment support calls to the membership.
The consistent uptake of digital tools, guides and resources that
members valued was also evident in our dedicated COVID-19
resources hub being accessed by over 42,000 unique visitors since
its launch in March 2020.
And notwithstanding the turn of events during 2020, the
organisation has made a surplus and continued to grow its
membership base.
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Our longstanding robust advocacy to Government, standardsetters and regulators coupled with our active contribution to the
public debate ensured a strong voice at the table when it came to
the creation and implementation of economic support measures.
This established advocacy effort can be seen in our approach to
tax reform in New Zealand plus our representation during the
Australian parliamentary inquiry into audit regulation in late 2019.
Our comprehensive 15-point plan on ways to enhance auditing
saw the inclusion of several recommendations in the inquiry’s
interim report and a plan tailored for New Zealand is currently
being developed.

Given we are in the final year of our current strategy, a refresh is
now underway with engagement across our entire membership
base and governance structure to provide a roadmap for the next
3-5 years.
I have seen the tremendous impact members have made and
continue to make during this time – described in the media as
superheroes and by commentators as being at the fore of our
economy – now more than ever. We are committed to ensuring
that we provide members with what they need and value so that the
profession of the future is modelled on the best of the now.

“We are committed to ensuring that we provide
members with what they need and value so that
the profession of the future is modelled on the
best of the now.”
– Ainslie van Onselen, Chief Executive Officer
The tremendous support this professional body provides to
members was one of the first details I noticed when I commenced
my role this year. The input from members whether from the
committed network of councils and committees, the member
insights panel or the strategic review back in 2017, has informed
a range of exceptional programmes and strategic initiatives.

Ainslie van Onselen, Chief Executive Officer

As we continue to deliver on these, I am also keen to ensure that we
deliver value across the entire member lifecycle, that our members
are fit for the digital age and that the difference that Chartered
Accountants make to transform businesses and communities is
front and centre.
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Our year
Chartered Accountants ANZ has been focused on the future,
developing the profession in a rapidly changing world and
supporting members as they assist businesses and communities
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Year at a Glance
Over the last three years, Chartered Accountants ANZ has been focused on the future, in building skills,
programmes and connections to develop the profession and build its resilience in a rapidly changing world.

This has comprised a range of initiatives from professional
development and education, advocacy and thought leadership, new
technology platforms and enhanced links to institutions around the
world and to local communities.
In 2020, that focus on the future collided with the present.
Australia was ravaged by a devastating bushfire season and then the
COVID-19 pandemic disrupted the global economy and – almost
instantly – created the most severe economic downturn in both
Australia and New Zealand since the Great Depression.
In practical terms, we responded by shifting priorities and creating
tailored resources to help members continue to make a difference to
businesses and communities affected by the disasters.
Amid the economic volatility, many clients needed the skills of their
Chartered Accountants as never before as they sought to find a way
through the disruptions and save their businesses and livelihoods.
Some needed strategic advice as they rapidly pivoted their business,
either simply to survive or to pursue new opportunities created in
the disruption.
In navigating the present, many of the forward-looking initiatives
from Chartered Accountants ANZ helped to equip members
to respond more effectively. These include, the digital delivery
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of member-based resources and the CA Program which enabled
the rapid and more efficient distribution of information, fostered
a closer sense of community and engagement as well as allowed
candidates to continue their path to become a difference maker.
As a result of the even playing field created by virtual events and
knowledge sharing sessions – unbiased to geographical or practice
limitations – more members were able to access our services.
We continue to protect the reputation of Chartered Accountants
and maintain public confidence by ensuring members are
upholding their commitment to meet high professional and
quality standards through practice reviews and a professional
conduct process.
The crisis of 2020 is by no means over, and its impact will be felt for
many years to come. As a forward-looking professional body, our
focus is still firmly on the future and our commitment to provide
education, resources, advocacy and personal and professional
support that is valued by members.
In doing this, our aim is to help members to both develop their own
careers and to make a positive difference at a time of uncertainty
and change.
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Members

128,683
–
↑

Up 2.3% from 2019

Members

Courses completed

Candidates

Members

Members advanced to Fellowship

Courses completed by members on
LinkedIn Learning

Delivered 9 online exams for the
first time for 8,008 candidates in
10 countries in Term 1

Members channelling
feedback through the Member
Insights Panel

220
–

Revenue generated

16,938
–

8,008
–

Products

Unique visitors

Support calls

Provided over 25,000
complimentary knowledge
products during our EOFY sale

Our COVID-19 resources
hub has been accessed by
42,768 unique visitors

More than 6,400 proactive outbound
wellbeing and enrolment support
calls to members

–

>25,000
–

My CA

Advocacy submissions

Practice reviews

People reached

Advocacy submissions across
Australia and New Zealand

Practice reviews undertaken

People reached through earned
media between April-June 2020

$138.7m
↑

Up 2.2% from 2019

>1.5m
–

More than 1.5 million total visits
to My CA
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218
–

42,768
–

5,200
–

337
–

>6,400
–

8.8m
–
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Accounting Professional of the Future
Chartered Accountants ANZ ensures members can make a difference by ensuring they can navigate disruption and are at the forefront
of change. Our goal is to equip members with the skills, resources and tools to develop throughout their career as trusted advisers for clients
and businesses needing expert guidance and to thrive in a fast-changing world.
Capabilities to shape the future

Tax
Financial planning

Accounting practices are being disrupted by new technologies. The way accountants do their
work and the type of work being done has changed significantly, and this means Chartered
Accountants will need new capabilities in future.

Superannuation
Audit and assurance
Insolvency
Corporate finance
Reporting

To keep pace with the ongoing evolution of the profession, Chartered Accountants ANZ
developed a Capability Model to help shape the future direction of our members and to
inform and guide their development.

Communication^

Critical thinking
and judgement^
Adaptive mind-set^
Self-management
and learning

N
PERSO AL

Ethics and
integrity^

CAPABILITY
MODEL

Regard for others

“Our findings highlight that future leaders in the profession will
be critical thinkers, problem solvers and great communicators and
collaborators – and that these capabilities, when complementing
technical knowledge, are becoming more and more critical in ensuring
career success and sustainability.”
– Peter Rupp FCA, President, Chartered Accountants ANZ

BUSINESS

The Model describes the technical and non-technical capabilities of a Chartered Accountant
at different stages of their career, from early-career through to executive level, comprising
capabilities in four domains – business (business context), leadership (people and future),
personal (mindset and intellect) and technical (professional expertise).

TECHNICAL

Collaboration and
relationships^
Problem solving and
decision making^
Customer focus
Digital acumen
Data analysis

LEAD

E RSHIP

Agility and change
Leading others
Driving results
Future focus

Guided by extensive research as part of our strategic review in late 2017, the Model is also
based on scientific analysis of 10 recent global accounting and leadership frameworks, a
survey of 2,000 members, workshops and focus groups in addition to collaboration with
academics and global partners.
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Innovation
Governance and risk

^ These are the six non-technical capabilities considered essential for future employability of a professional accountant irrespective of their level
of work, career stage, location or job role. The other non-technical capabilities while critical, will vary in importance according to the job role.
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The Model responds to what employers are looking for and links
the development of these capabilities to the CA Program and
our continuing professional development (CPD). It focuses on
improving the ability for members and practices to be flexible,
innovate, adapt and respond with agility and maintain resilience in
the face of challenges.
The Model will inform the creation of a self-assessment diagnostic
tool Capability+ to be launched in the first half of FY21 and
professional development courses to help members and their
organisations to assess, develop and future-proof themselves.

Strengthening our flagship program
At the heart of our trusted reputation are the high standards, rigour
and training that a Chartered Accountant must undertake and
meet when becoming a member. In 2019/20, there were 24,928
enrolments into CA Program modules.
A review of the CA Program, which was undertaken as part of
our broader strategic review, concluded that we needed a futurefocused Program that shapes and supports the capabilities that are
sought by employers in the increasingly disrupted world of work.
This comes from the understanding that as professions evolve
so must the educational programs which are the foundation for
professional knowledge and expertise.
The proposed re-design sets out to maximise the existing core
strengths of the Program while developing new, high-impact
areas as we empower a new wave of Chartered Accountants with
work-ready, future-focused skills. The delivery of the Program will
also see more personalised digital learning options, broader entry
pathways to attract the next generation of talent and increased
flexibility in recognition of the different needs of different learners.
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The aim is to provide greater relevance and choice while still
maintaining the pre-eminence of the CA designation by:
• weaving professional skills alongside technical skills throughout
all subjects.
• using real-life case studies and simulated challenges which
integrate learning across the traditional disciplines.
• offering electives such as data analytics and insights that allow
candidates to specialise in a particular area and introduce
emerging areas of practice into the curriculum.
• running three times as many modules during the calendar year to
provide greater scheduling choices.
• providing more opportunities for real-time interaction and
development of collaborative skills through virtual workshops.
• a progressively integrated experience of topics that build towards
a multidisciplinary approach.
A stakeholder survey saw an overall 79 per cent agreeing or strongly
agreeing with the Program design specification, 82 per cent agreeing
or strongly agreeing with the proposed curriculum and 74 per
cent supporting the proposed changes to the mentored practical
experience component of the Program.
Following extensive consultation with members, employers,
candidates, industry and global partners, the Chartered
Accountants ANZ Board approved a high-level design of a refreshed
Program in November 2019. The design is moving towards
the required regulatory accreditation approvals, with a view to
transition to the new CA Program environment from mid-2021.

Pathways into the profession
Launched in 2018, our flexible pathways initiative which broadens
the way in which aspiring accountants can complete our CA
Program has gone from strength-to-strength. 533 provisional
members enrolled in concurrent modules, up from 232 in the
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previous year, and 572 new provisional members who previously
would have been ineligible were approved to begin the CA Program
while completing their final bridging studies, an increase from 390
in the previous year.
Around 14 per cent of current provisional members have also
registered for the CA Program while out of approved employment,
representing an increase from 11 per cent last year.
Forming part of this initiative, we have continued our momentum
in embedding the CA Program into the final year of a Master of
Professional Accounting degree so that students are able to graduate
with an internationally recognised professional qualification in
addition to their postgraduate degree.
Following the partnerships with Victoria University of Wellington
and Deakin University in the previous year, Chartered Accountants
ANZ has partnered with Macquarie University and the University
of Western Australia.
Students who complete the new pathway can become provisional
members of Chartered Accountants ANZ during their final year
of study which will incorporate the CA Program professional study
requirements and be eligible to apply for full membership upon
successful completion of three years of approved employment.
The International Pathway Program is also available to members of
the four chartered accounting bodies in India, Sri Lanka, Pakistan
and Nepal. 142 members from these bodies have completed this
pathway of which 117 have become full members, a conversion rate
of around 82 per cent.
Due to COVID-19, candidates are registering their interest for
future workshops in Auckland, Sydney and Melbourne with the
potential to pilot online workshops and assessments.
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Equipped during the pandemic
As Chartered Accountants became the frontline of advising
and managing businesses impacted by the COVID-19 pandemic,
never before had it been more important for our members to be
fully informed.
In early April, we launched a dedicated COVID-19 Resources Hub
to give members ready access to timely and relevant information,
insights, webinars, resources and our advocacy work.
The hub is constantly updated to ensure we are responding to
member needs as we progress through different stages of the
crisis and the government response. It was considered a place for
valued information and support through the pandemic, with
approximately 42,768 visitors accessing the hub seeking guidance
on government assistance, managing cashflow planning and
forecasts, practice management, automation, assessing solvency,
and wellbeing issues.
In particular, the CA Catalyst Business unusual: Business
continuity playbook was created in response to members seeking
advice on how to run their business during COVID-19. The
playbook aggregates tools and practical checklists for clients and
businesses and was distributed through international membership
body partners such as the International Federation of Accountants,
Chartered Accountants Worldwide and the Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants.

572

new provisional members
who previously would have been ineligible
were enrolled into the CA Program using
flexible pathways

Our COVID-19 resources hub has been
accessed by

42,768

unique visitors

Over

46,000 members
registered for over 150 online events

Our advocacy team provided the Government with crucial
on-the-ground insights from Chartered Accountants who were
the administrators of key legislation including the JobKeeper
and JobSeeker schemes in Australia and the wage subsidy
scheme in New Zealand. A unique combination of submissions,
roundtables and meetings with regulators and Government saw
Chartered Accountants ANZ play a vital role in the creation and
implementation of business and economic recovery initiatives.
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To assist members navigating the impacts on financial reporting
and auditing, we convened fortnightly forums with members and
government stakeholders on technical and regulatory issues and
successfully advocated for appropriate relief. This was bolstered by
a detailed guide, a webinar series reaching over 2,000 members and
resources on focus areas from standard setters and regulators.
An essential component of keeping our members updated was the
introduction of weekly webinar sessions to help them understand
the evolving COVID-19 situation and its business impacts in
Australia and New Zealand. Each Sharing Knowledge session
focused on a relevant and developing topic, giving members the
option of presenting queries either in advance or during the session.
In one example, a session for Australian members on the JobKeeper
scheme saw 3,000 members sign up and lodge 1,800 questions in
advance. The Government passed legislation to enact the scheme
just after midnight and the next morning our advocacy experts
presented a comprehensive 25-slide presentation to inform and
guide members. Similarly, in New Zealand, we ran a session with
the Minister for Small Business and Revenue the Hon Stuart
Nash on the Government’s economic recovery plan and support
initiatives.
We have delivered over 30 Sharing Knowledge sessions for our
members across sectors, segments and regional and metropolitan
areas, ranging from technical topics such as the application of
stimulus packages to capability related topics such as effective client
engagement, receiving a positive reception from our members.
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Wellbeing and support
Mental health issues have been at the forefront of our response and
support for members, beginning with the Australian bushfires and
drought and later through COVID-19. Our Employee Assistance
Program (EAP) was made available to Australian and New Zealand
members to provide solution-focused counselling support from
independent professionals. This enables every member access to up
to three mental wellbeing sessions.
This was in addition to the ethical and professional support that
is offered by the CA Advisory Group (CAAG) for members who
need guidance through ethical challenges or career decisions. They
are made up of experienced, senior Chartered Accountants with
six groups in Australia and one in New Zealand. Over the year, the
groups provided assistance to 78 fellow members.

Over

20,000 members
registered for over 30 COVID-19
Sharing Knowledge Series

Dedicated webinars and complimentary CPD sessions were held
on how to maintain wellbeing when working from home, career
transition, working with clients with mental health problems and
financial difficulties. There was also a tailored focus on young
Chartered Accountants to assist their stress management, negotiating
change, dealing with uncertainty and building resilience.
While these resources and support services were available,
Chartered Accountants ANZ also took a proactive approach to
ensure members were managing in unprecedented times.
Chartered Accountants ANZ made more than 6,400 outbound
calls to members during the pandemic to listen and discuss their
wellbeing, raise awareness of the resources and benefits available
to them and provide enrolment support for provisional members
and candidates. The call was often followed up with an email to
help members navigate information they might find valuable.
This outreach allowed us to provide useful and relevant
information during a challenging time for many, resulting in
substantial positive feedback and appreciation from members.

More than

6,400

proactive outbound wellbeing and
enrolment support calls to members
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Nurturing career development
The Achiever Programme provides students undertaking tertiary
studies in business, commerce or accounting across Australia and
New Zealand with an opportunity to gain paid work experience in
business and accounting over their summer break.
During the 2019-20 Achiever Programme, 278 students were
successfully placed with 131 employers across Australia and
New Zealand giving them the opportunity to participate in relevant
industry experience over a duration of between 3 to 12 weeks.
The Mentor Exchange programme also continued to gain traction,
seeing a significant increase in participation in 2020, with numbers
up by more than 80 per cent. Since its inception in 2015, 3,530
members have participated in the programme – either as a mentor
or mentee – with over 1,100 involved in 2019-20 across Australia,
New Zealand, Hong Kong, Malaysia, Singapore and the United
Kingdom.
There was an enthusiastic uptake of the new mid-career
programme stream, making up 60 per cent of the year’s cohort
with 345 participants, as well as the introduction of a virtual
stream which enabled members to connect remotely and attend
program webinars.
This was initially targeted specifically at regional members
however it is to be rolled out to small to medium practice members
in recognition of the pandemic disruptions being particularly
pronounced for this member segment. This will offer peer-to-peer
mentoring groups where practitioners can experience a supportive,
inclusive and safe space to share and discuss professional issues.
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“Overall, being part of the program has changed
how I do things. It’s encouraged a lot of selfreflection. Sometimes what we need to do is stop
and look at the bigger picture, call a friend just to
say, ‘This is how it’s going right now.’ Stephen has
really helped me remember to do that.”
– Natalie Macdonald CA, speaking of her mentor
Stephen Long CA

Impactful thought leadership and branding
Our research, the 21st Century Profession, which interviewed
members and the general public, revealed professions make a
difference because of their commitment to the bigger picture of a
business’ long-term sustainability, and their ethical foundation.
The report showed a code of ethics was one of the most important
characteristics of any profession, as they commit members of a
profession to a standard of behaviour in which adhering to the
law is a given, competence is expected and ethical behaviour is
demanded. It found Chartered Accountants should be disciplined
and accountable, and are also highly trusted.

“If the profession itself maintains a good
reputation that is built upon robust requirements
for entry and continuing membership, and a sound
code of ethics, then trust in that profession will
follow.”
– A survey respondent for the 21st Century
Profession

Our brand campaign
reached over

4,979,200
Australians and New Zealanders

Earned media activity by
Chartered Accountants
ANZ reached more than

8.8 million

Australian and New Zealanders between
April-June 2020
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This sentiment around trust was echoed in a brand campaign run
by Chartered Accountants ANZ in 2019 in collaboration with
Chartered Accountants Worldwide to demonstrate the importance
of trust, a key value that differentiates our members and their work.
The campaign ran from 24 June to 31 August 2019 targeting
business decision makers across a broad range of outdoor and online
media in Australia and New Zealand, and focused on building
public awareness of the difference Chartered Accountants make
as trusted partners to businesses and communities.
Chartered Accountants ANZ was also once again the exclusive
sponsor of the 2019 Top Accounting Firms feature in the Australian
Financial Review and The Sunday Star-Times to highlight the
important contribution the accounting profession makes to
business and the wider community.
The feature outlines data collected from a survey of participating
accounting firms of all kinds on areas such as revenue, pro bono
work, sustainability, and technological disruptions and innovations
in order to benchmark firms, highlight the diversity of the
profession and the unique contribution of accountants as
difference makers.
In addition to the consumer brand awareness, our Account
Management team support members by engaging with key
employers of Chartered Accountants across the corporate, practice
and public sector to remain in step with the marketplace and
understand the changing needs of employers. For example, 105
community events were delivered across the corporate sector in
Australia and New Zealand engaging over 3,500 members and 460
organisations, half of which are listed companies.
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Services of the Future
Chartered Accountants ANZ is committed to delivering relevant and up-to-date services to its members through a variety of accessible channels
as a way to provide value, foster engagement and ensure they can make a difference in a complex and changing world. We are moving towards
an omni-channel approach to service delivery, leveraging our digital platforms to strengthen our learning and our communities.
Digital pivot for candidates
In response to the COVID-19 disruptions and to ensure the safety
of candidates, Chartered Accountants ANZ set out with the
objective of allowing candidates to progress with their CA Program
studies online while maintaining academic integrity.
The 8,750 candidates who were enrolled in the Term 1 CA Program
were given a choice to continue with their studies online with
over 90 per cent opting to progress. In six weeks, we delivered
four modules remotely with the introduction of online exams,
workshops and classes.
This involved remote proctoring of online exams for all modules,
a new compulsory academic integrity module and test for
candidates taking the online exam, interactive workshops and
marking of exams.
To gauge the sheer breadth of this online transition, this effort
required over 236 facilitators and 446 markers being trained
in online delivery and platform functionality, 160 Capstone
workshops being delivered online, 114 CA Study Masterclass
workshops rescheduled and converted, and a suite of additional
guides on how to approach online exams.
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With early learnings from the initial exams, our third-party
proctoring service rectified technical hitches and internally we
rapidly bolstered our Member Support Team capabilities to ensure
timely support was on-hand for candidates during exams.
In terms of outcome, nine online invigilated exams were held for
8,008 candidates who elected to continue their studies across 10
countries, with 96 per cent reporting no problems with access,
and 7,155 candidates successfully completing the new Academic
Integrity Module and Academic Integrity Test.

Delivered 9 online exams
for the first time for

8,008

candidates in 10 countries in Term 1

Our post implementation review which included 2,416 candidate
responses found 88 per cent described the online exam experience
as extremely good, good or average.
This significant milestone provides a solid foundation for the
continuation of online delivery for Term 2 and our long-term
CA Program refresh.

Chartered Accountants Australia and New Zealand Annual Report 2020

“It was a fast decision that your team has
undertaken, and worked on under such a short
time, from the online workshop to the online exam
while many other institutions decided to defer the
class and exam to a later time, you did not bow to
the pandemic and came out with such a brilliant
alternative. Proud to be your student, candidate
and hopefully member soon.”
– CA Candidate

Continuous learning
Chartered Accountants ANZ maintains a broad ranging suite of
professional development opportunities to help members remain
up-to-date and relevant and allows employers to invest in the
development of their employees through quality training.
Our conference centres hosted 3,036 events and meetings –
2,291 in Sydney, 509 in Wellington and 236 in Auckland.
Participants
Online live and on demand

31,748

Workshops

3,072

Conferences

5,078

Onsite
Public practice program

Total

21,855
533

62,286

128 events were pivoted and delivered in an online format
consisting of 74 regional CPD events, 48 educational CPD
workshops and 6 conferences such as our annual Accounting
and Audit Conferences. Over 46,000 members registered for
158 online events, which includes those that were pivoted and
new events. Members’ feedback from workshops and events held
in May saw an event rating of 4.36 out of 5 with 60 per cent
preferring the online delivery of events, and over 95 per cent
of conference attendees stating they would consider attending
another online event.
During our end of financial year sale, we also provided over
25,000 complimentary knowledge products to members valued
at $2.5 million.
While our CPD courses focus more on the technical and business
skills people need to develop, with their subscription members can
also obtain free, unlimited usage of LinkedIn Learning. Launched
to members in July 2019, the online platform has courses and
videos that address many professional skills, such as communication
and collaboration.
Accessible through My CA, more than 17,000 members have since
activated LinkedIn Learning with over 80,000 courses viewed and
just under 17,000 completed. The average time for each LinkedIn
Learning viewer was three hours and 16 minutes, exploring
popular courses such as high performance, Excel skills and financial
modelling. Almost 40 per cent of members who have activated
their LinkedIn Learning are working in the commerce sector and
almost a third are from the practice sector.

128
events

were pivoted to an online format

29,138

hours of learning
delivered at no cost to members via
LinkedIn Learning

COVID-19 saw many of our CPD workshops, conferences and
regional events transformed into an online digital experience for
our members. 1,100 planned face-to-face events from March to
June 2020 were analysed and categorised into those that could be
an online offering, scaled up or postponed with some cancelled.
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Specialisations
In March 2020, the Chartered Accountants ANZ Board approved a
fifth specialisation of Risk Specialisation, which will commence in
October 2020.
This new specialisation is a future growth opportunity for the
profession, as sectors such as banking place a greater focus on
risk and the increased complexity of the environments in which
Chartered Accountants work, which will continue to become more
sophisticated with data and other technology changes.
The table below represents membership across the existing four
specialisations.
2018-19

2019-20

Self-Managed Super Fund

419

431

Financial Planning

312

287

Business Valuation

172

189

Forensic Accounting

73

90

Gaining Insights
Launched in December 2018, a Member Insights Panel was devised
to help us understand members’ needs in greater detail to inform
decisions about how we can support them better.
The Panel comprises 5,200 members from across Australia and
New Zealand and is an opportunity for members to provide
feedback on a wide range of initiatives and issues.
Over 2019-20, the panel ran 11 surveys, providing valuable input
for the Capability Model as well as topics such as climate change,
trust, innovation, the future of the profession and accounting
technologies.
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Members can also provide feedback or resolve queries by contacting
our Member Support Team. During the year the Member Support
Team handled 104,054 phone calls, resolved 48,514 cases and
responded to 30,430 emails.

Professional Standards Scheme
In Australia, the Professional Standards Council approved our
application for a new Professional Standards (Limitation of
Liability) Scheme which permits all Australian members in
public practice (members with a Certificate of Public Practice,
affiliate members and practice entity members) to benefit from
participation in the Scheme. This Scheme commenced in all states
and territories on 8 October 2019 and will remain in force for a
period of five years.

Maintaining high standards
The practice review program is an integral part of our compliance
framework, helping us maintain the pre-eminence of the Chartered
Accountants designation. Each year, we review a selection of
members offering accounting services to the public to determine
whether they have appropriate quality controls in place to meet
professional, technical and legislative requirements.
This allows us to assist members in achieving and maintaining
quality, understand where members need additional guidance
to stay up-to-date with changes in requirements and satisfy our
regulatory and professional obligations.
If our review finds that a practice’s policies and procedures do
not meet the relevant requirements, they are asked to develop an
improvement plan to address the issues raised. In some cases, a
reviewer will revisit the practice within a set period to ensure the
issues have been addressed.
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We work with these practices, providing mentors, tools and
education, and close monitoring of the improvement plan, to help
them meet or exceed minimum requirements at the re-review.
We also use what we learn from this process to promote continuous
improvement among all practising members.
Our 2019-20 reviews revealed that the majority of practices
reviewed had adequate quality controls in place. The majority of
re-reviews were a result of inadequate quality control or insufficient
documentation9%
of audit evidence, or a combination of both.
Insufficient
expertise
(2018‒2019 5%) for the services being offered and practice
solvency resulted in an unsatisfactory review.

23%
(2018‒2019 18%)

9%

(2018‒2019 5%)

23%
(2018‒2019 18%)

Practice
review results
Practice
review results

68%
(2018‒2019 77%)

68%
(2018‒2019 77%)

Percentage change
2019 ‒ 2020
SATISFACTORY

SATISFACTORY

Percentage change

RE-REVIEW REQUIRED IN 12 MONTHS

2019 ‒ 2020

RE-REVIEW REQUIRED IN 12 MONTHS

UNSATISFACTORY

Our Professional Conduct Team exists to protect the reputation of
Chartered Accountants, ensuring members comply with our high
professional and ethical standards at all stages of their careers.
The team investigates complaints against members and maintains
a robust process to discipline poor conduct, where it is uncovered.
Independent oversight of our Professional Conduct Team is
maintained in both Australia and New Zealand to monitor
integrity, timeliness and effectiveness.

314

complaints resolved

All decisions in the complaints process are made by independent
entities – the Professional Conduct Committee, Disciplinary
Tribunal and Appeals Tribunal/Council. Complaints are assessed
by the Professional Conduct Committee and can then be referred
to a Disciplinary Tribunal, where evidence is presented from the
investigation. The processes and procedures underpinning all of the
disciplinary bodies are aimed at ensuring that procedural fairness is
afforded to participants in the process.
The Professional Conduct Oversight Committee and the New
Zealand Regulatory Board respectively have oversight responsibility
for the integrity, timeliness and effectiveness of the disciplinary
procedures carried out by the Professional Conduct Committee,
the Disciplinary Tribunal and the Appeals Tribunal/Council.

UNSATISFACTORY

COVID-19 had a significant impact on the number of reviews
completed during the year. A total of 337 reviews were completed
in Australia and New Zealand in 2019-20, compared to 436 in the
previous year. Due to government travel restrictions and social
distancing rules, our reviewers were unable to visit practices to
conduct quality reviews. We have introduced greater flexibility
into the review process, including remotely conducted reviews.
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Professional conduct

Complaint numbers can vary significantly from year to year.
This year the number of complaints received continued at slightly
lower than averages in recent years. We continue with our indepth investigations into complex and more serious complaints.
In addition, there have been a number of cases heard by the
Disciplinary Tribunal during 2019-20 which were not finalised
by year end.
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Complaints against members
Complaints received

297 (337)

Total complaints resolved

314 (288)

Resolutions
Concluded by Professional
Conduct investigation

162

Resolved without investigation

89

Determined by
Disciplinary Tribunal

30

Withdrawn

27

Determined on appeal

TOTAL

6

314

Professional conduct investigation outcomes (% resolved)
94
(58%)

Closed – no further action

12
(7%)

Professional reminder
Caution

39
(24%)

Consent order/agreement

17
(10%)

TOTAL
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162
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Breaches
Breaches of Charter, By-laws,
regulations, rules or standards

23

Failure to observe proper
standard/negligence/incompetence

14

Failure to comply with
organisation's
direction/correspondence

6

Conduct unbecoming

12

Professional misconduct

13

Insolvency/bankruptcy

7

Conduct bringing discredit
/inconsistent with integrity

9

Providing false and misleading
information to the Professional
Conduct Committee/the organisation

7

Criminal convictions

4

Adverse finding/dishonesty

10

Entered into an undertaking/failure
to comply with undertaking

0

Non-compliance with condition or
restriction on registration or licence
/Auditor Regulation Act 2011 (NZ)

2
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Sanctions ordered by disciplinary and appeals tribunals
34

Costs
Cancellation/suspension

11

Severe reprimand/
reprimand/censure

8

Termination/struck off

11

Training and development/
appointment of tutor/required
to obtain advice

2

Fine

3

Practice review ordered

2

Prohibition from undertaking
specified assignments

2

Costs to complainant

1

Cancel certificate
of public practice

2

Your Library
The Chartered Accountants ANZ Library continued its ongoing
transformation towards a predominately online service in 2020,
rolling out two new digital platforms which also enabled the
provision of continued service to members throughout the
COVID-19 pandemic.

The Library also provided 9,721 eBook downloads, down slightly
from 10,426 last year with the launch of audiobooks as an
alternative digital format. Hardcopy book issues continued to
decline to 1,836, down from 3,196 the previous year, partly due to
the suspension of book distribution while our offices were closed
during the pandemic.

In March 2020, the Library launched an audiobook platform,
which was enthusiastically adopted by members, who have already
accessed 2,474 audiobook titles.

The Library provides research assistance, at no extra charge to
members, with 1,505 member requests answered this year, with
slightly reduced requests during the lockdown periods.
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The Library also offers access to thousands of articles, journals, tools
and templates, largely focused on tax, technical accounting and
financial services topics. There were 37,843 articles downloaded
during the 2019-20 year, up from 33,614 last year.
As a trial service, the Library offered Business Book Summaries to
members from April 2020 to June 2020, and 1,145 summaries were
downloaded throughout this period.

Valued business publication

The print run of Acuity is delivered to 88,424 subscribers in more
than 100 countries and subscribers to the digital version has grown
from 6,300 to 18,926 since its relaunch.

Our people
During 2019-20, we have focused on ensuring our people remain
connected, informed and safe particularly as working from home
arrangements were made during COVID-19 lockdown periods.
Through the introduction of a new intranet platform in December
2019, regular organisation-wide webinar updates held every 2-3
weeks, catch ups on training and other information sessions that are
made available and an internal podcast series, employees were able
to easily consume relevant information directly from leaders plus
collaborate and connect with peers.
The vision, values and purpose of Chartered Accountants ANZ
were embedded into recruitment, onboarding and performance
management processes. Our engagement survey suggests that our
values resonate with our employees’ personal values, which is one of
the reasons why they join the organisation and stay.

The Acuity magazine provides an in-depth look on matters of
economics, business and finance with the latest trends, expert
advice and insightful interviews.
The key findings from a member survey in February 2020 saw
80 per cent of members stating they had read Acuity magazine in
print in the past 12 months, averaging between four and five issues
each year, with 73 per cent indicating Acuity added value to their
membership.
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Our work on culture continues to improve the lived experience of
these values for employees of your professional body. The executive
team focuses on lead indicators as we operationalise our safety
management system including achieving a target of one mental
health First Aider for every medical First Aider. A comprehensive
COVID-19 response plan was developed including mental health,
fitness and wellbeing support. Remote ergonomics assessments and
IT updates were developed to support working from home across
the organisation.
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A performance framework called Difference Makers+ was
introduced to enhance the performance framework and support the
organisation’s aspiration to build a high performance and membercentric culture. Chartered Accountants ANZ also undertook an
internal diversity and inclusion audit to inform a strategy and
targets and are in the process of developing our first Reconciliation
Action Plan.

Our voluntary turnover is at 18.94 per cent which is similar to
the previous year at 18.74 per cent. As at 30 June 2020, our total
number of permanent full-time employees was 480 compared with
426 for the prior year.

Proportion of female representation
69%
Organisation

72%
70%

36%
Executive team

30%
13%

63%
General managers

65%
46%

67%
People leaders

69%
62%

2020
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2019

2018
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16%
(2019 16%)

Age
5%

26%

18%

(2019 5%)

(2019 26%)

(2019 20%)

34%
(2019 32%)

16%
(2019 16%)

Age

Percentage change 34%
(2019 32%)

26%
(2019 26%)

2019 ‒ 2020

Percentage change
21-30

31-40
21-30

31-40

2019 ‒
2020
41-50
41-50

51-60
51-60

61-70

61-70

Giving back
Everybody Counts is a charitable giving programme that allows our people to donate
through our payroll system. It also includes general collections, in-kind donations and
volunteer work.
Everybody Counts
2019-20

2018-19

2017-18

$15,606

$17,500

$22,092

Charity collections/fundraising

$54,986

$94,790

$57,910

Matching to a pre-determined limit

$25,000

$25,000

$25,000

$3,336

$5,765

$40,877

Donations

0

0

$5,594

Lifelong learning fundraising

0

$1,007

0

$4,764

$6,294

$14,145

$103,692

$150,356

$165,618

Payroll giving

In-kind meeting room usage

Volunteering

Total

Members and employees of Chartered Accountants ANZ raised more than $54,000 during
the year to support our charity partners Dementia Australia, National Breast Cancer
Foundation, Reachout.com, RSPCA, The Smith Family, NZ Autism, Cancer Society, SPCA
and Youthline.
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Communities of the Future
Chartered Accountants ANZ is a community of over 128,000 members, with strong links to the global accounting network.
Our community is one of our great strengths, and we continue to develop opportunities for members to collaborate, connect
and leverage their collective intelligence so they can make a difference to their clients and communities.
My CA grows
My CA continued to mature as an online community, enabling easier transactions such as
membership management but also fostering greater engagement and collaboration.
The first year of My CA was one of learning where members discovered how to navigate
their new space to access services and resources and connect and collaborate with other
members. Chartered Accountants ANZ in turn gained a better understanding of the key
issues that are top of mind for our members and received valuable feedback on how we can
support them.
This year, our focus was on building further value into My CA so that members received an
enhanced proposition that made it easier to access the tools and benefits that are important
to them while also continuing to grow the community to facilitate new member connections
and knowledge sharing.
The total visits to My CA including returning members reached more than 1.5 million
in 2019-20 with around 26,000 unique monthly visits. There have been 2,219 unique
contributors interacting in My CA, a rise of 113 per cent, and 1,639 posts in the platform.
5,813 members have joined one of the 25 community groups in My CA this year which
focuses on topics such as Australian and New Zealand taxation, climate change, wellbeing
and growth and diversity and inclusion. Many connections have been made spanning across
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geographic locations, ages and career stages, from rural-based members talking artificial
intelligence with their city-based corporate peers to young members asking for career advice
from experienced members.
As the COVID-19 situation evolved, My CA was a space for members to keep informed,
discuss the emerging impacts and navigate the pandemic as a connected and supported
community. We created two new groups for COVID-19 to raise awareness of our resources
and advocacy efforts, with our advocacy experts on hand to answer direct member questions
on the impact on their business or clients. A group for members to promote relevant
opportunities for their peers was also born out of member need during COVID-19 and has
seen over 300 members join, posting 92 opportunities.
The online journey for membership renewals and mandatory notifications through My CA
this year was enhanced to offer quarterly payments, apply for concessions or hardship and
access invoices easily.

Extending a helping hand during the bushfires
In response to the bushfire season in Australia, Chartered Accountants ANZ partnered
with Rural Aid to establish a programme whereby members who held a Certificate of Public
Practice could provide pro bono assistance to agricultural businesses affected by bushfires,
floods or drought.
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This initiative involved Chartered Accountants volunteering their
time and skills to help primary producers navigate applications to
access government grants, assistance programs and insurance claims
with members offering to assist over 500 businesses to fill-out their
applications.
During the bushfires, we also maintained a support resources
webpage to assist members, clients and communities with business
recovery where needed. With over 2,200 visits, the dedicated page
outlined a checklist on the practical issues for small businesses
impacted by bushfires and our Mental Health First Aid Guide for
Chartered Accountants.

Honouring contributions to the profession

Life Membership
Life Membership is Chartered Accountants ANZ’s highest honour
acknowledging outstanding contribution to the accounting
profession. Four members were recognised with Life Memberships
in 2019 including Murray Jack FCA, Ross Ledger FCA, Lynette
Provost FCA and Prof Antonius van Zijl FCA and David Gibbs FCA
was recognised in 2020.

President’s Prize
The 2019 President’s Prize, which is given to one young Chartered
Accountant who has advanced both the profession and supported
their local community, was awarded to Nathan Reichstein CA from
the Northern Territory.

Fellowships

Fellowships are peer-awarded for outstanding career achievements
and contributions to the profession and community, while
maintaining the highest standards of integrity and judgement.
In 2019, Chartered Accountants ANZ awarded 220 members
a Fellowship from around the world.
Australia

113

New Zealand

77

United Kingdom

13

Malaysia

8

Singapore

4

Hong Kong

2

Fiji

1

Samoa

1

Sri Lanka

1
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2019 President’s Prize Winner, Nathan Reichstein.
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Milestone awards in 2019-20
Each year members are also recognised for their length of time as a
Chartered Accountant through milestone awards.
80-year membership award

0

75-year membership award

0

70-year membership award

22

60-year membership award

95

50-year membership award

212

40-year membership award

654

25-year membership award

1,780

Online footprint
The traffic across all our website properties including the Chartered
Accountants ANZ main site, Acuity, YouUnlimited and eStore
continues to rise year-on-year. Among all our digital properties,
the eStore, which houses our online CPD courses and events,
contributed 27 per cent of our total unique visitors in 2019-20.
The popular sections of our main website continues to be “Become
a member” garnering 671,463 visits followed by “Member Services”
with 444,372 visits. The most popular time of the day to visit the
website is 11am AEST/2pm NZDT with the website receiving an
average total of 334,182 visits at that time.
2018-19

2019-20

1,561,792

2,158,984

Visits

2,953,026

4,001,233

Page views

5,620,535

8,874,874

Unique visitors
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Our Facebook regional groups that connect members to their local
regional and events teams grew with over 8,300 members across
the 17 groups. There has been an increase in our following across all
our social channels, with our reach on LinkedIn increasing by over
10 per cent and our reach on Instagram increasing over 20 per cent.
Our social campaign for International Accountants Day in
particular reached more than 140,000 people across our platforms.

Awarding leaders
Each year our Leadership in Government Awards in Australia
highlight public service leaders who are making the greatest
contribution to the prosperity and stability of the country.
Announced in October 2019 at Parliament House in Canberra
under the theme of building culture, governance and leadership,
there were three recipients for awards including:
• Outstanding Graduate of the Year Award – Caitlin Petersen,
Australian Taxation Office.
• Emerging Leader of the Year Award – Brendon Buckley,
Department of Infrastructure, Transport, Cities and Regional
Development.
• Outstanding Contribution in Public Administration Award –
Rachael Spalding, Department of Finance.
Chartered Accountants ANZ also sponsored the Diversity
Award for the New Zealand 2019 Women of Influence Awards.
The Awards celebrate women who make a difference in their
communities and organisations with the diversity category won by
Tapu Misa, New Zealand’s first female Pasifika journalist and an
industry pioneer for women and Pacific people.
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We were also one of the founding partners of the Australia New
Zealand Leadership Forum Trans-Tasman Innovation Awards
which celebrates the impact, innovation and growth by start-ups.
Winners attended an online summit where we ran a masterclass
showing the value of good financial metrics and the value of having
a Chartered Accountant within the ranks.

Developing into Asia
In 2019-20, we worked with Asialink Business to develop the
business case for a strategy looking at expanding in Asia, after
receiving Chartered Accountants ANZ Board support to move
ahead with the implementation of five agile projects.
Prior to COVID-19, we completed a programme of works to
define the key next steps and priorities for this strategy which has
now been adapted where practical, factoring the impact of the
pandemic. These workstreams and recommendations will undergo
further consideration by the Board.

International reach
Following the implementation of our new governance ecosystem in
2019, we have four new Overseas Regional Councils in Hong Kong,
Singapore, Malaysia and the United Kingdom as well as the ability
for Chartered Accountants ANZ Councillors to be appointed from
regions where we have no real footprint. This will provide a global
perspective to strategic and member issues and drive engagement in
locations where there is no physical office.
Our support of the profession extends to the international stage
with agreements and affiliations with professional bodies in
many countries around the world. Here is a snapshot of our key
connections:
• Member of the International Federation of Accountants which
represents nearly three million accountant professionals in 130
countries through 175 member bodies and associations. This year
we provided input into their Strategic Plan for 2021 and Beyond
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and COVID-19 Global Survey which captured the impact on the
global accountancy profession.
• Connected through the Global Accounting Alliance,
representing over one million members in 180 countries across
the globe, which creates the mutual recognition for our members
by the local bodies in Europe, Africa and North America and to
share ideas on a world stage.
• Part of Chartered Accountants Worldwide which brings together
and markets the CA designation with the leading Institutes
of Chartered Accountants from across the world from Asia
and Africa to Europe, creating a network with over 750,000
Chartered Accountants with the CA as their local proud
designation and one million students studying to be Chartered
Accountants in 190 countries.
• A member body of the ASEAN Federation of Accountants and
Confederation of Asian and Pacific Accountants which provides
significant opportunities through Asia.
• Strategic alliance with the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants (ACCA) which represents 870,000 members and
future professional accountants around the world. We have colocated our offices with ACCA’s presence in the United Kingdom,
Malaysia, Singapore, Hong Kong and collaborated on events, research
and education offerings, examples of which are two online learning
tools on robotics in finance and cybersecurity. ACCA’s presence in
Asia over many generations provides us with a unique opportunity
to help each other in our markets, share ideas and support us with
an infrastructure footprint that would otherwise take us decades
to achieve in this important Asian region.
• A foundational institute of the Association of Chartered
Accountants in the United States which provides CPD events and
networking opportunities to our members based in United States.
• Our Memorandum of Understanding relating to the mutual
credit recognition of two professional level modules was extended
with the Singapore Accountancy Commission in December 2019.
• Provide support to the four Professional Accounting
Organisations (PAOs) in the Pacific.
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We also have a strong network of members who help our outreach
into some countries where we have no real footprint, including in
cities on the west and east coast of the United States of America,
Dubai, Thailand, Shanghai and Beijing.

Broadening our community
Chartered Accountants Australia and New Zealand is a member
of Indigenous Accountants Australia (IAA) and has a partnership
with Ngā Kaitatau Māori o Aotearoa (NKMoA – National Māori
Accountants Network) in New Zealand.
We support young Indigenous Australians and Māori to enter
the profession through the provision of scholarships. In 2019,
Dance Johnston from Howells Chartered Accountants in New
South Wales and Sam Roberts from Workpac in Queensland were
recipients of the Indigenous Accountants scholarships. In a similar
vein, Amanda Terry who is studying at the Universal College of
Learning and Rian Thomas at the University of Waikato were the
recipients of the Māori scholarships.

Chartered Accountants ANZ also introduced new scholarships this
year to help students of Pacific heritage studying in New Zealand
and the Pacific Islands with their undergraduate accounting studies.
The scholarships where given to Jacqueline Tailela from Auckland,
New Zealand, Elmit Champi from Port Moresby in Papua New
Guinea and Elizabeth Tinei from Apia in Samoa.

“I moved from home to seek for the best.
There are no boundaries from achieving my
dream, becoming a Chartered Accountant.”
– Jacqueline Tailela, Pacific scholarship recipient

Sam Roberts with Peter Rupp FCA, President of Chartered
Accountants ANZ.
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Practice of the Future
Chartered Accountants ANZ members can be practice leaders in addition to being individual accounting professionals.
We are a committed advocate for practice improvement in terms of operations, strategy and ethics, and seek to help
members make a difference when clients need to convert a future fraught with risk to one full of opportunity.
CA Catalyst
The CA Catalyst programme entered its second full year of operation, continuing its goal
of helping Chartered Accountants embrace the opportunities of technology and find a clear
path through the challenges.
Workflow automation was a key area of focus this year comprising of a webinar on adoption
of automation and several case studies to aid learning. Workshops were provided to nine
locations across Australia and New Zealand to guide practitioners with approximately 800
members attending overall. This culminated in a workflow automation playbook on how to
plan and implement change such as new software and tools within an accounting practice.
This well-received dissemination of information was replicated for their next focus on
data analytics and visualisation. A webinar on how data can drive business performance and
a multi-city roadshow of workshops was held for a total of 1,000 Chartered Accountants on
storytelling using data and leading practices as case studies.
A strong focus on collaborating with leading innovation communities Stone & Chalk and
Fishburners in Australia and The Icehouse in New Zealand saw 65 Chartered Accountants
across Brisbane, Sydney, Melbourne, Adelaide and Auckland complete the CA in Residence
programme. Experienced members provided guidance to startups and led sessions on how
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to manage through COVID-19. In New Zealand, 16 scholarships were provided to members
for The Icehouse Innovation Hub’s Owner Manager and Leadership Development Programs
with future plans to deliver scholarships on business growth for sole practitioners and SMPs.
CA Catalyst also ran the Small Firm Big Impact panel series which provided a live look-in
at the many key learnings start-ups gained by partnering with a Chartered Accountant
such as cashflow forecasting, revenue stream addition, capital raising readiness and other
growth-oriented strategies.
In March 2020, CA Catalyst member ambassadors helped digitally transform small
businesses as part of the Australian Government’s Digital Champions Project. This included
running digital accounting workshops to a cross-section of the small business sector in major
city and bushfire-impacted areas such as Kangaroo Island and Shoalhaven.
The Shaping the Practice of Tomorrow nine-part podcast series is designed to help our
members in practice take full advantage of the digital disruptive opportunities sweeping
the accounting profession. This included interviews with Chris Jordan, the Australian
Commissioner for Taxation, key technology players and prominent members at the forefront
of innovation. The series has generated over 11,000 downloads with a positive reception
from members ensuring a second series underway.
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SMP spotlight
In December 2019, Chartered Accountants ANZ launched the
Tools & Resources Hub so members in small to medium practice
(SMP) could more readily access relevant tips, tools and guides to
assist running their practice and servicing their clients.
CAs, particularly in small practices are time poor and often need to
find the relevant support quickly and easily. The new hub contains
a wealth of resources including technical Q&A help sheets to assist
with business as usual, as well as tools and resources to assist with
managing virtual practices.
Over 43,000 members have visited the hub in the first few months
with over two thirds of these being regular visitors, returning to
access resources such as the Business unusual: Business continuity
playbook and year-end financial reporting and audit guidance.
Resources on practice management, responding to COVID-19
challenges and client service essentials also continue to be popular.

Advocating in the public interest
Chartered Accountants ANZ advocates on behalf of members
on matters of interest to the accounting profession, the business
community and the public.
During 2019-20, our 30-strong advocacy team sought member
input and lodged 218 submissions, compared to 226 during the
previous year. Each advocacy expert has an extensive network in
their particular specialist area including as part of advisory groups
for regulators such as Inland Revenue, the Australian Tax Office,
the Australian Securities and Investments Commission, and
numerous others.
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While our policy priorities in 2019 continued to centre on audit
quality, the future of taxation, a strategic advice model in Australia
for financial advice, reducing regulatory burden, and business issues
such as modern slavery and anti-money laundering, 2020 saw our
advocacy efforts also laser-focused on how policy can best assist
businesses to immediately respond to the unique challenges of
COVID-19 and begin to navigate a path towards recovery.
Australia

Our advocacy efforts in Australia during COVID-19, including
a submission to the Senate Select Committee on COVID-19,
concentrated on:
• raising issues with the practical application of the eligibility and
turnover tests for Government schemes and clarifying the tax
treatment by the Australian Tax Office.
• the need to put into place arrangements in anticipation of an
increase in insolvencies once Government support winds down
such as allocated funding for liquidators to undertake assetless
administrations.
• the provision of a grant or voucher to enable businesses to access
the professional advice they need to assess their current financial
position, viability and future recovery prospects, and to access
Government support.
• securing the ability for registered tax agents to temporarily
provide advice on the introduced early access to superannuation
measure, without having to hold an Australian Financial Services
licence so clients could make informed decisions about their
financial position.
• a recovery framework to create inter-generational value and
linked to existing long-term commitments such as the United
Nations Sustainable Development Goals.
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New Zealand

Action on climate change

Our advocacy efforts in New Zealand during COVID-19
concentrated on:

In November 2019, we hosted public consultation sessions for the
New Zealand Government on proposed mandatory climate-related
financial disclosures. Following this, in February 2020, Chartered
Accountants ANZ became one of thirteen accounting bodies,
representing 2.5 million accountants globally, to support a call to
action to the accounting profession in response to climate change.
A survey of Chartered Accountants on the Member Insights Panel
in February 2020 had over 1500 participants with 71% responding
that Chartered Accountants ANZ should take an active role in
climate change (71% somewhat or strongly agree in Australia and
70% in New Zealand). Accountants have a vital role to play to help
the organisations they work with respond to climate change with
the urgency and scale required.

• the eligibility criteria for the wage subsidy.
• calling for a shift from a high-trust model of universal delivery
of economic stimulus packages to robust evidence-based policy
design that is targeted and developed in conjunction with
affected sectors in the lead up to the New Zealand Budget.
• navigating a long-term solution to the issues around employerrelated business costs for employees working from home.
• being a key COVID-19 advocacy stakeholder with Inland
Revenue and Government through early and targeted
consultation. Chartered Accountants ANZ has been actively
consulted where wider consultation on the Generic Tax Policy
Process was set aside.
• temporary measures introduced during lockdown to be made
permanent such as the Commissioner of Inland Revenue
having wider discretion to remit interest on overpayments and
underpayments on a class of case or taxpayer industry basis.

“We’re thinking about what sort of policy we
need or how previous policies can be revamped.
Do we need a tax conversation or a productivity
conversation? We’ll get the richness from the
diversity of our members.”
– Simon Grant FCA, Chartered Accountants
ANZ Group Executive, Advocacy & Professional
Standing

The statement includes eight actions which accountants, and the
accounting bodies, are committing to take including providing
sound advice and services as organisations, capital markets,
and governments develop and implement plans for climate
change mitigation and adaptation, contribute to the efforts of
organisations they work with to integrate climate change risk into
strategy, finance, operations and communications and supporting
sustainable decision making.

Audit regulation
Chartered Accountants ANZ is committed to maintaining a strong
audit profession, upholding and enhancing audit quality as well as
leading the dialogue on the future of audit and how it can best serve
the community.
The parliamentary inquiry into the regulation of auditing in
Australia provided a further opportunity to draw on extensive
research and engagement with members, firms, businesses, and
investor and governance groups to develop a comprehensive plan
for audit and risk.
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Through two submissions and representation of Chartered
Accountants ANZ at a public hearing, we outlined the ways to
enhance the confidence, relevance, and quality of auditing, with
several recommendations included in the inquiry’s interim report
in February 2020. A plan tailored for New Zealand is also being
developed through outreach with New Zealand members and
stakeholders.

The future of financial reporting
Chartered Accountants ANZ continues to lead the call for
businesses to embrace digital financial reporting as a tool to
enhance decision making, consistency and confidence, by releasing
original research and facilitating a dialogue in Australia and
New Zealand.
Members’ extensive input on accounting framework reform in
Australia through a survey of over 500 members and roundtables
was heeded by standard setters and led to a workable model
sympathetic to the views of Chartered Accountants. New
international accounting standards on leases, revenue and financial
instruments also saw us channel feedback to standard setters and
provide guidance to members.

Strategic advice
In order to retain members in financial advice, we have worked
alongside other professional bodies to review the frameworks that
regulate how financial and tax advice is provided in Australia.

This model aims to reduce the regulatory complexity and allow
for more affordable, quality financial advice to be provided,
and is currently being further developed in consultation with
Government and stakeholders.

Supporting small businesses
As part of Chartered Accountants ANZ’s response to the New
Zealand Tax Working Group, and our wider advocacy for small
business, we supported changes to loss continuity rules to
encourage investment in start-ups and small-to-medium enterprises
and to help businesses seeking capital in response to COVID-19
in New Zealand. Chartered Accountants ANZ also sought changes
to feasibility expenditure which were included in a New Zealand
Tax Bill.
Similarly in Australia, we have advocated to reduce the regulatory
burden on small businesses through our support of the
modernisation of business registers and our involvement in the Board
of Taxation’s review of small business tax concessions. We have also
encouraged the digitalisation of small business including single touch
payroll, the co-ordination of e-invoicing standards across Australia
and New Zealand and development of government initiatives such as
the cash flow coaching kit and the small business funding guide.
Chartered Accountants ANZ continues to be extensively involved
in discussions with Government about small business’ access to
finance and good quality accounting advice, including Government
funding to assist their recovery through COVID-19.

The failures that were revealed from the Banking Royal
Commission highlighted the extreme complexity of the current
frameworks that are not in sync with each other, leading to
Chartered Accountants ANZ developing a strategic advice model
with CPA Australia, the Institute of Public Accountants, the
Financial Planning Association and the SMSF Association for
Government to consider an industry solution for consumers of
advice in Australia.
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Governance
Chartered Accountants Australia and New Zealand
operate under a best practice governance model
overseen by a Board of Directors and Councils
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Our Governance

Our Board
(front row) Penny Stragalinos FCA, John Palermo FCA, Dr Nives Botica Redmayne FCA, Peter Rupp FCA, Sarah Petersen CA, Robert (Rob) McDonald FCA
(back row) Chris Townend FCA, Dianne Williams, Ming Long FCA AM, Cheryl Hayman, Peter O’Regan FCA
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Our Board
Chair

President

John Palermo BBus – Accounting and Finance, FCA

Peter Rupp Business Management BSc (Hons), FCA

Term of office:

Term of office:

Director since 1 October 2015 (Casual Vacancy)
Permanent Chair since 22 April 2020

Vice President since 1 January 2018; President since 1 January 2020
Date of next scheduled election:

Date of next scheduled re-election:

N/A – term ends 31 December 2020

30 June 2021
Skills, experience and expertise:
Skills, experience and expertise:

John has 20 years’ experience in public practice, with expertise in corporate transaction
execution, strategic business management and business structuring.
John is a non-executive Director of Alterra Ltd and a Director of Royal Perth Hospital
Medical Research Foundation. John is also the Company Secretary of ASX listed entity
OBJ Limited. John was previously Chair of the Chartered Accountants Australia and New
Zealand Public Practice Advisory Committee and the Western Australia Regional Council.

Peter is a Partner in Deloitte’s Audit & Assurance Group based in Perth, where he currently
leads the Deloitte Private audit team.
Drawing on over 25 years’ expertise in the accounting profession, Peter has worked with
Deloitte member firms in Australia, New Zealand and the United Kingdom.
Peter provides specialist assurance and advisory services, including external audit, to a wide
range of entities across different industries and reporting frameworks.

Board committee and other governance body memberships:

Board committee and other governance body memberships:

Audit and Risk Committee since 2016.

Council member since 2014.
Nominations and Governance Committee member since 2018.
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Vice Presidents
Dr Nives Botica Redmayne Phd Accountancy, FCA

Peter O’Regan BCom, Dip Fin Mangt, Dip Ed, FCA

Term of office:

Term of office:

Vice President since 1 January 2019

Vice President since 1 January 2020

Date of next scheduled re-election:

Date of next scheduled re-election:

N/A – role as director dependent on role as Office Bearer

N/A – role as director dependent on role as Office Bearer

Skills, experience and expertise:

Skills, experience and expertise:

Nives is currently a senior lecturer in accountancy at the Massey University School of
Accountancy, Massey Business School in New Zealand.

After graduating from the University of New England, Peter commenced his career with
Deloitte in Brisbane and later established O’Regan & Partners in Longreach in 1992.

Her main area of research and expertise is assurance, in particular the highly specialised area
of economics and production of assurance services and assurance markets. Her other area of
expertise and research is in financial reporting and auditing.

Peter is a CA with extensive experience in the beef production sector, having been raised on
a cattle property in the Marlborough district of central Queensland and also having owned,
operated and developed two cattle and sheep properties south west of Longreach for a
period of 12 years.

Nives has also contributed to the development of professional standards, guidance and
policies for practicing auditors and regulators in New Zealand.
Nives is a member of New Zealand Accounting Standards Board and is a board member
for a number of Manawatu community groups and societies. Nives has a Bachelor degree in
Economics and Finance and a PhD in Accountancy from Massey University, New Zealand.

Peter has over 25 years’ experience in advising businesses on accounting and taxation
strategies, business growth and succession, finance and restructuring.
Peter presently serves as a Director of a Western Queensland Public Company and is
a member of a number of Audit Committees for Local Governments in Western and
North Western Queensland.

Board committee and other governance body memberships:

Council member since 2017.
Nominations and Governance Committee (until 31 July 2019).
New Zealand Institute of Chartered Accountants Regulatory Board – ex-officio as
New Zealand Vice President for 2019.
New Zealand Regional Council Chair from 1 January 2020.
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He also has extensive audit experience and currently serves on the Audit Committee of
the Mount Isa City Council.
Board committee and other governance body memberships:

Council member since 2015.
Queensland Regional Council from January 2015 to December 2019 and Chair in 2019.
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Directors
Cheryl Hayman BCom

Ming Long BEc, LLB, MBA, FFin, GAICD, AM, FCA

Term of office:

Term of office:

Director since 1 January 2018

Director since 1 January 2017 (Casual Vacancy)

Date of next scheduled re-election:

Date of next scheduled re-election:

30 June 2023

31 December 2021

Skills, experience and expertise:

Skills, experience and expertise:

Cheryl had a lengthy and successful global marketing career in multinational organisations
Unilever (Australia and UK), Yum Restaurants (Australia and NZ), Time Warner and
George Weston Foods.

Ming Long AM FCA is a well-respected and influential leader with almost a decade of board
experience in areas including financial services and real estate.

Cheryl’s specialisation brings to a Board a depth of expertise in building compelling
brand propositions, a passion for driving innovation, deep understanding of digital
communications, membership expertise and profitable strategy development.
Cheryl is a professional non-executive board director of several organisations including HGL
Limited (ASX: HNG), Clover Corporation Limited (ASX: CLV), Peer Support Australia,
The Darlinghurst Theatre Company and Women on Boards. Cheryl is also an independent
member of the Nominations Committee of Gymnastics Australia.
Cheryl holds a Bachelor of Commerce, majoring in Marketing from the University of New
South Wales. Cheryl is a non-member on our Board.

Ming’s executive career spanned real estate, investment management, media and finance.
She spent 11 years at Investa Property Group where she held several roles including
Managing Director, Chief Financial Officer, and Group Executive, IOF Fund Manager,
leading an ASX listed fund with a market capitalisation of $2.5bn.
Ming is Chair of AMP Capital Funds Management Limited, Deputy Chair of the Diversity
Council of Australia, a non-executive director of the Australia Pacific Board for QBE Insurance,
CEDA, on the advisory board for Sydney University’s Culture Advisory Board and is a National
Group Convenor at Male Champions of Change. Ming holds Bachelors of Economics and Law
from the University of Sydney, and an MBA from the University of Technology, Sydney.
Ming is a graduate of Australian Institute of Company Directors, a Fellow of FINSIA and a
member of Chief Executive Women.

Board committee and other governance body memberships:

People and Remuneration Committee since 2019.

Board committee and other governance body memberships:

CA X Committee Chair since 2019.
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Robert (Rob) McDonald BCom, FCA

Sarah Petersen BMS (Hons), CA

Term of office:

Term of office:

Director since 1 January 2018

Director since 1 January 2020

Date of next scheduled re-election:

Date of next scheduled re-election:

30 June 2021

31 December 2022

Skills, experience and expertise:

Skills, experience and expertise:

A highly experienced Chief Financial Officer, Rob has held a number of senior management
roles with a focus on business and strategic planning. Rob also has extensive experience in
financial risk management, including the development and execution of Treasury policies
and multibillion dollar funding programmes and structures.

Sarah is an experienced non-executive Director and Chief Financial Officer in the not-forprofit and commercial sectors in New Zealand, most recently holding executive roles at
global education consultancy Cognition Education.

As Chief Financial Officer of Air New Zealand, Rob was named Deloitte’s Top Chief
Financial Officer of the Year in New Zealand in 2015. He also received the Fairfax Media
New Zealand Chief Financial Officer of the Year award in 2010.
Rob is the Chair of Contact Energy Limited and is also a director of AIA New Zealand
Limited and Fletcher Building Limited.

Sarah began her Chartered Accountancy career at Ernst & Young in New Zealand before
moving to the telecommunications sector, is a member of the Institute of Directors and
holds a Bachelor of Management Studies with First Class Honours from the University of
Waikato.

Rob holds a Bachelor of Commerce from Auckland University.

Sarah is currently Chair of Northland Inc, Northland’s economic development agency, and
non-executive Director of Far North Holdings. She has previously been Chair and nonexecutive Director at Make-A-Wish New Zealand for six years and has experience chairing
Audit & Risk Committees for those Boards on which she serves.

Board committee and other governance body memberships:

Board committee and other governance body memberships:

People and Remuneration Committee Chair since 2018.
New Zealand Institute of Chartered Accountants Regulatory Board since 2018.

New Zealand Institute of Chartered Accountants Regulatory Board since 2020.
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Penny Stragalinos BCom, EMBA, FCA

Christopher (Chris) Townend BA (Hons), MBA (distinction), FAICD, FCA

Term of office:

Term of office:

Director since 1 January 2017

Director since 1 January 2018

Date of next scheduled re-election:

Date of next scheduled re-election:

31 December 2022

30 June 2023

Skills, experience and expertise:

Skills, experience and expertise:

Penny is a KPMG audit partner, with 27 years’ experience as an external auditor, accounting
and risk advisor, specialising in the energy and natural resources and industrial markets
industries. Penny also has significant transaction services experience, including acquisition,
debt raising and share issue due diligence assignments.

Chris is a Chartered Accountant with a boutique consultancy, where he focuses on
governance and strategic financial management.

Penny was previously the COO of KPMG’s Audit, Assurance and Risk Consulting Practice,
a director and Chair of the Audit, Risk and Compliance Committee of Victorian Opera,
and member of the Audit Committee for the Committee for Economic Development of
Australia.
Penny holds a Bachelor of Commerce from The University of Melbourne and an Executive
MBA from École Nationale de Ponts et Chaussées School of International Management and
The University of Edinburgh.

Chris chairs the board of Thomson Adsett Architects and sits on the boards of UnitingCare
Queensland and Brisbane South PHN. Chris has previously had board roles in the financial
services, education, construction and transport sectors. Chris has extensive executive
management experience in Government, not-for-profit and private sector organisations in
Australia, New Zealand and the United Kingdom.
He is a volunteer member of the Uniting Church’s Synod Audit and Risk Committee, and
the finance committee of the Presentation Sisters in Queensland.

Board committee and other governance body memberships:

Chris is a Fellow of Chartered Accountants Australia and New Zealand, a Fellow of
the Institute of Directors and holds a Master of Business Administration from Massey
University, New Zealand.

People and Remuneration Committee since 2017.
Audit and Risk Committee since 2020.

Board committee and other governance body memberships:

Audit & Risk Committee since 2019 and Chair since April 2020.
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Retired Directors and Office Bearers
Dianne Williams BCom, Grad Dip Bus (New Ventures), MBA

Murray Jack BCA, FCA

Term of office:

Term of office:

Director since 1 August 2016 (Casual Vacancy)

Director and Chair from December 2014 to 31 July 2019

Date of next scheduled re-election:

Skills, experience and expertise:

31 December 2022

Murray is a Board member of Aurecon Group Pty Ltd. Previously, Murray was Chair of
the Board of the Financial Markets Authority, and Chair (2011–14) and Chief Executive
(2005–11) of Deloitte New Zealand.

Skills, experience and expertise:

Dianne has held a number of senior leadership positions with companies such as House of
Travel, Cadbury Confectionery Ltd, Sealord, and Office Products Depot. She is a Chartered
Member of the Institute of Directors and holds an MBA and Bachelor of Commerce from
the University of Auckland.

Board committee and other governance body memberships:

People and Remuneration Committee and Nominations and Governance Committee
since 2014 to 2019.
Observer at all Audit and Risk Committee and Council meetings from 2014 to 2019.

Dianne holds a varied portfolio of directorships which includes the board of NZX listed
company Cavalier Corporation Ltd, Chair of Netball Northern Zone, and independent
director for West Auckland Trust Services.
Previous directorships include Chair of Beds R Us and Kitchen Studio franchises, and board
member of the Breast Cancer Research Trust, Public Trust, Pulse Energy, World Masters
Games 2017 and Auckland Property Investors Association. Dianne is a non-member of
our Board.
Board committee and other governance body memberships:

New Zealand Institute of Chartered Accountants Regulatory Board since 2016.
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Stephen Walker BCA, FCA

Anthony (Tony) Harrington AM BCom, FCA

Term of office:

Term of office:

President from 1 January 2019 to 31 December 2019

Director since 1 March 2019 and Chair 1 August 2019 to 28 February 2020

Skills, experience and expertise:

Skills, experience and expertise:

Stephen is the Executive Director at Audit New Zealand, the New Zealand AuditorGeneral’s audit practice. Prior to this, he was the Director of Operations at the
International Federation of Accountants based in New York from 2002 to 2008.

Tony has extensive experience as a Chartered Accountant, with a career history of more
than 30 years in practice. Most recently Tony was Chief Executive of MinterEllison. He was
Global Managing Partner, Strategy & Transformation at PricewaterhouseCoopers (PwC) and
a member of the PwC Global Executive Leadership Team.

Stephen has worked around the world in professional accounting organisations in
consultancy roles or in the public sector, with roles including standard setting,
policy development, training and consultancy, and over the last 18 years, in senior
management roles.

From 2000 to 2008, Tony was Senior Partner and Chief Executive of PwC in Australia and
on leaving PwC, was Managing Director at Moelis Australia.

Board committee and other governance body memberships:

Tony is a director on Brisbane Airport Corporation Limited, Schiphol Australia Pty Ltd,
BAL Holdings Limited and Optimum Equity Partners. He was the Chairman at Workplace
Giving Australia Pty Limited from 2006 to June 2019.

Council member from 2014.
Vice President from 1 January 2017 to 31 December 2018.
New Zealand Institute of Chartered Accountants Regulatory Board – ex-officio as
New Zealand Vice President for 2017 and 2018.
Nominations and Governance Committee from 2017 to 2019.
New Zealand Regional Council Chair from 1 January 2017 to 31 December 2018.

Tony was appointed a Member of the Order of Australia (AM) in recognition of his services
to the community through a range of philanthropic and charitable organisations. Tony holds
a Bachelor of Commerce from University of New South Wales.
Board committee and other governance body memberships:

Observer at Audit and Risk Committee and Council meetings from 2019 to 2020.
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Our Council

President

Vice Presidents

Peter Rupp FCA

Dr Nives Botica Redmayne FCA

Term of office:

Term of office:

Vice President since 1 January 2018; President since 1 January 2020

Vice President since 1 January 2019

Skills, experience and expertise:

Skills, experience and expertise:

Peter is a Partner in Deloitte’s Audit & Assurance Group based in Perth, where he currently
leads the Deloitte Private audit team.
Drawing on over 25 years’ expertise in the accounting profession, Peter has worked with
Deloitte member firms in Australia, New Zealand and the United Kingdom.

Nives is currently a senior lecturer in accountancy at the Massey University School of
Accountancy, Massey Business School in New Zealand. Her main area of research and
expertise is assurance, in particular the highly specialised area of economics and production
of assurance services and assurance markets. Her other area of expertise and research is in
financial reporting and auditing.

Peter provides specialist assurance and advisory services, including external audit, to a wide
range of entities across different industries and reporting frameworks.

Nives has also contributed to the development of professional standards, guidance and
policies for practicing auditors and regulators in New Zealand.

Board committee and other governance body memberships:

Nives is a member of New Zealand Accounting Standards Board and is a board member
for a number of Manawatu community groups and societies. Nives has a Bachelor degree in
Economics and Finance and a PhD in Accountancy from Massey University, New Zealand.

Council member since 2014.
Nominations and Governance Committee member since 2018.

Board committee and other governance body memberships:

Council member since 2017.
Nominations and Governance Committee since 2019.
New Zealand Institute of Chartered Accountants Regulatory Board – ex-officio as
New Zealand Vice President for 2019.
New Zealand Regional Council Chair from 1 January 2019.
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Councillors
Peter O’Regan FCA

Katrina Boorer FCA

Term of office:

Term of office:

Vice President since 1 January 2020

Appointed 1 January 2019

Skills, experience and expertise:

Skills, experience and expertise:

After graduating from the University of New England, Peter commenced his career with
Deloitte in Brisbane and later established O’Regan & Partners in Longreach in 1992.

Kate is currently the CEO of Young Professional Women Australia and Founding Partner of
Pearman & Partners, a consultancy that specialises in aligning organisational culture with
business strategy.

Peter is a CA with extensive experience in the beef production sector, having been raised on
a cattle property in the Marlborough district of central Queensland and also having owned,
operated and developed two cattle and sheep properties south west of Longreach for a
period of 12 years.
Peter has over 25 years’ experience in advising businesses on accounting and taxation
strategies, business growth and succession, finance and restructuring.

With a diverse career, Kate has worked in both public practise and the private sector before
moving away from a traditional finance career pursuing an entrepreneurial path. Before
becoming a Councillor, Kate has been involved in both the design and delivery of the Mentor
Exchange Program since its inception and is a regular speaker at Chartered Accountants
Australia and New Zealand conferences and events.
Other governance body memberships:

Peter presently serves as a Director of a Western Queensland Public Company and is
a member of a number of Audit Committees for Local Governments in Western and
North Western Queensland.

Ex-officio New South Wales Regional Council.

He also has extensive audit experience and currently serves on the Audit Committee of
the Mount Isa City Council.
Board committee and other governance body memberships:

Queensland Regional Council from January 2015 to December 2019 and Chair in 2019.
Council member since 2015.
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Bruce Debenham FCA

Richard Dey FCA

Grant Ellis FCA

Term of office:

Term of office:

Term of office:

Appointed 1 January 2019

Appointed 1 January 2018

Appointed 1 January 2019

Skills, experience and expertise:

Skills, experience and expertise:

Skills, experience and expertise:

Bruce is the Director of Perks’ Banking and Finance division
which is dedicated to providing banking and finance
solutions for its clients.

Richard is a director of William Buck New Zealand,
responsible for the specialist assurance team based in
the Tauranga office. He has worked as a partner in Public
Practice since 2008, with a broad portfolio of clients. His
earlier professional career includes stints with KPMG, in
New Zealand, Luxembourg and the Cayman Islands, before
seven years as a financial controller in a privately owned
kiwifruit sector business.

Grant is currently the Chief Financial Officer of NZX and
ASX listed Restaurant Brands New Zealand Limited. He
has been a Chartered Accountant for 36 years, working in
the corporate sector for most of his career, in a number of
finance roles with major New Zealand companies.

Bruce is a seasoned finance professional with over twenty
five years’ experience in banking, risk and management
consulting. Bruce has held senior leadership positions at
National Australia Bank and Rural Bank and, prior to this
worked for PricewaterhouseCoopers and Arthur Andersen.
His experience spans various industries including property
development, manufacturing, agribusiness, healthcare,
retail and transport.
Bruce is a Capstone module facilitator and regularly assists
with marking Capstone and other exam papers.
Other governance body memberships:

Regional Councillor South Australia/Northern Territory
Regional Council.
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Richard has a long history of involvement in the
community and is a Trustee of Bay of Plenty Education
Trust, a member of the Toi Ohomai Business School Local
Advisory Council and the former Chairman of Bay of
Plenty Cricket.

He has a military background, serving in the New Zealand
Army reserve for 21 years. He is a past President and a Life
Member of the Auckland Officers’ Club and currently sits
on its Investment Committee. He also is a Trustee of the
Ranfurly Veterans’ Trust. Grant has previously served his
local community on the board of the local primary school,
residents associations and a number of yachting and boating
organisations.

For more than 10 years, Richard facilitated NZICA
Professional Accounting School workshops and marked
PCE exams. He is passionate about the accounting
profession and the role of Chartered Accountants ANZ as
a member body with a mandate to act in the public interest.
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Murray Harrington FCA

Professor Duncan Honoré-Morris FCA

Tinashe Kamangira FCA

Term of office:

Term of office:

Term of office:

Appointed 1 January 2017

Appointed 1 January 2019

Appointed 1 January 2018

Skills, experience and expertise:

Skills, experience and expertise:

Skills, experience and expertise:

Murray is the Chief Executive Officer of Nomos One
Limited, a lease accounting software company which serves
customers across a number of countries.

Duncan has extensive experience in professional practice
in New Zealand and Australia. Over his career, he has held
several senior roles including Chairman, Trustee, Chief
Executive Officer and Professor.

Tinashe is a Director at Deloitte Australia. He has more
than 15 years of accounting, taxation and business advisory
experience, serving private businesses and their owners.

He currently holds a number of directorships and
governance roles in infrastructure, tourism, education and
local government. For many years Murray was a Partner
with PwC where he provided a range of services including
risk advisory, consulting and financial advisory.
Prior to this, Murray was a business owner, having
successfully purchased, grown and exited businesses and
worked internationally for Mobil Corporation.
Other governance body memberships:

Regional Councillor New Zealand Council.

In his role as a professional accountant, Duncan
has practiced in large international firms and small
partnerships gaining a range of industry experience
from farming and agriculture to superannuation and
trusts in both New Zealand and Australia. Duncan is
currently working mainly within the education sector
and is specialising in the sociology of the professions and
accounting education.
Duncan facilitates sessions with senior executives on behalf
of the Governance Institute and has previously been a
senior lecturer in tertiary accounting.
Duncan has been a Regional Councillor for the Victorian
Regional Council since 2015 and currently is the Dean
of a postgraduate school in Melbourne and chairs several
education institutes’ Academic Boards and/or Boards of
Directors in Australia.

He was previously in the Private Advisory Practice of Grant
Thornton in Perth and also worked for Grant Thornton
Sweden as part of the talent mobility program.
Tinashe is a member of the WA Regional Council and
was Chair in 2019 in addition to his role as a CA Program
Facilitator and exam marker. He also sits on various
boards, finance, Audit and Risk Committees for local and
international organisations.
Tinashe has a Bachelor of Commerce (major in Accounting
and Finance) from Curtin University of Technology, Perth.
He also holds a Postgraduate Certificate in Information
Systems and Information Technology.
Other governance body memberships:

Regional Councillor Western Australia Regional Council.

Other governance body memberships:

Regional Councillor Victoria Regional Council.
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Danny McCarthy FCA

Sue Pak FCA

Matthew Green FCA

Term of office:

Term of office:

Term of office:

Appointed 1 January 2019

Appointed 1 January 2019

Appointed 1 January 2020

Skills, experience and expertise:

Skills, experience and expertise:

Skills, experience and expertise:

Danny has a wealth of experience in auditing and financial
consulting, helping clients protect their businesses and
achieve even better results. His expert research, modelling,
analysis and reviews help both small and large Tasmanian
businesses proactively address challenges and identify
opportunities for growth.

Sue has experience across a spectrum of organisations,
ranging from public practice firms (including Deloitte);
corporates (including NZI Life); to small businesses.
A Chartered Accountant for more than 25 years, she also
holds an FCPA and Diploma in Teaching.

Matthew is a financial reporting, audit, and valuations
specialist with substantial experience in advising directors
and executives in meeting the complex requirements of
ASX Listing Rules, Corporations Legislation, Australian
Accounting Standards, and International Financial
Reporting Standards (IFRS).

Other governance body memberships:

Regional Councillor Tasmania Regional Council.

As a senior leader at Xero for more than 10 years, she
thrives in a fast-paced, innovative environment. In her role
as Head of Accounting at Xero, Sue’s professional mission
is to shine a light on the future of the accounting industry,
helping practices understand implications arising from
globalisation, changing technology, client/staff expectations
and transforming business models. Sue is motivated by
her desire to provide meaningful data, practical guidance,
inspiration for change and exceptional results.
Other governance body memberships:

Regional Councillor New Zealand Council.

Matthew is a partner with Mazars and is based in Brisbane.
Matthew covers valuation, audit, assurance, transactions,
and reporting assignments across all sectors of the
Queensland economy. Matthew has had the opportunity
to work across various firms in the accounting industry,
including big 4, ASX listed companies, small firms, and the
public sector; this experience has provided him with a deep
understanding of the way the industry operates.
Matthew currently works with ASX listed and private
owner-managed businesses across various sectors,
including financial services and AFSL holders, information
technology, construction, not-for-profits, retail, and
services.
Other governance body memberships:

Regional Councillor Queensland Regional Council.
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Samuel Cheng FCA

Craig Jenner FCA

Jayson Poulton CA

Term of office:

Term of office:

Term of office:

Appointed 1 January 2020

Appointed 1 January 2020

Appointed 1 January 2020

Skills, experience and expertise:

Skills, experience and expertise:

Skills, experience and expertise:

Samuel is the Director and Head of Strategic Programme
Management office at Prudential Hong Kong in the
insurance sector focusing on driving major strategic
initiatives and technology-related transformation.

Craig is the Head of Asset Finance at Unibail-RodamcoWestfield where he is responsible for the financial
management and reporting of URW’s London shopping
centres, two of the largest retail assets in the world. He is
also responsible for the financial management of URW’s
development projects and the Shared Services team.

Jayson is a Senior Manager at Commonwealth Bank of
Australia (CBA) based in New York, with more than 16
years’ experience as a Chartered Accountant. Having
worked in public practice with BDO in Melbourne, he
has spent much of his professional career internationally
in financial services, with roles at MF Global and CBA in
London, before relocating to New York.

He has worked in both public practice in small and large
firms plus the private sector holding positions as CFO,
Finance Chief of Staff and Global Project Management
Office.
Samuel has served on the Chartered Accountants ANZ
Hong Kong Committee for over 10 years and as Chairman
in 2019. In 2020 he was elected as Asia Councillor as well
as Councillor of the Hong Kong Overseas Regional Council.
He has completed a Bachelor of Economics and Master
of Commerce majoring in accounting and information
management from Macquarie University, is a Certified
Project Management Professional (PMP), and is a member
of the Project Management Institute and Prosci Change
Management.

Drawing on over 20 years of experience within the
accountancy profession, Craig’s experience spans various
industries including property development, construction,
freight forwarding and telecommunications. Craig is based
in London, and has been involved with the UK members
committee and other advisory bodies of Chartered
Accountants ANZ since 2014.

Jayson has held various positions on committees and
advisory bodies of Chartered Accountants ANZ, including
Education Team Leader on the UK Overseas Member
Committee and as the New York Tri-state Link Member
Representative. Jayson is also a board member of the
Association of Chartered Accountants in the US (ACAUS)
as the CA ANZ Member Organisation Representative.

Other governance body memberships:

Regional Councillor UK Regional Council.

He is registered with the Financial Industry Regulatory
Authority (FINRA) as a Financial and Operations Principal
and holds a Bachelor of Commerce, Majoring Accounting
and Business Law.

Other governance body memberships:

Other governance body memberships:

Regional Councillor Hong Kong Regional Council.

Rest of the World Regional Councillor.
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Retired Councillors
Stephen Walker FCA (Past President)

Regional Councils

Lorraine Watt FCA (ACT Regional Councillor)

Australian Capital Territory

Queensland

Shawn Quinton FCA, Chair

Glenn Russell FCA, Chair

Carla Jago FCA, Vice Chair

Mark Bushell FCA, Co-Vice Chair

Nafiz Azman CA

Matthew Green FCA, Co-Vice Chair

Stewart Ball FCA

Sarah Becker CA

Jonathon Colbran FCA

Elisha Caffery CA

Kate Dean CA

Christopher Mitchell CA

Courtney Dennett CA

Robert Pillans FCA

Dr Nives Botica Redmayne FCA, ex-officio as New Zealand
Vice President

Rahul Verma FCA

Shane Simmons FCA

Lorraine Watt FCA

Deborah Delaney FCA (Retired)

Dianne Williams, non-member

John Nygyen FCA (Retired)

Peter O’Regan FCA (Retired)

David Robjent FCA (Retired)

Christine Ryan FCA (Retired)

New South Wales

South Australia/Northern Territory

Professor Philomena Leung FCA

Peter Woodley FCA, Chair

Luke Kerins CA, Chair

Associate Professor John Medlin FCA

Alison Flemming FCA, Vice Chair

Stacey Quinn FCA, Vice Chair

Dr Felicity Reid

Sam Ayoubi CA

Suranie Alwis FCA

Professor Norman Wong FCA

Joanna Balcomb FCA

Bruce Debenham FCA

Dr Amanda White FCA

Kate Boorer FCA

Simon Graetz FCA

George Bogdanovic FCA

Tyson Holt CA

Joyce Low FCA

Anna Nolan FCA

Peter Wells FCA

Philip Palmer CA

Ben Wong CA

Luke Rivett CA

Camille Woods CA

John Medlin FCA (Retired)

William Yan CA (Retired)

Nigel Stevenson FCA (Retired)

Dató Richard Abas FCA (Asia Regional Councillor)
Andrew Robinson FCA (Rest of World Councillor)
New Zealand Institute of Chartered
Accountants Regulatory Board
Neil Paviour-Smith FCA, Chair
Robert (Rob) McDonald FCA
Sarah Petersen CA

Chartered Accountants Australia and
New Zealand Education Board
Professor Gregor Kennedy, Chair

Professional Conduct Oversight Committee
Nancy Dolan, Chair
Jan West FCA
Taryn Rulton FCA
John Trowbridge

Australia

Zoe McManus CA (Retired)
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Tasmania

Western Australia

Lyndal Kimpton CA, Chair

Amanda Cox FCA, Chair

Mark Leis FCA, Vice Chair

Michelle Shafizadeh FCA, Vice Chair

New Zealand
Dr Nives Botica Redmayne FCA, Chair and New Zealand Vice President of
Chartered Accountants Australia and New Zealand

Paul Breen FCA

Lisa Hando FCA

Bob King AT (Fellow) (Southern), Deputy Chair

Stuart Dare CA

Evelyn Hogg FCA

Mike Atkinson FCA (Auckland)

Sophie Hill CA

Kirsty Jones CA

Rehan Badar CA (Wellington)

Daniel McCarthy FCA

Anna Lane FCA

Emma Blake CA (Auckland)

Jake Norris CA

Ron Louis FCA

Angela Dixon CA (Auckland)

Leah Orr CA

Tinashe Kamangira FCA

Julia Fink CA (Wellington)

Phillip Fulton CA

Vivian Wang CA

Murray Harrington FCA (Southern)

Naomi Walsh FCA

Con Abbott FCA (Retired)

Natasha Harvey FCA (Central North Island)

Bo Xu CA

Douglas Craig FCA (Retired)

Paul McElwee FCA (Auckland)
Sue Pak FCA (Auckland)

Victoria

Caroline Plowman CA (Auckland)

Peter Fromont FCA, Chair

John Schol CA (Southern)

Deanne Firth FCA, Vice Chair

Cameron Town CA (Central North Island)

Peter Dikranis FCA

Sarah Walker CA (Central North Island)

Duncan Honore-Morris FCA

Phillippa Wilson FCA (Central North Island)

Vartika Kalapala CA

Sarah Bell CA (Wellington)

Sam Sargood CA

Grant Ellis FCA (Retired)

Shannon Sidaway CA

Judith Pinny FCA (Retired)

Liz Smith FCA

Jessie Watling CA (Retired)

David Thompson FCA
Julia Langdon FCA (Retired)
Charles McNeill FCA (Retired)
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Overseas Regional Councils

International Representatives (on behalf of the accounting profession)

Hong Kong

Singapore

International Federation of Accountants

Samuel Cheng FCA, Asia Regional
Councillor

David Leow FCA, Chair

Richard Petty FCA Board and Planning &
Finance Committee

Vincent Leung CA, Chair

David Chew CA

Sarah Foo CA, Vice Chair

Andrew Er FCA

Andrew Chan CA

Siew Theng Leong FCA

Katya Danilova CA

Anand Sachdev FCA

Travis Huggins FCA

Justina Tai CA

Lie Ming Or FCA

Wanyi Wong CA

Christine Tsang FCA

Leonard Woo FCA

Karen Loon FCA, Vice Chair

Barbara Yu CA
United Kingdom
Malaysia

Tan Yoon Huat CA, Chair

Craig Jenner FCA, United Kingdom
Regional Councillor

Gladys Lim FCA, Vice Chair

Daniel Leckey FCA, Chair

Nurul-Huda Mohamed Afandi CA

Lauren Temple CA, Vice Chair

Wendy Chang Ying Ying CA

Patrick Doan CA

Chong Kian Soon CA

Jessica Leyland CA

Rozaini Mohd. Sani FCA

Colin McCarthy-Little FCA

Wong Kar Choon CA

Barry Moffatt CA

Wong Boon Kin CA

Andy Robinson FCA

Jen Shaun Wong CA

Daisy Tam CA
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Michael Codling FCA Nominating
Committee
Michael (Mike) Blake FCA (Deputy Chair)
International Public Sector Accounting
Standards Board

Confederation of Asian and Pacific
Accountants

Gill Cox FCA Board Member NZ,
Committee Representative/Director
Priya Terumalay Board Member Australia,
Committee Representative/Director

Todd Beardsworth FCA International Public
Sector Accounting Standards
Penny Egan FCA Compliance Advisory
Panel (Chair) Note: The final meeting on
the Compliance Advisory Panel was held in
October 2019
Robyn Erskine FCA Small and Medium
Practices (Deputy Chair)
Paul Urquhart FCA Professional
Accountants in Business Committee
Ian McPhee FCA International Ethics
Standards Board for Accountants
Lyn Provost FCA International Auditing and
Assurance Board
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Segment Advisory and Regional and Rural Advisory Committees
Public Practice Advisory Committee

Linda Gray FCA, Chair

Corporate Segment Advisory
Committee

Charities & Not-for-profit Advisory
Committee

Regional & Rural Advisory Committee
(Australia)

Alicia Leis FCA, Vice Chair

Tracey Hook CA, Chair

David Thomas FCA, Chair

Chris Kol FCA, Chair

Michael Rondel FCA

Shane Simmons FCA, Vice Chair

Jamie Cattell CA, Vice Chair

Sarah Becker CA, Vice Chair

Peter Guise FCA

Jane Muirsmith FCA

David Gilchrist FCA

Peter O’Regan FCA

Simon Graetz FCA

Colleen Chapman FCA

Kevin Clarke FCA

Maria Cavallo FCA

Julie Hough FCA

Charlie Latham FCA

Mark Twomey CA

Bruce Debenham FCA

Jonathon Colbran FCA

Anjali Ilsley FCA

Louise Edwards FCA

Michael Harris CA

Darren Dettling CA

Rowena Granger CA

Graeme Rodda FCA

Warwick Baines FCA

Christine McNamara CA

Linda Waddington Miller CA

Craig Fisher FCA

Stacey Kelly CA

Adam Murray FCA

Naomi Walsh FCA

Michelle Pearce FCA

Alison Hamilton CA

Travis Fegan FCA

Keith Shaw CA

Shaun Sargent FCA

Patrick Catena FCA

Cormac Denton CA

Ken Crofts FCA

Stuart Darvill CA

Justin Lachal FCA

Russell Postle FCA

Amanda Gasgoigne FCA

Claire Locke FCA

Felicity Hill CA

Anjum Rahman FCA

Samara Badgery FCA

Rachel Simmers CA

New Zealand Rural Sector Committee

Trudi Ballantyne FCA, Chair
George Collier FCA
Michael Lawrence FCA
Tony Marshall CA
Charmaine O’Shea FCA
Richard Perry FCA
Charles Rau FCA
David Seath CA
Rees Logan CA
Gaye Cowie FCA
Hamish McDonald CA (Retired)
Cros Spooner CA (Retired)
Stephen Stafford-Bush FCA (Retired)

Note: The New Zealand Public Sector Consultation Committee was not active in 2019/20.

Part I: 62

Frazer Weir CA (Retired)
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Directors of Subsidiaries
Chartered Accountants Australia and
New Zealand (Hong Kong) Limited

CA ANZ (UK) Limited

Simon Grant FCA

Simon Grant FCA

Mark Rice
Christine Tsang FCA
Warwick Ellis (resigned in April 2020)

Warwick Ellis (resigned in April 2020)
Ian Leggett FCA
Mark Rice

CA ANZ (Malaysia) SDN. BHD.

Chartered Professional Accountants
Pty Ltd

Dato’ Richard Abas FCA

Simon Grant FCA

Simon Grant FCA
Dato’ Heng Ji-Keng FCA
Mark Rice
Warwick Ellis (resigned in April 2020)
Chartered Accountants Australia
and New Zealand (Singapore) Private
Limited

Warwick Ellis (resigned in April 2020)
Andrew Er FCA
Simon Grant FCA
David Leow FCA
Mark Rice
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Corporate Governance Statement

Introduction
Chartered Accountants Australia and New Zealand (Chartered Accountants ANZ) was
established under Royal Charter in 1928 as a body politic and corporate for the purpose
of advancing the profession and practice of accountancy in all its aspects. Chartered
Accountants ANZ has more than 128,000 members around the world and its vision is to be
one of the leading professional associations of leaders in business and finance in Australia and
New Zealand.
Chartered Accountants ANZ is not a company but is a registered body under Part 5B.2 of the
Corporations Act 2001 (Cth) (Corporations Act) that carries on business in Australian states
and territories, New Zealand and other overseas locations. As a registered body, Chartered
Accountants ANZ is required to comply with only a limited number of sections of the
Corporations Act. In New Zealand, the New Zealand Institute of Chartered Accountants
(NZICA) retains its non-delegable regulatory functions pursuant to the New Zealand
Institute of Chartered Accountants Act 1996 (NZICA Act). NZICA’s other functions have been
delegated to Chartered Accountants ANZ and under the Corporations Act, NZICA is a
controlled entity of Chartered Accountants ANZ.
Chartered Accountants ANZ is a member of the ASX Corporate Governance Council
that develops the Corporate Governance Principles and Recommendations, 3rd edition
(ASX Principles) that apply to entities listed on the Australian Securities Exchange.
Chartered Accountants ANZ has voluntarily adopted the ASX Principles and has applied
them to its own governance arrangements where it is relevant and appropriate to do so.
Chartered Accountants ANZ is preparing for the voluntary adoption of the ASX Principles
4th edition, which take effect for financial years commencing on or after 1 January 2020.
This Corporate Governance Statement was approved by the Board on 21 September 2020.
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Chartered Accountants ANZ has four principle functions and operational areas:
• it is a membership body that represents and advances the interests of more than 128,000
members globally and advocates for members in the legislative, regulatory and public policy
arena;
• it is a conduct regulator that maintains the professional standing of the organisation and
the Chartered Accountant (CA) designation by setting a code of ethics and regulations
for the standard of behaviour expected of members and holding them accountable to that
standard. In New Zealand, NZICA remains the regulator of the profession;
• it is a registered higher education provider that sets rigorous entry requirements to the
profession through its CA Program. This program combines the rigour of postgraduate
education through Chartered Accountants ANZ’s delivered and awarded Graduate
Diploma of Chartered Accounting (GradDipCA) qualification with the application of
learned skills in the workplace through the completion of 3 years’ mentored practical
experience. Chartered Accountants ANZ’s GradDipCA is accredited with the Australian
Government’s Tertiary Education Quality and Standards Agency (TEQSA). As a regulated
qualification it is recognised under the Australian Qualifications Framework (AQF) and as
a comparable qualification under the New Zealand Qualifications Framework (NZQF) and
the qualification frameworks of many other countries; and
• it provides members with ongoing continuing professional development opportunities,
including events and conferences, resources and tools to assist its members to develop their
practices and their skills.
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The corporate governance framework that Chartered Accountants
ANZ has designed to enable and facilitate the performance of its
functions comprises:
• a Council of members (Council), which is responsible for
approving awards to members, approving life members or
honorary members, providing input to the Board on key policies
that will significantly impact members and representing the
members as a whole. The Council has a President and two VicePresidents who serve as non-executive directors on the Board
for the length of their tenure. The Council also has a standing
committee, the Nominations and Governance Committee
(NGC) which has a number of functions including undertaking
and overseeing evaluation performances of the Board and
recommending candidates for appointment to the Board;
• a board of non-executive directors (Board), who are responsible
for managing and directing the affairs of Chartered Accountants
ANZ and who are legally responsible for its operations. The Board
is supported in this role by a number of standing committees of
the Board and member-based regional and overseas councils and
sector committees; and
• a senior executive management team (Executive Team), which is
led by a Chief Executive Officer (CEO). The CEO and Executive
Team are responsible for the day-to-day operations of Chartered
Accountants ANZ and for implementing Chartered Accountants
ANZ’s strategy. The CEO is not a director of the Board but
reports to the Chair, attends Board meetings and has his or her
performance evaluated by the Board.

SECTOR
COMMITTEES

LOCAL
COMMITTEES

AUDIT & RISK
COMMITTEE

EXECUTIVE
REMUNERATION
COMMITTEE
OVERSEAS
COUNCILS

CA ANZ
COUNCIL

BOARD

NOMINATIONS
& GOVERNANCE
COMMITTEE

EDUCATION
BOARD

Sets the strategy of
Chartered Accountants
Australia and
New Zealand
REGIONAL
COUNCILS

Appeals Council
Disciplinary Tribunal
Professional
Conduct Committee
Practice Review
Advisory Group

Represents the interest
of the membership
as a whole and
oversees the Board

NZICA
REGULATORY
BOARD

PROFESSIONAL
CONDUCT OVERSIGHT
COMMITTEE

Appeals Tribunal
Disciplinary Tribunal
Professional
Conduct Committee

CHIEF
EXECUTIVE
OFFICER

The corporate governance framework described above can be
visually represented as follows:

Board
Committee
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Council
Committee

Member-based
Committee
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The legal and constitutional framework that governs Chartered Accountants ANZ consists
of a Supplemental Royal Charter and By-laws, which can only be amended by a resolution
of members and by subsequently being passed into law through the assent of the GovernorGeneral of the Commonwealth of Australia. Any changes to the NZICA Act must be
legislated through the New Zealand Parliament. Changes to the NZICA Rules must be
approved by a resolution of members (for amendments to the body of the NZICA Rules),
approved by the Chartered Accountants ANZ Board (for Appendix II amendments) or
approved by the NZICA Regulatory Board (for amendments to Appendices I, III-VI), in line
with the requirements in the NZCIA Rules.

Principle 1: Lay solid foundations for management and
oversight
Roles and Responsibilities
The Board is the legal decision-making body of Chartered Accountants ANZ and has
responsibility for the development and approval of strategy, monitoring the implementation
of strategy by the CEO and Executive Team and oversight of Chartered Accountants ANZ’s
financial position and financial reporting.
The Board’s main functions are:
• to ensure that strategic objectives are set and achieved;
• to establish a policy framework within which the organisation must operate;
• to ensure that the Board’s committees discharge their functions;
• to appoint and oversee the performance of the CEO;
• to ensure that Chartered Accountants ANZ maintains a robust process for identifying
and managing risk; and
• ensure that Chartered Accountants ANZ adheres to high standards of ethics and
corporate behaviour.
The Board has a charter which sets out its role and its responsibilities in more detail and
provides guidance on the functions which it has reserved to itself. A copy of the Board
Charter can be found at https://www.charteredaccountantsanz.com/about-us/governance/
meet-our-board
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The Board has delegated certain responsibilities to its six Board committees being:
• the Audit and Risk Committee (ARC), which is responsible for oversight of financial
reporting, risk management and compliance systems, internal control systems, internal
and external audit functions;
• the People and Remuneration Committee (PARC), which is responsible for oversight
of remuneration policy and strategy, the performance of the CEO and senior executive
management and CEO succession planning;
• the CA X Committee, which is responsible for oversight of the CA X project, being the
re-design of the content, delivery and structure of the CA Program of the future to ensure
its relevance;
• the Education Board, which is the delegated academic governing body of Chartered
Accountants ANZ and responsible for ensuring that Chartered Accountants ANZ meets
its obligations as a registered higher education provider;
• the NZICA Regulatory Board, which is responsible for maintaining and enforcing
compliance of NZ members with the NZICA regulatory and disciplinary framework
and ensuring that NZICA fulfils its obligations as an accredited body under the Auditor
Regulation Act and other enactments; and
• the Professional Conduct Oversight Committee, which has oversight of the integrity,
timeliness and effectiveness of the disciplinary functions for which Chartered
Accountants ANZ has responsibility.
Each committee has its own charter which sets out its role and responsibilities in more
detail. The committees meet at least quarterly or more frequently if required. Regular
reporting on the activities of each committee is provided to the Board.
Under Chartered Accountants ANZ’s By-laws, the Board may delegate any of its powers
or authorities to any employee of Chartered Accountants ANZ. The Board has delegated
authority for the day-to-day operations of Chartered Accountants ANZ and the
implementation of strategy to the CEO and the Executive Team but remains responsible for
overseeing management’s performance. The Board has put in place a delegation of authority
matrix that describes the extent of powers that it has delegated to Board Committees, the
CEO and the Executive Team (Board Delegations). The CEO and Executive Team may
make further sub-delegations within specified parameters but remain accountable for the
exercise of delegated powers. The Board has delegated authority to approve amendments to
the Board Delegations to the Chair of ARC.
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Chartered Accountants ANZ has five wholly owned subsidiaries in Australia, Singapore,
Malaysia, Hong Kong and the United Kingdom, which are consolidated into Chartered
Accountants ANZ’s annual financial statements with the exception of Chartered
Accountants Benevolent Foundation Limited. The boards of Chartered Accountants ANZ’s

subsidiaries are comprised of a mix of executive and non-executive directors depending
on the function and operational requirements of the subsidiary. Chartered Accountants
ANZ’s corporate governance framework, including its risk management and compliance
framework, applies to its subsidiaries.

During the reporting period, the Board met 14 times with attendance as follows:
Attended

Eligible

1

1

Cheryl Hayman, Non-Member

14

14

Ming Long AM FCA

13

14

Dianne Williams, Non-Member

14

14

Robert McDonald FCA

13

14

John Palermo FCA (Interim Chair as at 13 December 2019 and appointed permanent Chair as at 22 April 2020)

14

14

Christopher (Chris) Townend FCA

11

14

Peter Rupp FCA (President) – appointed as a director 30 July 2019

13

14

Stephen Walker FCA (President) – resigned 31 December 2019

6

7

Nives Botica Redmayne FCA (NZ Vice President) – appointed as a director 30 July 2019

13

14

Tony Harrington AM FCA (former Chair) – resigned 28 February 2020

10

11

Penny Stragalinos FCA

14

14

Sarah Petersen CA – appointed 1 January 2020

6

7

Peter O’Regan FCA (Australian Vice President) – appointed 1 January 2020

7

7

Murray Jack FCA (former Chair) – resigned 31 July 2019
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Appointment of directors
Chartered Accountants ANZ’s By-laws provide that directors are appointed by the Council
to the Board on recommendation from the NGC. A director serves a term of 3 years from
appointment and is then eligible to stand for re-appointment for two further terms of
3 years.
If a Board vacancy arises, the NGC will conduct a search for a new director, having regard to
the Board skills matrix and those skills that most directly align with Chartered Accountants
ANZ’s strategic direction. The NGC will also have regard to the requirement under the
By-laws that all but 2 directors must also be members of Chartered Accountants ANZ, as
well as the metrics and targets contained with Chartered Accountants ANZ’s policy on
diversity and inclusion. External consultants may be engaged to assist with the recruitment
of appropriate candidates.
On re-appointment, the NGC reviews a director’s performance using various external and
internal data points and interviews the director before making a recommendation to the
Council. Appropriate reference checks are conducted when a director is first appointed to
the Board.
Service Agreements
During FY20, the Board approved a new written agreement for all directors which will be
progressively provided to existing directors and to all new directors. The written agreement
sets out the terms of their appointment, including the required time commitment,
remuneration arrangements including superannuation, the requirement to disclose material
interests and any matter which may affect their independence, the requirement to comply
with key policies including Chartered Accountants ANZ’s code of conduct, Chartered

Accountants ANZ’s policy on seeking independent professional advice, indemnity
and insurance arrangements, access to corporate records and ongoing confidentiality
arrangements.
All senior executives, including the CEO and Executive Team, have contracts of
employment that set out the terms and conditions of their employment, including rights
and obligations in respect of the termination of their employment and the circumstances in
which summary termination may occur.
Secretary
The Company Secretary attends Board and Council meetings, as well as meetings of the
PARC, ARC and NGC, and is responsible for providing the Board with advice on corporate
governance issues. The Company Secretary is accountable to the Board and the Chair on all
matters to do with the proper functioning of the Board.
Diversity and Inclusion
Chartered Accountants ANZ has a Diversity and Inclusion Policy which is approved by the
CEO and which sets out Chartered Accountants ANZ’s commitment to an inclusive culture
that celebrates diversity, provides equitable employment outcomes, and empowers all of its
people to realise their collective and individual potential.
During the reporting period, Chartered Accountants ANZ undertook a diversity audit
which led to the formation of an Executive Team D&I Committee, the governance structure
for which was approved by the Board in March 2020. Key performance indicators for
addressing gender equality were also included in the Executive Team’s shared dashboard.

As at 30 June 2020, the respective proportions of men and women on the Board, the CEO and in senior executive positions (defined as the Executive Team, excluding the CEO) were as follows:
Board

CEO

Number

Percentage

Men

5

45%

Women

6

55%

Number

1*

Executive Team
Percentage

100%

Number

Percentage

7

70%

3

30%

* On 14 May 2020, Chartered Accountants ANZ appointed a female CEO, Ainslie van Onselen
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Chartered Accountants ANZ is a relevant employer under the Australian Workplace
Gender Equality Act 2012 (Cth) and remains compliant with its reporting obligations
under this legislation. Further information in respect of female representation with the
Chartered Accountants ANZ workforce as at 30 June 2020 can be found at page 33 of
this annual report.
Performance of the Board
Chartered Accountants ANZ undertakes an annual performance review of the Board
which is conducted and overseen by the NGC. This usually involves a questionnaire that
seeks feedback from various stakeholders and is periodically conducted by an external
provider. During the reporting period, the NGC engaged an external facilitator to conduct
a performance evaluation of the Board as a collective and each director as an individual. A
report was provided to the Board and to Council.
Performance of senior executives
Each year, the CEO reviews the Executive Team’s performance and reports to the PARC and
Board.
Each executive is assessed based on:
• role modelling our preferred culture;
• compliance against our enterprise risk framework;
• leadership of specific business and strategic objectives; and
• achievement of the organisation’s key performance indicators.
Members of the Executive Team are eligible to participate in the Executive Performance
Incentive Plan (EPIP) which provides for an incentive payment of up to 20% of their fixed
remuneration. Payment of any Executive Performance Incentive (EPI) is triggered by
achievement of the budgeted position and performance against Chartered Accountants
ANZ values as determined by the CEO. Executive performance is measured on a 60:40 split
of shared enterprise-wide shared goals and individual KPIs which include a combination of
financial and non-financial outcomes.

Principle 2: Structure the board to add value
Nominations and Governance Committee
The NGC is a standing committee of the Council. The composition of the NGC was
changed as a result of the member vote on the 2019 governance review that took legal
effect on 31 July 2019, with the Vice Presidents no longer sitting on the NGC and the
Chair of the Board becoming a member.
During the reporting period, the composition of the NGC was a combination of both
membership structures as follows:
• Tim Gullifer FCA, the Chair of the NGC;
• Michele Embling FCA, who is an individual member;
• Peter Rupp FCA, the President of Council;
• John Palermo FCA, the Chair of the Board;
• Tony Harrington AM FCA (Chair of the Board, resigned effective 28 February 2020);
• Stephen Walker FCA (President of Council, resigned effective 31 December 2019);
• Nives Botica Redmayne FCA (Vice President, New Zealand, no longer a member following
composition change); and
• Jane Stanton FCA (former President, Australia).
The CEO is also eligible to attend and speak at NGC meetings but is not entitled to vote.
In relation to the NGC, of its three individual members:
• the Chair is required by the By-laws not to have held an official position with Chartered
Accountants ANZ or to have sat as a member of a governance body, for the 5 years prior
to their appointment. Tim Gullifer, the current Chair, meets these criteria; and
• the other two individual members are required by the By-laws never to have held an
official position with Chartered Accountants ANZ or sat as a member of a governance
body. As an individual member, Michele Embling meets this requirement. The other
individual member position is currently vacant.

The CEO’s KPIs are set directly by the Board and agreed with the CEO and the CEO’s
remuneration includes an “at risk” component. The CEO’s performance is reviewed by the
Chair of the Board.
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Since Chartered Accountants ANZ is a membership organisation, the requirement to be a
member is a selection criterion for many of its governance bodies, including the NGC. This
can impact Chartered Accountants ANZ’s ability to meet the factors relevant to assessing
independence as set out in Box 2.3 of the ASX Principles. In the case of the NGC, only
John Palermo is considered to be independent within the definition of Box 2.3. This is
because each of Tim Gullifer, Michele Embling and Peter Rupp are either current or retired
partners of Deloitte and PwC. Deloitte and PwC provide services to Chartered Accountants
ANZ from time to time and a significant number of their employees are also subscription
paying members and/or candidates enrolled in Chartered Accountants ANZ’s various
education programs. Given the function, role and decision-making power of the NGC,
Chartered Accountants ANZ does not consider that this presents any conflict of interest
which compromises the ability of Tim Gullifer, Michele Embling or Peter Rupp to exercise
independent judgement.

As set out in the By-laws, the function of the NGC is to:

During the reporting period, the NGC met five times with attendance as follows:

The Charter of the NGC expands on its functions and can be found at Appendix 5
of the Chartered Accountants ANZ Governance Manual. A copy of the Governance
Manual is available on Chartered Accountants ANZ’s website at
https://www.charteredaccountantsanz.com/about-us/governance/annual-reports

Attended

Eligible

Tim Gullifer FCA (Chair)

5

5

Jane Stanton FCA

2

2

Stephen Walker FCA (President)

2

2

Michele Embling FCA

4

5

Nives Botica Redmayne FCA (Vice President)

2

2

Peter Rupp FCA (President)

5

5

Tony Harrington AM FCA (Board Chair)

1

2

John Palermo FCA (Board Chair)

2

3
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• identify and recommend candidates to the Council for appointment to the Board and
Council;
• vet and endorse any individual member nominated to serve as a representative on Council
under By-law 106AA;
• develop skills matrices, selection criteria, succession plans, codes of conduct, training and
any other requirements for the Board;
• recommend to the Council remuneration levels for Board members (excluding the Chair);
• undertake and oversee evaluations of the Board and report the results to the Council and
the Board; and
• monitor and evaluate governance processes between the Council, Board, management,
and the NGC.

Board skills matrix
The Board skills matrix is developed and maintained by the NGC. The skills matrix is
reviewed annually by the NGC in order to ensure that the Board is constituted to best align
with Chartered Accountants ANZ’s strategic objectives. The Board skills matrix provides
an evaluation of the technical and soft skills, knowledge and experience of directors and also
helps to ensure diversity of gender, age, geography and other different perspectives.
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During the reporting period, a review of the Board skill matrix was carried out, the results of which can be summarised as follows:
Skill

Strong

Leadership: leadership accomplishments in business, practice, government, or the non-profit sector



Financial acumen: in financial accounting and reporting corporate and internal financial controls, including an ability to probe the
adequacies of financial and risk controls



Governance: commitment to the highest standards of governance and an ability to assess the effectiveness of senior management



Remuneration: setting a remuneration frame-work

Satisfactory

Developing



Strategy: ability to think strategically and identify and critically assess strategic opportunities and threats and develop effective
strategies in the context of the strategic objectives



Risk and Compliance: ability to identify key risks to the organisation in a wide range of areas and to utilise compliance management
frameworks and systems



Change management: overseeing transformational change for example from rapid growth, process re-engineering, ownership
transition etc..



Legal: qualified lawyer with involvement in corporate and commercial law



Learning & Education (1)*: Academic back-ground in learning and education or working in a TEQSA regulated environment



Learning & Education (2)*: Operational experience in a learning, education or TEQSA regulated environment, experience of
transformational change within the education industry, operating on digital platforms



Work Health and Safety: understanding of WHS to prevent / minimise risk in the workplace



Privacy & Cyber Security: ability to under-stand data management and implications to the wider organisation



Membership Organisation: experience with membership-based bodies at a senior level; member advocacy.



* The members of the Education Board, which is a delegated committee of the Board, are highly experienced and skilled in this area.

Independence of directors
During the reporting period, the Board was comprised of between 11 and 12 non-executive
directors, including the President and two Vice Presidents of Council. The Chair of the
Board is John Palermo, who is considered to be independent within the meaning of Box 2.3
of the ASX Principles. The Chair does not also hold the position of CEO.
The President and the two Vice Presidents are members of the Board for the term of their
appointment as President and Vice Presidents’ respectively. The term of appointment for all
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other directors of Chartered Accountants ANZ is three years. Directors are then eligible to
stand for re-appointment by Council for two additional terms of three years each.
It is a requirement under Chartered Accountants ANZ’s By-laws that at least 10 out of the
12 Board members also be members of Chartered Accountants ANZ. This constitutional
requirement impacts Chartered Accountants ANZ’s ability to meet the definition of
independence as described in Box 2.3 of the ASX Principles.
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During the reporting period, the members of the Board were as follows:
Director

Date of appointment

Independence assessment – Box 2.3

John Palermo FCA (Chair)

1 October 2015 (casual vacancy)

Independent; Chartered Accountants ANZ member

Chris Townend FCA (Chair of ARC)

1 January 2018

Independent; Chartered Accountants ANZ member

Rob McDonald FCA (Chair of PARC)

1 January 2018

Independent; Chartered Accountants ANZ member

Dianne Williams

1 August 2016 (casual vacancy)

Independent; non-member director

Ming Long AM FCA
(Chair of CA X Committee)

1 January 2017 (casual vacancy)

Independent; Chartered Accountants ANZ member

Penny Stragalinos FCA

1 January 2017

Not independent – partner of KPMG which provides services to Chartered Accountants ANZ and some
of whose employees are members and candidates enrolled in Chartered Accountants ANZ’s education
programs. The Board does not believe that this compromises Ms Stragalinos’ position as a director as conflicts
of interests’ measures are in place to ensure that Ms Stragalinos does not participate in, or vote on, any
decisions that involve or impact KPMG. Chartered Accountants ANZ member.

Cheryl Hayman

1 January 2018

Independent; non-member director

Sarah Petersen CA

1 January 2020

Independent; Chartered Accountants ANZ member

Peter Rupp FCA (President)

30 July 2019

Not independent – partner of Deloitte which provides services to Chartered Accountants ANZ and some
of whose employees are members and candidates enrolled in Chartered Accountants ANZ’s education
programs. The Board does not believe that this compromises Mr Rupp’s position as a director as conflicts of
interests’ measures are in place to ensure that Mr Rupp does not participate in, or vote on, any decisions that
involve or impact Deloitte. Chartered Accountants ANZ member.

Nives Botica Redmayne FCA
(Vice President, New Zealand)

30 July 2019

Independent; Chartered Accountants ANZ member

Peter O’Regan FCA
(Vice President, Australia)

1 January 2020

Independent; Chartered Accountants ANZ member

Tony Harrington AM FCA*

1 March 2019

Independent; Chartered Accountants ANZ member

Murray Jack FCA**

14 December 2014

Not independent – former partner of Deloitte which provides services to Chartered Accountants ANZ and
some of whose employees are members and candidates enrolled in Chartered Accountants ANZ’s education
programs. The Board does not believe that this compromised Mr Jack’s position as a director as conflicts of
interests’ measures were in place to ensure that Mr Jack did not participate in, or vote on, any decisions that
involved or impacted Deloitte. Chartered Accountants ANZ member

Stephen Walker FCA***

1 January 2019

Independent; Chartered Accountants ANZ member

* Resigned on 28 February 2020
** Resigned on 31 July 2019
*** Resigned on 31 December 2019
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Board induction and education
As part of the appointment process, all new directors receive detailed information outlining
their duties and responsibilities. They are also invited to attend an orientation day which
includes presentations from a number of the Executive Team and the governance team, to
ensure that they are familiar with Chartered Accountants ANZ’s governance structure and
key business and strategic issues.

John Palermo and Chris Townend are both considered to be independent directors
within the meaning of Box 2.3 of the ASX Principles. For the reasons set out above,
Penny Stragalinos is not considered to be independent. John Palermo was the Chair of
ARC until December 2019 when he became interim Chair of the Board. Chris Townend
became interim Chair of ARC in December 2019 and this appointment was confirmed in
April 2020.

The Board receives continuing education through internal and external presentations and
strategic sessions with the Executive Team.

All members of ARC are FCAs with significant experience in financial reporting and risk.
Chris Townend worked as a Chief Financial Officer in his executive career in organisations
in Australia and New Zealand. Chris is a volunteer member of the Uniting Church’s
Synod Audit and Risk Committee, and the finance committee of the Presentation Sisters
in Queensland. John Palermo has 20 years’ experience in public practice, with expertise in
corporate transaction execution, strategic business management and business structuring.
Penny Stragalinos is an audit partner at KPMG, with 25 years’ experience as an external
auditor, accounting and risk advisor. Penny was previously the COO of KPMG’s Audit,
Assurance and Risk Consulting Practice, a director and Chair of the Audit, Risk and
Compliance Committee of Victorian Opera, and a member of the Audit Committee for
The Committee for Economic Development of Australia.

Principle 3: Act ethically and responsibly
Code of Conduct
Chartered Accountants ANZ has a formal Code of Conduct for directors and members of
its governance bodies. The Code of Conduct sets out expectations that apply to each director
and member of the governance bodies regarding ethics and behaviour. A copy of the Code
of Conduct can be found at Appendix 12 of the Governance Manual which can be found at
https://www.charteredaccountantsanz.com/about-us/governance/annual-reports
During the reporting period, Chartered Accountants ANZ did not have a code of conduct
for its senior executives and employees. Instead, Chartered Accountants ANZ has a
number of separate policies that apply to its employees and cover topics such as misconduct,
complaints and grievances, conflicts of interest, discrimination, harassment and bullying and
whistleblowing. The Chartered Accountants ANZ values and their associated behaviours
have also been embedded in to Chartered Accountants ANZ’s performance management
and development framework.

Principle 4: Safeguard integrity in corporate reporting
Audit and Risk Committee
The ARC is a standing committee of the Board. During the reporting period, its members
were:

Under the terms of its charter, the key objective of the ARC is to support the Board in
fulfilling its corporate governance and oversight responsibilities regarding Chartered
Accountants ANZ and any trusts and/or legal entities established or managed by Chartered
Accountants ANZ. This responsibility includes:
• financial reporting;
• risk management systems;
• internal control systems;
• compliance; and
• internal and external audit arrangements.
A full copy of the charter can be found at Appendix 4 of the Governance Manual at
https://www.charteredaccountantsanz.com/about-us/governance/annual-reports

• John Palermo FCA;
• Chris Townend FCA;
• Penny Stragalinos FCA; and
• Ming Long AM FCA (resigned to chair the CA X Committee).

Part I: 73

Chartered Accountants Australia and New Zealand Annual Report 2020

During the reporting period, ARC met 6 times with attendance as follows:

Grant Thornton will attend the 2020 AGM and will be available to answer questions from
members about:

Attended

Eligible

John Palermo FCA (Chair until 13 December 2019)

6

6

Ming Long AM FCA

3

3

Chris Townend FCA (Interim Chair as at 13 December 2019 and
permanent Chair as at 22 April 2020)

6

6

Penny Stragalinos FCA

3

3

CEO and CFO declaration
Before the Board approves financial statements for a financial period, it receives a declaration
from the CEO and Chief Financial Officer stating that, in their opinion:
• the financial records of the entity have been properly maintained;
• the financial statements comply with appropriate accounting standards and
interpretations and give a true and fair view of the financial position and performance of
the entity; and
• this opinion was formed based on sound risk management systems and internal controls,
which operate effectively.
External auditor
Grant Thornton were appointed as the external auditor of Chartered Accountants ANZ
following a vote of members at the 2019 Annual General Meeting and have provided an
audit opinion in respect of the financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2020.
The external auditor’s performance is reviewed annually. The external auditor provides an
annual declaration of independence to the ARC.
While Chartered Accountants ANZ is not subject to the mandatory rotation of audit
partners, it voluntarily adopts this practice.
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• the conduct of their audit, and preparation and content of their Independent Auditor’s
Report;
• the policies and controls Chartered Accountants ANZ adopts regarding the preparation of
the financial statements; and
• their independence regarding the conduct of the audit.

Principle 5: Make timely and balanced disclosure
As Chartered Accountants ANZ is not a listed company and does not have shareholders, it
is not subject to the ASX Listing Rules nor to the obligation to make continuous disclosure
to the market and to investors. As such, this principle is not appropriate or applicable to
Chartered Accountants ANZ.

Principle 6: Respect the rights of members
Governance information
Chartered Accountants ANZ’s website contains multiple sections that address the
governance of the organisation, as well as copies of its annual reports, Supplemental Royal
Charter, By-laws, Regulations, the NZICA Act, the NZICA Rules, Governance Manual
and details of its directors, councillors and Executive Team. The website also includes
information on Chartered Accountants ANZ’s AGM, voting and election processes.
Communication with members
Chartered Accountants ANZ has a dedicated Public Affairs team and Member Engagement
team whose function is to ensure that there is two-way communication with members and
that members are kept informed in a timely manner of key issues that impact members.
Chartered Accountants ANZ has implemented the My CA member portal which provide
members with access to recommended content, course events, LinkedIn Learning and many
other tools and resources. A space within this portal is My CA Groups which facilitates
members connecting on various topics of interest.
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Chartered Accountants ANZ maintains several communication channels with its members
which include:
• The Acuity magazine which is published bi-monthly and 88,000-plus copies are sent
to members in more than 100 countries who receive the hard copy. The digital site,
acuitymag.com, contains material from the magazine plus 11 original, digital-only stories
per month. Some of these stories contain additional video content, and an Acuity podcast
began in August;
• Our website: www.charteredaccountantsanz.com; and
• Social media platforms, including LinkedIn, Facebook and Twitter.
Members are given the option to receive communications to and from Chartered
Accountants ANZ electronically, with the significant majority of Chartered Accountants
ANZ members receiving communications electronically.
Participation at AGMs
Chartered Accountants ANZ has historically encouraged members to participate at its
AGM by holding the AGM in different geographical locations. The 2019 AGM was held in
Wellington, New Zealand and the 2020 AGM was intended to be held in Perth, Western
Australia. Due to the impact of Covid-19, the 2020 AGM has now been relocated to Sydney
and will be held at Chartered Accountants ANZ’s corporate head office at 33 Erskine Street
as a hybrid meeting, with members able to participate virtually for the first time. The Board
believes that this innovation will further facilitate the participation of members and is
potentially a preferable and more cost effective format for the future.
In addition, Chartered Accountants ANZ holds AGMs for each of its regional areas in
Australia, New Zealand and overseas as detailed on: https://www.charteredaccountantsanz.
com/about-us/governance/agm-notice/regional-agm-notices

Principle 7: Recognise and manage risk
Audit and Risk Committee
The ARC is tasked with overseeing Chartered Accountants ANZ’s enterprise risk
management framework. Information in relation to the composition of the ARC and the
number of meetings held during the reporting period is set out above.
Enterprise Risk Management Framework
On recommendation from the ARC, the Board reviews and approves the Enterprise
Risk Management Framework including the Enterprise Risk Management Policy and
Risk Appetite Statement on an annual basis for the purpose of satisfying itself that the
framework is sound and that there an ongoing continuous improvement action plans in
place. This review took place during the reporting period.
The Enterprise Risk Management Framework establishes a foundation for the management
of strategic and operational risk during periods of organisational uncertainty or increased
stress, whilst also supporting the organisation’s efforts in achieving its strategic objectives.
Chartered Accountants ANZ has adopted a “Three Lines of Defence” risk framework
and all staff, led by the Executive Team, are responsible for the identification, assessment,
management, reporting, and monitoring of all risks across the operating spectrum, including
emerging risks and strategic risks. Risks are expected to be escalated to the Executive Team
and are discussed at the Executive Team Risk Committee, together with the tracking of any
improvement plans required for potential remediation and monitoring. Regular updates are
provided at ARC or on an as-required basis.
Internal audit
Crowe Horwath provides internal audit services to Chartered Accountants ANZ. An annual
review program is agreed in advance with the ARC and periodic reporting on progress is
provided to ARC by Crowe Horwath.
Economic, environmental and social sustainability risks
Chartered Accountants ANZ is comprised of three distinct revenue businesses being
member events and conferences (including continuing education), tertiary education
services and member subscriptions. Each segment has distinct but related markets to
consider to ensure they are and remain economically, environmentally and socially
sustainable.
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Chartered Accountants ANZ also acts as a professional conduct regulator and a quality and
practice reviewer for its members globally, except for NZ resident members which is the
remit of NZICA. This oversight is critical to ensuring the integrity and sustainability of
the CA designation. Chartered Accountants ANZ is also committed to positive action in
respect of climate change and assisting its members to play an important part in facilitating
organisations to adapt to, and mitigate against, climate change.

Quality and Practice Review Program

The quality and practice review program helps ensure members in practice maintain
a consistently high standard of quality and service to their clients. It is a key pillar in
Chartered Accountants ANZ’s commitment to upholding the integrity of the CA
designation.
Education – CA Program

Further detail is set out below.
Member value – events and conferences

Chartered Accountants ANZ is committed to delivering events, conferences, workshops
and eLearning courses to provide both members and non-members with an opportunity
to future proof their skill set, expand their knowledge and maintain their difference.
Chartered Accountants ANZ believes that ongoing education and development is key
to the sustainability of the accounting profession, ensuring that it is agile in its response
to changing economic and social environments. During the reporting period, the onset
of Covid-19 required Chartered Accountants ANZ to demonstrate this agility, which
it achieved by rapidly moving events and conferences into a digital environment. This
allowed members to continue to access these services uninterrupted and saw an uplift in
participation, with virtual attendance proving especially popular with regional members.
Chartered Accountants ANZ also launched a Business Continuity Playbook and Covid-19
hub to assist members to navigate the Covid-19 pandemic. The pivot from a face-to-face
format to virtual events has also assisted Chartered Accountants ANZ to reduce its carbon
footprint for this business segment.
In response to Covid-19 and ongoing economic uncertainty, Chartered Accountants ANZ
provided members with the ability for the first time to opt-in to quarterly payments for
their membership subscriptions. Subscriptions provide members with access to an array of
benefits and support, including access to LinkedIn Learning and Chartered Accountants
ANZ’s extensive library and research services.
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Chartered Accountants ANZ is committed to ensuring that the CA Program remains
the pre-eminent accounting qualification and that its members form part of a network
of trusted business and finance leaders. The Board has delegated responsibility for
safeguarding the academic integrity and high standards of the CA Program, and therefore its
sustainability, to the Education Board.
During the reporting period, the Education Board was comprised of 6 members as follows:
• Professor Gregor Kennedy, Pro Vice-Chancellor (Teaching and Learning) and Professor
of Higher Education, Melbourne Centre for the Study of Higher Education (CSHE),
University of Melbourne (Chair);
• Professor Philomena Leung, Associate Dean, International and Professor of Accounting
and Governance, Macquarie University; and Director, International Engagement, Optus
Macquarie University Cyber Security Hub, Macquarie University;
• Associate Professor John Medlin, Associate Dean Online Education, University of South
Australia;
• Dr Felicity Reid, Senior Academic, Associate Dean Academic, Faculty of Business,
Auckland University of Technology;
• Dr Amanda White, Senior Accounting Lecturer, University of Technology Sydney; and
• Professor Norman Wong, Professor of Accounting, Head of Department of Accounting
and Finance, University of Auckland.
All members are considered independent within the definition of Box 2.3 of the
ASX Principles.
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Under the terms of its charter, the Education Board’s primary responsibilities are to:
• function as the delegated academic governing body of Chartered Accountants ANZ;
• ensure the academic functions, authorities and responsibilities of a registered Higher
Education Provider are upheld on behalf of the Chartered Accountants ANZ Board;
• assure academic oversight and leadership to Chartered Accountants ANZ’s higher
education programs in all its normal and reasonable capacity as expected of a registered
Higher Education Provider;
• approve changes to academic policies consistent with the Education Board’s delegated
authority and recommend to the Chartered Accountants ANZ Board changes required to
other Chartered Accountants ANZ policies;
• recommend to the Chartered Accountants ANZ Board changes to the Chartered
Accountants ANZ By-laws and Regulations in relation to the admission of Members
consistent with the Education Board’s remit; and
• provide academic oversight on all programs that lead to entry into a Chartered
Accountants ANZ higher education program and/or membership, including Chartered
Accountants ANZ accredited university and other higher education provider entry
pathways.
A full copy of the Education Board’s charter can be found at Appendix 8 of the Governance
Manual at https://www.charteredaccountantsanz.com/about-us/governance/annual-reports

In response to COVID-19, during the reporting period, Chartered Accountants ANZ
moved all exams for CA Program candidates online. This ensured that approximately 8,000
candidates were able to continue their studies during the pandemic and further underscores
the long-term sustainability of this business segment.
Education – CA X Committee

The CA X Committee was established as a committee in September 2019 to oversee the CA
X project, being the re-design of the content, delivery and structure of the CA Program of
the future to ensure its relevance. The primary responsibilities of the CA X Committee are
to provide advice to management and to make recommendations to the Board in relation to
the financial, commercial and risk management of the CA X project including replacing the
student information system. The CA X Committee is comprised of a member of the Board,
being Ming Long, who has the role of Chair and Kean Selway, the Chief Operating Officer of
Deakin University and an independent subject matter expert and members of management,
with the CEO and the Group Executive of Education and Learning attending each
meeting as observers. Other members of Chartered Accountants ANZ management are
also regularly invited to attend as observers. All other Board members also have a standing
invitation to attend as observers.
A full copy of the CA X Committee’s charter can be found at Appendix 4CA of the
Governance Manual at https://www.charteredaccountantsanz.com/about-us/governance/
annual-reports

During the reporting period, the Education Board met 5 times as follows:
During the reporting period, the CA X Committee met 6 times as follows:
Attended

Eligible

Professor Gregor Kennedy (Chair)

5

5

Professor Philomena Leung

5

5

Associate Professor John Medlin

4

5

Dr Felicity Reid

5

5

Dr Amanda White

5

5

Professor Norman Wong

5

5
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Attended

Eligible

Ming Long AM FCA (Chair)

6

6

Kean Selway, Non Member

6

6

Nives Botica Redmayne FCA (NZ Vice President)

2

Observer – not
required to attend

Cheryl Hayman, Non Member

2

Observer – not
required to attend
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Professional Conduct Regulator

The Board has delegated its function as a professional conduct regulator to the Professional
Conduct Oversight Committee in Australia. In New Zealand, the role is performed by the
NZICA Regulatory Board, which is the governing body responsible and accountable for
ensuring NZICA’s regulatory functions are carried out. The NZICA Regulatory Board also
fulfils the statutory role of the NZICA Executive Board under the NZICA Act.
During the reporting period, the NZICA Regulatory Board was comprised of:
• Neil Paviour-Smith FCA (Chair);
• Rob McDonald FCA;
• Sarah Petersen CA;
• Dianne Williams; and
• Nives Botica Redmayne FCA (New Zealand Vice President and an ex-officio member,
with speaking rights and no voting rights).
All members of the NZICA Regulatory Board are considered to be independent within the
meaning of Box 2.3 of the ASX Principles.
The main functions of the NZICA Regulatory Board are to:
• control and regulate the practice of the profession of accountancy by Chartered
Accountants ANZ members in New Zealand;
• prescribe the code of ethics and maintain and monitor members’ compliance with the
code and professional standards and the NZICA Rules;
• monitor members compliance with the Auditor Regulation Act and other enactments
that relate to the practice of accountancy; and
• carry out the functions and responsibilities that are conferred on it by the NZICA Act,
the NZICA Rules, the By-laws and any other enactment.
The full charter of the NZICA Regulatory Board can be found at Appendix 7 of the
Governance Manual at https://www.charteredaccountantsanz.com/about-us/governance/
annual-reports
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During the reporting period, the NZICA Regulatory Board met as follows:
Attended

Eligible

Neil Paviour-Smith FCA

Chair

5

5

Robert (Rob) McDonald FCA

Member

5

5

Sarah Petersen CA

Member (commenced
1 January 2020)

3

3

Dianne Williams

Independent (non-member)

5

5

Nives Botica Redmayne FCA

Ex-Officio as NZ Vice
President

5

5

In Australia, professional conduct is the remit of the Professional Conduct Oversight
Committee (PCOC) which has oversight responsibility for the integrity, timeliness and
effectiveness of the disciplinary procedures carried out by the Professional Conduct
Committee, the Disciplinary Tribunal and the Appeals Tribunal established under Section 5
of the By-laws.
PCOC members are appointed by the Board. PCOC is comprised of a maximum of 5
members and must include at least 2 Chartered Accountants ANZ members that have a
minimum of 10 years’ relevant experience and at least 2 lay members. During the reporting
period, PCOC was comprised of:
• Nancy Dolan (Chair);
• John Trowbridge;
• Jan West AM FCA; and
• Taryn Rulton FCA.
John Trowbridge and Taryn Rulton are both considered to be independent within the
meaning of Box 2.3 of the ASX Principles. Nancy Dolan is a retired partner of PwC and Jan
West is a former President of Chartered Accountants ANZ and a retired partner of Deloitte,
which both provide services to Chartered Accountants ANZ and whose employees are
members and candidates enrolled in Chartered Accountants ANZ’s education programs.
The Board does not believe that this compromises Nancy Dolan or Jan West’s position as
members of PCOC and conflicts of interests’ measures are in place to ensure that they do
not participate in, or vote on, any decisions that involve or impact PwC or Deloitte.
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Whilst not FCAs, Nancy Dolan is a qualified lawyer and former partner of (then named)
Mallesons Stephen Jaques and John Trowbridge is an experienced actuary with significant
experience in developing professional standards and codes of conduct.
The full charter of PCOC can be found at Appendix 9E of the Governance Manual at
https://www.charteredaccountantsanz.com/about-us/governance/annual-reports
During the reporting period, the PCOC met as follows:
Attended

Eligible

Nancy Dolan (Chair)

4

4

John Trowbridge

4

4

Jan West FCA

4

4

Taryn Rulton FCA

4

4

Climate Change

Chartered Accountants ANZ’s operations and its economic sustainability are not directly
exposed to risks arising from climate change. However, Chartered Accountants ANZ
believes that CAs have a critical role to play in:
• providing sound advice and services as organisations, capital markets and governments
develop and implement plans for climate change mitigation and adaptation;
• using and implementing existing and developing reporting frameworks such as those from
the International Integrated Reporting Council and the Task Force on Climate-related
Financial Disclosures;
• contributing to the efforts of the organisations with which they work to integrate climate
change risk into organisational strategy, finance, operations, and communications; and
• supporting sustainable decision-making within the organisations for which they work, by
allocating budgets and resources, and by developing high-quality and timely information
and insights through measurement and disclosure, built on robust and transparent
accounting systems.
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Chartered Accountants ANZ is a member of, or partner to, a number of important climate
change groups or initiatives which are all focusing on the finance profession making
business decisions to provide a more sustainable future. These include the Deakin Centre
for Integrated Reporting, the International Integrated Reporting Council, the GAA
Sustainability working group, the United Nations Global Compact Network Australia and
Accounting For Sustainability. During the reporting period, Chartered Accountants ANZ
was a signatory to a climate change call to action published by 13 professional accounting
bodies, representing 2.5 million accountants, which committed Chartered Accountants
ANZ to:
• providing members with training and support;
• supporting relevant policy initiatives, regulation and disclosure; and
• providing sound advice to governments for a just transition to net zero carbon.

Principle 8: Remunerate fairly and responsibly
People and Remuneration Committee (PARC)
The PARC is a standing committee of the Board and is comprised of at least 3 members.
During the reporting period, the members of PARC were:
• Rob McDonald FCA (Chair);
• Cheryl Hayman;
• Penny Stragalinos FCA; and
• Murray Jack FCA (resigned with effect from 31 July 2019).
Rob McDonald and Cheryl Hayman are both considered independent directors within the
meaning of Box 2.3 of the ASX Principles.
The main function of the PARC is to assist the Board in remuneration related activities and
strategy, including setting remuneration policy to ensure that remuneration is set at levels
that are fair and reasonable and benchmarked to market rates. PARC is also responsible for
the annual performance review of the CEO and succession planning for the CEO and the
Executive Team. A full copy of the charter for PARC can be found at Appendix 4C of the
Governance Manual at https://www.charteredaccountantsanz.com/about-us/governance/
annual-reports
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During the reporting period, PARC met as follows:

Following an external benchmarking process by market specialists Egan Associates Pty Ltd,
members approved an increase to the fee pool for the remuneration of directors and office
bearers at the 2019 AGM. This saw an increase to fees take effect from 1 January 2020 as
outlined below.

Attended

Eligible

Robert McDonald FCA (Chair)

6

6

Murray Jack FCA

1

1

President – 120% of the Chair fee

Penny Stragalinos FCA

6

6

Vice President

Cheryl Hayman, Non-Member

6

6

Chair – double the director fee

Remuneration policies and practices

$144,000
$72,000
$120,000

Director

$60,000

Chair of the Audit and Risk Committee (additional)

$20,000

Non-executive

In accordance with Chartered Accountant ANZ’s By-laws, the remuneration of the
directors, President and Vice Presidents is:

In response to the COVID-19 pandemic, the directors voluntarily reduced their Q4 2020
fees by 20%.

• determined by the Council, based on an annual review and recommendation from the
NGC;
• benchmarked with the assistance of independent external advice to the NGC to ensure it
is in line with market rates; and
• within the parameters and principles approved by members.
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During the reporting period, the fees paid to non-executive key management personnel was as set out below:
Name

Position

2020

2019

Peter Rupp FCA1

President

64,800

n/a

Stephen Walker FCA2

Former President

60,000

60,000

Jane Stanton FCA

Former President

n/a

60,000

John Palermo FCA3

Chair

89,000

60,000

8,333

100,000

Former Chair

Murray Jack FCA4
Christopher (Chris) Townend FCA

Director

61,000

50,000

Cheryl Hayman

Director

52,000

50,000

Dianne Williams

Director

52,000

50,000

Ming Long AM FCA

Director

52,000

50,000

Penny Stragalinos FCA

Director

52,000

50,000

Robert (Rob) McDonald FCA

Director

52,000

50,000

Sarah Petersen CA

Director

27,000

n/a

Anthony (Tony) Harrington AM FCA7,8

Former Director

58,876

18,478

Michael (Mike) Blake FCA

Former Director

n/a

30,000

$629,010

$628,478

5

6

1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8

Peter Rupp was appointed as President effective 1 January 2020
Stephen Walker resigned as President on 31 December 2019
John Palermo was appointed interim Chair in December 2019 and Chair effective 22 April 2020
Murray Jack was Chair until his effective resignation date of 31 July 2019
Chris Townend became interim Chair of the Audit Risk Committee in December 2019 and Chair of the Audit Risk Committee effective 22 April 2020
Sarah Petersen was appointed effective 1 January 2020
Tony Harrington resigned as a Director and Chair effective 28 February 2020
Fees reflect adjustment for superannuation for director paid through company structure
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Vice President fees

1
2

Name

Position

2020

2019

Nives Botica Redmayne FCA

Vice President

62,400

30,000

Peter O’Regan FCA1

Vice President

32,400

n/a

Peter Rupp FCA2

Former Vice President

30,000

60,000

Stephen Walker FCA

Former Vice President

n/a

30,000

$124,800

$120,000

Position

2020

2019

Chair

9,528

9,569

$9,528

$9,569

Peter O’Regan was appointed effective 1 January 2020
Peter Rupp was appointed as President effective 1 January 2020

New Zealand Institute of Chartered Accountants Regulatory Board fees
Name
Neil Paviour-Smith FCA

1

1 Neil Paviour-Smith was paid NZ$10,000 in FY19 and FY20 as Chair of the New Zealand Institute of Chartered Accountants Regulatory Board.

Executives

In respect of senior executives, Chartered Accountants ANZ’s remuneration policy is to
benchmark all Executive Team roles annually using a variety of publicly available market
surveys appropriate for the role and region. Salaries are set within the parameters set by
benchmarking and the remuneration pool overseen by PARC and approved by the Board as
part of the annual budgeting process.

The Executive Team’s salaries comprise a fixed component only, although members may
be eligible to earn a short-term incentive according to the rules set out in the EPIP which
includes the achievement of performance enterprise risk and compliance key performance
indicators. In response to the COVID-19 pandemic, the Executive Team voluntarily
relinquished their eligibility to receive 2020 variable remuneration under the EPIP.

The CEO’s salary comprises a fixed component and an “at risk” component which is subject
to the Board evaluating and approving the CEO’s performance against a range of indicators,
including:
• the overall performance of Chartered Accountants ANZ’s; and
• the achievement of key performance targets that reflect the breadth of Chartered
Accountants ANZ’s strategic and priority activities.
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Details of the remuneration paid to the Executive Team and the CEO during the reporting period is set out in detail below:
Short-term
employee benefits
Name

Position

Ainslie van Onselen1

Chief Executive Officer

Simon Grant FCA

Group Executive Advocacy, Professional Standing and
International

Salary & fees

Post-employment
benefits

Discretionary7

Termination
benefits

Total
2020

Total
2019

Superannuation

55,288

2,404

57,692

n/a

375,000

25,000

400,000

448,000

David Breust

Chief Marketing Officer

332,000

25,000

357,000

392,700

Peter Vial FCA

Group Executive Advocacy, Professional Standing,
New Zealand and the Pacific

272,272

9,002

281,274

315,877

Mark Rice

Group Executive, Member Engagement

300,000

25,000

325,000

383,385

Lee Whitney

Group Executive, Account Management and Strategic
Planning

373,558

25,000

398,558

370,500

Group Executive, General Counsel & Corporate Assurance

333,153

25,000

358,153

148,596

Shona Tarrant

Group Executive, People & Culture

275,000

25,000

300,000

232,154

Simon Hann4

Group Executive, Education & Learning

399,200

25,000

424,200

404,165

Julia Quinn2

Group Executive, Public Affairs

270,000

25,000

295,000

121,215

Chun Ng CA

Chief Financial Officer

206,154

15,385

221,539

n/a

657,788

24,327

230,485

912,600

1,477,727

$251,118

$230,485

$4,331,016

$4,186,946

Seshani Bala2
3

5

Former KMP no longer with Chartered Accountants Australia and New Zealand6

$3,849,413

$0

1 Ainslie van Onselen was appointed CEO effective 18 May 2020. Ms van Onselen’s annual base salary is $600,000 inclusive of superannuation on a full-year basis with an “at risk” component of up to $200,000.
The disclosure above only includes that portion of the year that she was KMP.
2 Seshani Bala and Julia Quinn became KMP on 8 February 2019. Their remuneration for FY19 only includes that portion of the year that they were KMP.
3 Shona Tarrant became KMP on 15 October 2018.Her remuneration for FY19 only includes that portion of the year that she was KMP.
4 Simon Hann was appointed interim CEO for the period 31 March 2020 to 22 May 2020 and his compensation was adjusted accordingly for this period.
5 Chun Ng was appointed CFO effective 4 November 2020. His remuneration only includes that portion of the year that he was KMP.
6 There were two KMP employed during 2020 who are no longer employed by the organisation. Similarly, there was one employed in 2019.
7 In response to the COVID-19 pandemic, the Executive Team voluntarily relinquished their eligibility to receive variable remuneration under the EPIP.

Equity-based remuneration scheme
As Chartered Accountants ANZ is not a listed entity, there was no equity-based
remuneration scheme or analogous share price/market risk triggered scheme in place during
the reporting period.
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Financial commentary
Principal Activities

A cost mitigation plan was put in place during the second half of the financial year to manage

The principal activities of Chartered Accountants Australia and New Zealand (CA ANZ) are:

cash flow closely during COVID-19 including less travel, limited face to face events and

• to act as a membership body that represents and advocates for members globally in the
legislative, regulatory and public policy arena;
• to serve as a registered high education provider that sets entry requirements to the
profession through delivering the CA Program;
• to provide post admission education and related continuing professional development
services to members and the broader business community including through delivering
member events and conferences;
• to act as a conduct regulator in Australia and the regulator of the profession in
New Zealand by setting a code of ethics and regulations for the standard of behaviour
of the profession to maintain the pre-eminence of the CA designation alongside our
membership of international bodies including the International Federation of Accountants,
the Global Accounting Alliance and Chartered Accountants Worldwide and the provision
of member services.

Financial Results and Review of Operations
The surplus before tax for the period was $2.3m. Revenues and other income increased by
$2.7m compared with 2019 and expenses increased by $0.6m.
CA ANZ owns the freehold property at 33 Erskine Street, Sydney, where its head office is
located. The property is close to the Barangaroo precinct, an area of the Sydney CBD that in
prior years has seen consistent gains in value. In the current period, a property revaluation
decrement of $9.1m ($6.4m after tax) has been recognised in Other comprehensive income in
the Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity.

Impact of COVID-19
CA ANZ generates the majority of its revenue and cash from member subscriptions and fees
for services. These are collected at the beginning of the financial year so were not materially
impacted by the economic impact of COVID-19. Revenue and cash inflows from the CA
program and other member services take place throughout the year and were sustained

meetings, reduced office running costs, recruitment and discretionary expenses with the
executive team voluntarily relinquishing their eligibility to 2020 variable remuneration and
the Directors voluntarily reduced their Q4 2020 fees by 20%. These mitigations were offset
by some investment required to support our members in a holistic way through the delivery
of the CA Program, learning and events online, establishing a COVID-19 member hub with
new tools, support services and content, offering the quarterly subscriptions option and an
extended period of working at home for CA ANZ employees.
Cash was closely monitored during the period and the combination of revenue and cost
mitigation maintained CA ANZ’s strong cash position.

Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
CA ANZ generated a surplus before tax of $2.3m for the year (2019: $0.1m). Total revenue
and other income rose by 2.0% to $141.0m, while expenditure increased by 0.4% to $138.8m.
Other comprehensive deficit of $5.9m includes the freehold property devaluation of $9.1m
with offsetting tax impact of $2.7m, and an exchange difference on translation of foreign
operations of $0.5m.

Revenue and Expenditure
The increase in revenue and other income of $2.7m compared with 2019 is attributable to:
• An increase in membership revenue of $3.9m with net member growth of 2.3%
contributing $1.3m while an increase in annual membership subscription fees for the
2019-20 year generated an additional $2.6m.
• An increase in CA program revenues of $1.0m primarily due to a 26% increase in
enrolments in Foundations generating a $0.6m increase, an increase in CA Study
Masterclass enrolments contributing $0.4m with CA program revenues flat.
• A reduction in all other revenue and other income of $2.2m primarily due to the impact of
COVID-19 on a reduced number of events during the last quarter and the prices charged
for the events.

during COVID-19 with CA ANZ pivoting to the delivery of its programs and events on-line.
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The increase in expenditure of $0.6m compared with 2019 is attributable to:
• An increase in employee costs of $5.6m due to general salary increases of $1.4m for
the year, full year impact of prior year hires largely in member services and education of

The significant decrease in property, plant and equipment of $10.8m was driven by the
revaluation of the Erskine Street property of $9.1m, depreciation of $2.3m offset by capital
expenditure of $0.6m.

$3.4m and impact of current year hires of $0.8m. In response to the COVID-19 pandemic,

• The right-of-use asset decreased by $3.0m with $3.2m of depreciation on existing leases,

the executive team voluntarily relinquished their eligibility to 2020 variable remuneration

foreign exchange of $0.2m offset by the addition of new office space in New Zealand of

and the Directors voluntarily reduced their Q4 2020 fees by 20%.

$0.4m.

• An increase of $1.1m in expected credit loss, of which $0.5m was allowed for the impact
of COVID-19.

Intangible assets and capital work-in-progress increased by $2.5m primarily from an
increase of $3.9m for work in progress, largely driven by development of the CA Program of

• An increase in other expenses of $1.4m.

the future, offset by continued amortisation of $1.4m.

• Offset by:

Trade and other receivables increased by $4.5m due to the balance outstanding for

– A decrease in member services and education related costs of $1.5m primarily related
to COVID-19 restricting the delivery of events by the normal channels which required
venue hire and catering.
– A decrease in marketing and advertising of $2.5m primarily related to the branding
campaign in Q4 2019 not being repeated in FY20.
– A decrease in travel and accommodation services of $2.2m primarily related to
COVID-19 travel restrictions in the latter half of 2020.
– A net decrease of $1.3m in all other expenditure categories.

members taking up the quarterly option to pay their 2021 annual subscriptions, offset by the
increased expected credit loss.

Liabilities
Contract Liability – fees in advance of $93.0m includes Members’ subscription fees,
Membership application fees and course fees. $63.6m relates to subscriptions received
from members as at 30 June 2020 for services that will be delivered in the 2020-21
financial year. The amounts received are not expected to be refunded and will be recognised
as revenue in the financial year ending 30 June 2021. The increase of $8.7m from 2019

Statement of Financial Position

relates to net member growth of 2.3% and 11% more members renewing by 30 June 2020.

Net assets decreased by $2.6m over 2019 due to:

Application fees that are recognised over 25 years increased by $1.0m due to AASB 15

• Net revaluation reserve decreases on Erskine Street property of $6.4m (revaluation

Revenue from Contracts with Customers.

decrement of $9.1m offset by tax of $2.7m). This compares to a revaluation increment of

Trade payables remained relatively static and increased by $0.3m, due to reduced spend as

$18.7m in 2019.

a result of COVID-19.

• Offset by:

Lease liabilities decreased by $2.4m year on year due to lease payments of $3.9m, foreign

– Surplus for operating activities before tax of $2.3m.

exchange on translation $0.2m partially offset by interest of $1.3m and the addition of a new

– Tax benefit of $1.0m.

lease in New Zealand, under AASB 16 Leases, increasing the lease liabilities by $0.4m as at

– Increase in foreign currency translation reserve of $0.5m due to the weakening of the

30 June 2020.

New Zealand dollar.

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents increased from $76.5m to $84.3m during the year placing
CA ANZ in a strong financial position to fund ongoing operations and projects planned for the
coming years. Short term deposits due for roll over were paused in June 2020 whilst
the cash impact of the new quarterly subscriptions payment option was being assessed.
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The net deferred tax liability has decreased by $3.8m due to the property revaluation
decrement and the tax benefit for the year.

Cash Flow and Liquidity
At balance date cash and cash equivalents were $84.3m. Total Current Assets exceeded
total Current Liabilities by $7.0m as at balance date.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

2020

2019

$'000

$'000

80,851
40,936
16,617
306
2,323

76,972
39,907
18,516
281
2,614

141,033

138,290

For the year ended 30 June 2020
Notes
Member subscriptions and fees
CA Programs revenue
Other member services revenue
Other revenue
Other income

3
3
3
3
4(a)

Total revenue and other income
Employee benefits and staff related costs

4(b)

(70,412)

(64,836)

Member services and education related costs

4(c)

(24,759)

(26,293)

Technology costs (excluding depreciation and amortisation)

4(d)

(11,474)

(11,261)

Depreciation and amortisation

4(e)

(6,931)

(8,058)

Finance costs

4(f)

(1,292)

(1,403)

Travel and accommodation

(2,863)

(5,045)

Rental and outgoings

(1,949)

(2,004)

Marketing and advertising
Professional accountancy bodies fees

4(g)

Office related expenses
Impairment of intangibles and work-in-progress

10

Consultants
Expected credit loss
Other expenses

4(h)

Total expenses
Surplus before tax
Tax benefit

5(a)(b)

Surplus after tax

(3,573)

(6,083)

(2,406)

(2,390)

(1,452)

(1,252)

(15)

(156)

(768)

(1,004)

(1,336)

(276)

(9,538)

(8,152)

(138,768)

(138,213)

2,265

77

1,040

484

3,305

561

469

(431)

Other comprehensive income
Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss
Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations
Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss
Fair value (decrement)/increment of freehold property

(9,086)

19,460

2,726

(5,838)

Total other comprehensive (expense)/income

(5,891)

13,191

Total comprehensive (deficit)/surplus for the year, net of tax

(2,586)

13,752

Tax expense relating to this item

5(c)

This Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

2020

2019

$'000

$'000

84,292
19,819
6,326
110,437

76,539
15,342
5,604
97,485

95,703
18,197
4,867
118,767
229,204

2
106,533
21,157
2,368
130,060
227,545

As at 30 June 2020
Notes
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Trade and other receivables
Prepayments
Total current assets

6
7

Non-current assets
Prepayments
Property, plant and equipment
Right-of-use asset
Intangible assets
Total non-current assets
Total assets

8
9
10

Current liabilities
Contract liability – fees in advance
Trade and other payables
Provisions
Lease liabilities
Total current liabilities

11
12
13
9

77,581
17,461
5,677
2,693
103,412

69,851
17,162
4,854
2,510
94,377

9
11
13
5(d)

18,368
15,461
1,892
6,713
42,434
145,846
83,358

20,920
14,528
1,297
10,479
47,224
141,601
85,944

24(b)
24(b)
24(b)

6,078
(77)
39,249
38,108
83,358

6,078
(546)
45,609
34,803
85,944

Non-current liabilities
Lease liabilities
Contract liability – fees in advance
Provisions
Net deferred tax liability
Total non-current liabilities
Total liabilities
Net assets
Members’ funds
Amalgamation reserve
Foreign currency translation reserve
Revaluation reserve
Accumulated surpluses
Total members’ funds
This Consolidated Statement of Financial Position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
For the year ended 30 June 2020

At 1 July 2019

Amalgamation
reserve

Foreign currency
translation reserve

Revaluation
reserve

Accumulated
surpluses

Total

$'000

$'000

$'000

$'000

$'000

6,078

(546)

45,609

34,803

85,944

Surplus after tax for the year

-

-

-

3,305

3,305

Other comprehensive income

-

469

(6,360)

-

(5,891)

Total comprehensive surplus/(deficit)

-

469

(6,360)

3,305

(2,586)

At 30 June 2020

6,078

(77)

39,249

38,108

83,358

At 1 July 2018

6,078

(115)

31,987

34,242

72,192

Surplus after tax for the year

-

-

-

561

561

Other comprehensive income

-

(431)

13,622

-

13,191

Total comprehensive surplus/(deficit)

-

(431)

13,622

561

13,752

6,078

(546)

45,609

34,803

85,944

At 30 June 2019

This Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
For the year ended 30 June 2020
Notes

2020

2019

$'000

$'000

Cash flows from operating activities
Receipts from members and customers
Payments to suppliers and employees
Net payment of GST

155,862

154,907

(135,020)

(132,076)

(5,227)

(4,861)

Interest on leases

9

(1,292)

(1,403)

Net cash flows from operating activities

6

14,323

16,567

5

31

Cash flows from investing activities
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment
Payments for Intangible assets and capital work-in-progress

10

(3,969)

(579)

Payments for property, plant and equipment

8

(629)

(229)

924

1,111

(3,669)

334

(2,536)

(2,297)

Net cash flows used in financing activities

(2,536)

(2,297)

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents

8,118

14,604

Interest received
Net cash flows (used in) / from investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities
Repayment of lease liabilities

9

Effects of exchange rate movement on cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial year
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year

6

(365)

493

76,539

61,442

84,292

76,539

This Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2020

1. CORPORATE INFORMATION

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements of Chartered Accountants Australia and New Zealand

(a) Basis of preparation

and its subsidiaries (together the “Group”) for the year ended 30 June 2020 were authorised

This General Purpose Financial Report is prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting

for issue in accordance with a resolution of Directors on 21 September 2020.

Standards (AAS) and other authoritative pronouncements of the Australian Accounting

Chartered Accountants Australia and New Zealand is an Australian registered body corporate
that is governed by its Supplemental Royal Charter and By-Laws and is domiciled in Australia.
Members of Chartered Accountants Australia and New Zealand are not liable for the debts
and liabilities of the Group.

About Chartered Accountants Australia and New Zealand (“parent”)
The registered office of Chartered Accountants Australia and New Zealand is:
33 Erskine Street
Sydney NSW 2000
Chartered Accountants Australia and New Zealand is a not-for-profit entity. Its principal
activities during the year were:
• to act as a membership body that represents and advocates for members globally in
the legislative, regulatory and public policy arena;
• to serve as a registered high education provider that sets entry requirements to the
profession through delivering the CA Program;
• to provide post admission education and related continuing professional development

Standards Board (AASB) to meet the needs of the reporting requirements under the By-Laws.
It has been prepared based on historical cost, except for freehold property, which has been
measured at fair value (see Note 8).
Compliance with the Australian Accounting Standards may not result in compliance with
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), as the AAS include requirements and
options available to not-for-profit organisations that are inconsistent with IFRS. Chartered
Accountants Australia and New Zealand is considered to be not-for-profit and has adopted
some accounting policies under the AAS that do not comply with IFRS.
Unless otherwise stated, the report is presented in Australian dollars (AUD) and all values are
rounded to the nearest thousand dollars ($’000).
The consolidated Financial Report refers to the parent and its subsidiaries as if they formed a
single entity. It is made up of:
• the Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
• the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
• the Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

services to members and the broader business community including through delivering

• the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

member events and conferences;

• Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

• to act as a conduct regulator in Australia and the regulator of the profession in
New Zealand by setting a code of ethics and regulations for the standard of behaviour
of the profession to maintain the pre-eminence of the CA designation alongside our
membership of international bodies including the International Federation of Accountants,
the Global Accounting Alliance and Chartered Accountants Worldwide and the provision
of member services.
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A parent entity is an entity that controls one or more entities (subsidiaries). An investor controls
another entity, and therefore is a parent entity, where the investor is exposed, or has rights,
to variable returns from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those
returns through its power of the investee.
Inter-entity transactions and balances between the parent and subsidiaries are eliminated on
consolidation. See note 17 for details of subsidiaries.

Chartered Accountants Australia and New Zealand Annual Report 2020

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3. REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH CUSTOMERS

(b) Statement of compliance

AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers (‘AASB 15’) establishes a comprehensive

This consolidated Financial Report complies with Australian Accounting Standards.

five-step framework for recognising revenue. AASB 15 applies to all revenue arising from

Changes in accounting policies and interpretations

contracts with customers, unless those contracts are in the scope of other standards.
The Group has adopted AASB 1058 Income of Not-for-Profit Entities that simplifies the

The principal accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous

income recognition requirements that apply to not-for-profit entities, in conjunction with

financial year.

AASB 15. This does not materially impact the presentation in the Group’s financial statements.

There are no new or amended Australian Accounting Standards and AASB interpretations

How we recognise revenue for these activities depends on when the performance obligation

expected to have any significant impact on the Group’s financial report that are issued and

is satisfied:

not yet applicable.

Significant accounting judgments, estimates and assumptions
In applying the Group’s accounting policies, management continually evaluates judgments,
estimates and assumptions based on experience and other factors, including expectations of
future events that may have an impact on the Group.

• Over a period of time – if the performance obligation is satisfied over a period of time,
revenue will be recognised by being spread over this period.
• At a point in time – if the performance obligation is satisfied at a point in time, for example,
events are delivered, or goods are transferred to customers, revenue is recognised at
this point.

All judgements, estimates and assumptions made are believed to be reasonable based on
the most current set of circumstances available to management. Actual results may differ
under different conditions from when the judgments, estimates and assumptions were made.
Significant judgments, estimates and assumptions, including the impacts of COVID-19 on
expected credit loss (note 7), made by management in the preparation of this financial report
are described in the various notes:
• Contract Liability – fees received in advance – notes 3 and 11
• Depreciation and amortisation – notes 4, 8, 9 and 10
• Asset revaluations – note 8
• Asset impairments – notes 7, 8, 9 and 10
• Employee obligations – note 13
• Provisions – notes 7 and 13
• Leases – note 9
Other accounting policies are described in the notes.
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3. REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH CUSTOMERS (continued)
Disaggregation of Revenue
Member
subscriptions
& fees
2020

CA Program
revenues

Other member
services revenue

Other income

Total

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

Revenue from contracts with customers

80,851

40,936

16,617

306

138,710

Total

80,851

40,936

16,617

306

138,710

Timing of revenue recognition
Point in time

589

-

12,534

306

13,429

Over time

80,262

40,936

4,083

-

125,281

Total

80,851

40,936

16,617

306

138,710

Member
subscriptions
& fees

CA Program
revenues

Other member
services revenue

Other income

Total

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

2019
Revenue from contracts with customers

76,972

39,907

18,516

281

135,676

Total

76,972

39,907

18,516

281

135,676

312

-

12,767

281

13,360

Timing of revenue recognition
Point in time
Over time

76,660

39,907

5,749

-

122,316

Total

76,972

39,907

18,516

281

135,676
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3. REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH CUSTOMERS (continued)
Accounting Policies
(I) Member subscriptions & fees
The Group’s membership subscription year is 1 July to 30 June, with fees payable annually.
Where membership services are provided throughout the financial year, those member fee
receipts that are attributable to the current financial year are recognised as revenue over time.
Fee receipts for periods beyond the current financial year are shown, (excluding any applicable
taxes), in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position, under the heading of Current
liabilities as Contract liabilities – fees in advance.

Application fees
The Group receives non-refundable fees from applicants wishing to obtain full membership

CA Foundations provides potential CA Program candidates the opportunity to undertake study
in one or more of the prerequisite competency areas to be eligible to enrol in the CA Program.
Revenue is recognised over time in line with the delivery of the performance obligations for this
revenue stream.
CA Program revenues beyond the current financial year are shown, (excluding any applicable
taxes), in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position, under the headings of Current
liabilities as Contract liabilities – fees in advance.

(III) Other revenue generating activities
The Group undertakes certain activities which are accounted for when the performance
obligation is satisfied, including:

which is deferred and recognised over the average duration of membership. The application

Activity

Revenue recognised

fee, as currently defined, is not considered a distinct service but rather it is also considered to

Training and development courses

Over time and Point in time

be an advance payment for future services with the primary performance obligation being the

Practice Review program

Over time

Acuity magazine

Point in time

Conferences

Point in time

Student activities

Over time

Other Admissions programs

Over time

licence to use the professional designation to practice. The Group has determined the average
duration of membership to be 25 years based on the profile of members who have exited over
the past few years.
The Group recognises the amortisation of the previously deferred revenue during the period.
Application fees beyond the current financial year are shown, (excluding any applicable taxes),
in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position, under the headings of Current liabilities
and Non-current liabilities as Contract liabilities – fees in advance.

(II) CA Program revenues
The group receives fees for enrolments in CA Program modules throughout the year. The CA
Program is the professional qualification provisional members are required to complete (along
with mentored practical experience) to make them eligible to apply to become a full member.
Modules are offered over three terms and CA Program revenue is recognised over the duration

(IV) Sale of goods
The Group recognises revenue from the sale of goods when physical control of the goods
passes to the purchaser pursuant to an enforceable sales contract at the point in time the
performance obligation has been satisfied.

(V) Member benefits revenue
The Group receives revenue from member-generated activity through its member offers
program. This revenue is recognised over the respective period of service.

of the terms in line with the delivery of the performance obligations for this revenue stream.
CA Study Masterclass is a complementary study programme to assist candidates who are
completing the CA Program. Revenue is recognised over time in line with the delivery of the
performance obligations for this revenue stream.
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4. OTHER INCOME AND EXPENSE ITEMS
(I)

Income
2020

2019

$'000

$'000

(a) Other income
Rent
Interest
Total

1,404

1,525

919

1,089

2,323

2,614

2020

2019

$'000

$'000

67,944

61,736

(II) Expenses

(b) Employee benefits and staff related costs
Salaries, wages and on-costs
1

Director fees

748

627

Staff training

428

1,062

1,292

1,411

70,412

64,836

Other staff related costs
Total
(c) Member services and education related costs
Venue hire and catering

7,153

8,349

Admission Programs authors, presenters and facilitator costs

5,239

5,203

Examinations, printing & materials costs

4,920

5,175

Acuity production and distribution costs

2,650

2,516

1,117

1,555

Practice Review reviewer costs

753

1,026

Professional Conduct costs

680

505

Lifelong Learning authors, presenters and facilitator costs

Other costs
Total

2,247

1,964

24,759

26,293

1 The director’s fees for FY20 includes the Vice Presidents fees to reflect their participation in the board for this period.
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4. OTHER INCOME AND EXPENSE ITEMS (continued)
2020

2019

$'000

$'000

6,829

6,483

(d) Technology costs (excluding depreciation and amortisation)
Technology maintenance and software agreement costs
Communication costs

974

881

3,671

3,897

11,474

11,261

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment

2,331

2,596

Depreciation of right-of-use assets

3,159

3,135

Amortisation of software

1,441

2,327

6,931

8,058

Interest on lease liability

1,292

1,403

Total

1,292

1,403

1,344

1,347

Accounting Professional & Ethical Standards Board (APESB)

513

492

Other

549

551

2,406

2,390

1,605

1,478

Merchant fees

1,193

1,299

Legal fees

1,737

1,835

Other

5,003

3,540

Total

9,538

8,152

Other technology costs
Total
(e) Depreciation and amortisation

Total
(f) Finance costs

(g) Professional Accountancy Bodies fees
International Federation of Accountants (IFAC)

Total
(h) Other expenses
Professional Standards Council fee

1

1 Includes external services, accounting and audit fees, subscriptions, insurances and foreign currency gains/losses.
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4. OTHER INCOME AND EXPENSE ITEMS (continued)
(III) Interest income
Interest income on deposits is recognised on an accruals basis.

(IV) Expenses
Unless otherwise identified, expenses are brought to account when goods or services have
been received on an accruals basis. Policies relating to major categories of expenditure are:
• Employment benefit expenses
See note 13 for employee benefit expenses.

• Depreciation
See notes 8 & 9 for depreciation expenses.
• Amortisation
See note 10 for amortisation expenses.
• Impairment
See notes 7, 8, 9 & 10 for impairment expenses.

5. INCOME TAX
2020

2019

$'000

$'000

-

-

(a) Income tax expense / (benefit)
The major components of income tax are:
Current income tax benefit
Deferred tax

(1,040)

(484)

Aggregate income tax benefit

(1,040)

(484)

2,265

77

(b) Numerical reconciliation between tax expense/(benefit) recognised in the Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other
Comprehensive Income and prima facie income tax
Surplus before tax
Prima Facie tax expense at the rate of 30% (2019: 30%)
Adjustments in respect of current income tax of previous years
Restatement in respect of Deferred taxes (change in Mutuality %)
Entertainment, non-deductible donations, other permanent differences
Effect of tax rate in foreign jurisdiction
Effect of mutual activities (adjusted for specifically assessable/deductible items)
Timing differences for NZ Branch not recognised
Utilisation of previously unrecognised losses
Income tax benefit
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680

23

(841)

(13)

152

456

19

26

13

68

(2,370)

(855)

1,307

(108)

-

(81)

(1,040)

(484)
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5. INCOME TAX (continued)
2020

2019

$'000

$'000

(2,726)

5,838

9,261

8,500

Provisions and other liabilities

666

246

Lease liabilities

244

351

Intangible assets

61

82

Property, plant and equipment

40

56

Other assets

40

143

10,312

9,378

(16,821)

(19,547)

(204)

(310)

(6,713)

(10,479)

(10,479)

(5,125)

(c) Income tax expense recognised in other comprehensive income
Deferred tax expense arising from fair value measurement of freehold property
(d) Movement in deferred tax (liabilities)/assets relate to the following:
Assets
Deferred tax on losses

Liabilities
Revaluation of freehold property to fair value
Right of use assets
Net deferred tax liabilities
Reconciliation of deferred tax liabilities (net)
Carrying amount at start of financial year
Tax benefit during the period recognised in profit and loss

1,040

484

Tax expense during the period recognised in other comprehensive income

2,726

(5,838)

(6,713)

(10,479)

Carrying amount at end of financial year
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5. INCOME TAX (continued)
Accounting Policies
Income tax

Unrecognised deferred tax assets are re-assessed at each reporting date and are recognised

The Group prepares its income tax returns using the principle of mutuality to the revenue and

to the extent that it has become probable that future taxable profits will allow the deferred tax

expenses and the relevant tax jurisdiction. The principle of mutuality is a common law principle

asset to be covered.

based on the premise that individuals cannot profit from themselves.
As such:
• receipts from members are deemed to be mutual income and not subject to income tax
• expenses connected with mutual activities are therefore not deductible for taxation
purposes.
All other receipts and payments are classified in accordance with taxation legislation in the
relevant tax jurisdiction.

The Group offsets deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities if and only if it has a legally
enforceable right to set off current tax assets and current tax liabilities and the deferred tax
assets and deferred tax liabilities related to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority
on the same taxable entity. As at 30 June 2020 the Group has recognised a net deferred tax
liability of $6,713,000 (2019: $10,479,000).
At balance date, unrecognised additional accumulated revenue tax losses of $4,233,297
(2019: $3,178,475) existed for unused tax losses and unused tax credits generated by the
New Zealand operations that are not available for offset against the Australian operations.

6. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash at bank and on hand
Short-term deposits

2020

2019

$'000

$'000

84,292

45,489

-

31,050

84,292

76,539

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position and
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows include cash at bank, cash in hand and short-term
deposits, and are stated at their nominal value.
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6. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (continued)
Reconciliation of surplus after tax to cash flows from operating activities

Surplus after tax

2020

2019

$'000

$'000

3,305

561

Adjustments:
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment

8

2,331

2,596

Amortisation of intangible assets

10

1,441

2,327

Impairment of intangibles and capital work-in-progress

10

15

156

Depreciation of right-of-use asset

9

3,159

3,135

(924)

(1,111)

5

(1,040)

(484)

Interest receivable
Income tax
Net foreign currency revaluation

853

310

5, 835

6,929

(5,197)

(3,094)

Changes in working capital:
(Decrease)/increase in net receivables and prepayments

7

Increase in trade and other payables

12

299

4,436

(Decrease)/increase in provisions

13

1,418

(772)

Increase in fees in advance

11

8,663

8,507

5,183

9,077

14,323

16,567

Net cash flows from operating activities
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7. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
2020

2019

$'000

$'000

Trade receivables

21,632

15,803

Allowance for expected credit loss

(2,182)

(846)

19,450

14,957

Current

Non-trade receivables / prepayments
Other receivables
Total trade and other receivables

369

385

19,819

15,342

The loss allowance as at 30 June 2020 and 30 June 2019 was determined as follows for both trade receivables and contract assets (in $’000):
30 June 2020
Expected loss rate
Gross carrying amount – trade receivables
Loss allowance
30 June 2019
Expected loss rate
Gross carrying amount – trade receivables
Loss allowance

Current
(not past due)

30 to 90 days
past due

91 to 180 days
past due

181 to 270 days
past due

271 to 365 days
past due

More than 365
days past due

Total

0.1%

3.9%

15.6%

26.6%

55.2%

83.6%

16,738

1,192

544

412

1,303

1,443

21,632

14

47

85

110

719

1,207

2,182

Current
(not past due)

30 to 90 days
past due

91 to 180 days
past due

181 to 270 days
past due

271 to 365 days
past due

More than 365
days past due

Total

0.0%

0.8%

2.9%

16.6%

30.9%

53.5%

11,233

2,030

520

544

294

1,182

15,803

0

17

15

91

91

632

846

Accounting Policies
Trade receivables are recognised and carried at the original invoice amount less an allowance

A provision for expected credit loss of $2,182,000 (2019: $846,000) has been raised to

for expected credit loss (‘ECL’).

cover expected uncollectible debtors. The Group does not hold any collateral over these

For trade receivables, the Group applies a simplified approach in calculating ECLs. The Group

balances. The provision has been calculated in line with AASB 9 Financial Instruments.

does not track changes in credit risk, but instead recognises a loss allowance based on lifetime

The Group has no receivables with renegotiated credit terms that would have been past

ECLs at each reporting date. The Group has established a provision matrix that is based on

due under the original terms and conditions.

its historical credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the debtors
and the economic environment. COVID-19 has negatively impacted the expected collectability
of trade receivables, $0.5m has been reflected in the forward-looking factors.
Trade receivables are non-interest bearing and are generally on 30-day terms.
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Current non-trade receivables are generally non-interest bearing and are normally payable
at call. There are no non-trade receivables that are past due at the reporting date.
The Group has receivables relating to the 2021 annual membership subscription renewal, where
members have chosen a quarterly instalment payment option that was not offered in the prior year.
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8. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Group

Freehold
property
– at fair value

Furniture and
equipment
– at cost

Computer
Fixture and fittings
equipment on freehold premises
– at cost
– at cost

Fixture and fittings on
leasehold premises
– at cost

Motor vehicles
– at cost

Total

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

100,900

3,892

2,391

9,537

9,232

145

126,097

Cost or valuation
At 1 July 2019
Additions

-

137

348

144

-

-

629

Disposals

(9)

(453)

-

(31)

-

-

(493)

Revaluation decrement
Net foreign currency revaluation
At 30 June 2020

(9,891)

-

-

-

-

-

(9,891)

–

(1)

(1)

(2)

(29)

(1)

(34)

91,000

3,575

2,738

9,648

9,203

144

116,308

Depreciation and impairment
At 1 July 2019
Depreciation charge
Disposals
Revaluation
At 30 June 2020
Net Book Value as at 30 June 2020

-

(3,303)

(2,069)

(9,145)

(4,940)

(107)

(19,564)

(809)

(166)

(252)

(203)

(886)

(15)

(2,331)

4

452

-

29

-

-

485

805

-

-

-

-

-

805

0

(3,017)

(2,321)

(9,319)

(5,826)

(122)

(20,605)

91,000

558

417

329

3,377

22

95,703

82,250

5,164

6,059

9,537

10,597

145

113,752

-

92

137

-

-

-

229

-

(1,364)

(3,853)

-

(1,434)

-

(6,651)

19,460

-

-

-

-

-

19,460

Cost or valuation
At 1 July 2018
Additions
Disposals
Revaluation increment
Net foreign currency revaluation
At 30 June 2019

-

-

48

-

69

-

117

101,710

3,892

2,391

9,537

9,232

145

126,907

-

(4,521)

(5,466)

(8,962)

(5,388)

(92)

(24,429)

Depreciation and impairment
At 1 July 2018
Depreciation charge
Disposals
Revaluation
At 30 June 2019
Net Book Value as at 30 June 2019
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(810)

(146)

(456)

(183)

(986)

(15)

(2,596)

-

1,364

3,853

-

1,434

-

6,651

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

(810)

(3,303)

(2,069)

(9,145)

(4,940)

(107)

(20,374)

100,900

589

322

392

4,292

38

106,533

Chartered Accountants Australia and New Zealand Annual Report 2020

8. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)
Accounting Policies
Determining depreciation

(II) Revaluations

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment, other than land which is not depreciated, is

Following initial recognition at cost, freehold property is carried at fair value.

calculated on a straight-line basis.

To ensure the carrying amount represents fair value, we revalue freehold property assets

The depreciation rates applied considers an asset’s remaining useful life and estimated

annually. External valuations are conducted once every three years unless it is evident there

residual value.

has been a sufficiently significant movement on Sydney CBD property values which was the

The cost of fixtures and fittings on leasehold premises is amortised over their estimated useful
lives, or the remainder of the lease term, whichever is shorter.
Useful lives are:

case at 30 June 2020. As a result, we appointed an external valuer CBRE Valuations Pty
Limited to perform an independent valuation as at 30 June 2020. Fair value is determined by
the Directors based on independent advice from the external valuer.
Generally, revaluation increments are credited to the revaluation reserve included in the

Freehold property:
Building

50 years

Building plant

25 years

Furniture

10 years

Office equipment

5 years

Computer equipment

3 years

Fixtures and fittings on freehold premises

10 years

Fixtures and fittings on leasehold premises

Lease term

Motor vehicles

6 years

Each financial year, the Group reviews our assets’ residual values, useful lives and depreciation
methods, and adjusts them if appropriate. There have been no adjustments made in the

Members’ funds section of the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position. The exception is
where it reverses a revaluation decrement for the same asset that was previously recognised
in profit or loss. In this case, the increase will be recognised in profit or loss.
Conversely, devaluation decrements are recognised in profit or loss, except where they offset
a previous revaluation increment for the same asset. In these cases, a decrement is debited
directly to the property revaluation reserve, up to the credit balance in the revaluation reserve
for that asset.

Valuation techniques, inputs and processes
This table shows the valuation technique and inputs used to measure the freehold property’s
fair value:

Valuation technique

Key inputs

Market approach:

• Comparable property sale values,

Freehold property is valued based on:

• net lettable floor space,

in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable. Impairment losses

• rental income potential,

• market rentals,

are recognised as expenditure in the Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other

• market capitalisation rates, and

• market capitalisation rates, and

• comparable property sales transactions.

• allowance for location, topography,

current year.

(I) Impairment
We review the carrying values of plant and equipment for impairment when events or changes

Comprehensive Income.
Freehold property is measured at revalued amounts. As such, impairment losses on freehold

condition and size.

property are treated as a revaluation decrement, although only up to the amount of existing
revaluation surpluses.
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8. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)
Accounting Policies (continued)
The highest and best use of the freehold property is considered to be its current use.
COVID-19 has caused uncertainty in the commercial property market impacting income and

(III) Disposal
An item of property, plant and equipment will be written off when:

investment performance. The valuation of the freehold property is based on the information

• no further future economic benefits are expected from its use, or

available at the date of valuation.

• it is disposed of.

The property has been pledged as security for the Group’s banking facilities.

Any gain or loss that arises from the disposal of an asset (calculated as the difference
between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is included in

Fair value hierarchy
The entire freehold property amount is categorised as Level 3 in the fair value hierarchy. That
is because significant adjustments need to be made to the observable data of comparable
properties and require the Directors to exercise judgment.

the Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income in the year
the asset is disposed of. During the year a periodic review of fully depreciated assets was
undertaken to determine if there was any further future economic benefit expected from their
use, with those assets that are fully depreciated and no longer in use being written off.

Level 3 inputs are defined as unobservable inputs for an asset or liability.

Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurements
There were no transfers between the different levels of the fair value hierarchy during the
current or previous financial year.

Sensitivity analysis on unobservable inputs
Unobservable inputs

Sensitivity of fair value measurement to
changes in unobservable inputs

Allowances for location, topography, condition, Significant increases/(decreases) in these
and size as determined by the Directors.

adjustments would result in a higher/(lower)

Variations in the market capitalisation

fair value of freehold property.

rates will create a higher or lower fair value
measurement.
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9. LEASES
Reconciliation of right-of-use assets
The Group leases several assets including office space and office equipment.
2020

2019

$'000

$'000

18,197

21,157

Office Space
$’000

Office Equipment
$’000

Total
$’000

At 1 July 2019

20,827

330

21,157

Depreciation

(3,016)

(143)

(3,159)

357

-

357

a) Right-of-use asset
Non-current
Right-of-use assets

2020

Additions
Effects on foreign currency

(157)

(1)

(158)

18,011

186

18,197

At 1 July 2018

23,428

465

23,893

Depreciation

(2,991)

(144)

(3,135)

390

9

399

20,827

330

21,157

2,693

2,510

30 June 2020
2019

Effects on foreign currency
30 June 2019
b) Lease liabilities
Current
Lease liabilities
Non- current
Lease liabilities

18,368

20,920

Total

21,061

23,430
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9. LEASES (continued)
Reconciliation of lease liabilities
Office Space
$’000

Office Equipment
$’000

Total
$’000

23,018

412

23,430

Interest expense

1,278

14

1,292

Lease payments

(3,659)

(169)

(3,828)

357

-

357

Net movement during year

(2,024)

(155)

(2,179)

Effects on foreign currency

(187)

(3)

(190)

20,807

254

21,061

24,852

465

25,317

2020
At 1 July 2019

Additions

30 June 2020
2019
At 1 July 2018
Interest Expense

1,382

21

1,403

Lease payments

(3,617)

(83)

(3,700)

Net movement during year

(2,235)

(62)

(2,297)

Effects on foreign currency

401

9

410

23,018

412

23,430

30 June 2019

Accounting Policies including significant accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions
A lease is a contract, or part of a contract, that conveys the right to use an asset for a period

At the commencement date of the lease, the lease liability is initially recognised for the present

of time in exchange for consideration.

value of non-cancellable lease payments discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease

The tenor of a lease includes any renewal period where the lessee is reasonably certain

or, if that rate cannot be readily determined, the Group’s incremental borrowing rate.

that they will exercise the option to renew. The Group has reviewed all its leases and included

The lease payment used in the calculation of the lease liabilities should include variable

any extensions where the Group assessed it is reasonably certain the lease agreement will

payments when they relate to an index or rate. Where leases contain variable lease payments

be renewed.

based on an index or rate at a future point in time, the Group has used the incremental uplift

The assessment of the lease term is revised if there is a change in the non-cancellable
lease period.

contained in the lease or the respective Reserve Bank forward-looking CPI target for CPIrelated increases. In the absence of any floor or cap clauses in the lease agreements, the
Group measures the rent for the year under market review at an amount equal to the rent of
the year preceding the market review increased by a fixed rate.
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9. LEASES (continued)
Accounting Policies including significant accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions (continued)
The Group applies the exemption for low value assets and as such does not recognise leases

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are

that have a lease term of 12 months or less or are of low value as a right of use asset or lease

not yet paid at the commencement date. Lease payments are discounted using the relevant

liability. The lease payments associated with these leases are recognised as an expense in the

Group’s incremental borrowing rate. The incremental borrowing rate used for this calculation

Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income on a straight-line

is dictated by the tenor of the lease and the location of the asset. The incremental borrowing

basis over the lease term.

rate is the rate the Group would be charged on borrowings, provided by our banking partners.
The weighted average incremental borrowing rate is 5.78%. The following lease payments are

Low value assets consist of IT equipment (such as laptops and monitors).

included where they are not paid at the commencement date:

The right-of-use asset is depreciated to the earlier of the useful life of the asset or the lease
term using the straight-line method and is recognised in the Statement of Profit or Loss and
Other Comprehensive Income in “Depreciation and amortisation”. The unwind of the financial
charge on the lease liabilities is recognised in the Statement of Profit or Loss and Other
Comprehensive Income in “Finance costs” based on the Group’s incremental borrowing rate.

• fixed payments, less any lease incentives receivable.
Subsequently, the lease liability is measured by:
• increasing the carrying amount to reflect interest on the lease liability
• reducing the carrying amount to reflect the lease payments made
• remeasuring the carrying amount to reflect any reassessment or lease modifications or to
reflect revised in-substance fixed lease payments.

Lease Maturity:

Contractual Maturities of lease liabilities

Less than
6 months
$’000

6-12
months
$’000

Between
1 and 2 years
$’000

Between
2 and 5 years
$’000

Over
5 years
$’000

Total contractual
cash flows
$’000

Carrying
amount
$’000

As at 30 June 2020
Lease Liabilities

1,903

1,938

7,879

10,146

3,717

25,583

21,061

Total Lease Liabilities

1,903

1,938

7,879

10,146

3,717

25,583

21,061

Lease Liabilities

1,899

1,927

7,851

11,699

6,235

29,611

23,430

Total Lease Liabilities

1,899

1,927

7,851

11,699

6,235

29,611

23,430

Contractual Maturities of lease liabilities
As at 30 June 2019
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10. INTANGIBLE ASSETS
Group

Computer Software

Work-in-progress

Total

$’000

$’000

$’000

10,536

74

10,610

Additions

-

3,969

3,969

Impairment

-

(15)

(15)

184

(184)

-

-

(4)

(4)

(1,529)

-

(1,529)

(10)

-

(10)

9,181

3,840

13,021

(8,242)

-

(8,242)

(1,441)

-

(1,441)

1,529

-

1,529

(8,154)

-

(8,154)

1,027

3,840

4,867

19,761

506

20,267

-

579

579

Cost or valuation
At 1 July 2019

Transfers
Capitalised to furniture and equipment
Disposals
Net foreign currency revaluation
At 30 June 2020
Amortisation and impairment
At 1 July 2019
Amortisation charge for year
Disposals
At 30 June 2020
Net Book Value as at 30 June 2020
Cost or valuation
At 1 July 2018
Additions
Impairment

-

(156)

(156)

Transfers

873

(873)

-

Disposals

(10,175)

-

(10,175)

77

18

95

10,536

74

10,610

(16,090)

-

(16,090)

(2,327)

-

(2,327)

10,175

-

10,175

(8,242)

-

(8,242)

2,294

74

2,368

Net foreign currency revaluation
At 30 June 2019
Amortisation and impairment
At 1 July 2018
Amortisation charge for year
Disposals
At 30 June 2019
Net Book Value as at 30 June 2019
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10. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)
Accounting Policies
Intangible assets

Gains or losses arising from a disposal of an intangible asset are measured as the difference

Intangible assets are initially measured at cost. Following initial recognition, intangible assets

between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset. They are recognised

are carried at cost less:

in the Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income when the

• any accumulated amortisation; and

asset is disposed.

• any accumulated impairment losses.

The Group has no intangible assets assessed as having an indefinite life.

The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed to be either finite or indefinite. Intangible

At the end of each financial year, we review our intangible’s residual values, useful lives and

assets with finite lives are amortised over their useful life and assessed for impairment
whenever there is an indication that they may be impaired. The amortisation period and

amortisation methods, and adjust them if appropriate. A review of intangible assets took
place during the year, with those assets that are fully depreciated and no longer in use being

method for an intangible asset with a finite useful life is reviewed at least every financial year

written off.

end.

Work-in-progress

Changes in the asset’s expected useful life, or the expected pattern of consumption of the

Work-in-progress are intangible assets undergoing development that are not ready for use

asset’s future economic benefits, are accounted for by changing the amortisation period or

and are expected to be completed in future financial years. They are recorded at cost less any

method. The amortisation expense on intangible assets with finite lives is recognised in the

known impairment.

Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income in the expense

We review the carrying values of work-in-progress for impairment when events or changes

category, consistent with the function of the intangible asset.
Intangibles are amortised over their useful lives as follows:
Computer software

3 – 5 years

in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable. External factors
and internal sources of information are used to assess whether the recoverable amount
exceeds the carrying value with any excess taken as an impairment. Impairment losses
are recognised as expenditure in the Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other
Comprehensive Income.
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11. CONTRACT LIABILITY – FEES IN ADVANCE
2020

2019

$'000

$'000

63,565

57,569

996

933

13,020

11,316

-

33

77,581

69,851

15,461

14,528

15,461

14,528

Current liabilities
Members’ subscription fees
Members’ application fees
CA Program, training course fees and other
Early payment incentive liability

Non-current liabilities
Members’ application fees

Accounting Policies
Contract liability – fees in advance are carried at the original invoice amount for goods

Application fees are fees paid by applicants to obtain full membership. These revenues are

and services to be provided after the year end. It includes membership fees, Chartered

deferred and recognised over the estimated average duration of membership.

Accountants Program enrolment fees, application fees, and training and development
course fees.

The Early Payment Incentive was provided to members in the financial year ending 30 June
2019, who renewed their membership to CA ANZ during the incentive period. This was deemed

The fees in advance related to annual members’ subscriptions are for services that will be

a separate performance obligation to the membership fees received in advance and has been

delivered in the financial year ending 30 June 2021. The amounts received are not expected to

disclosed separately as a liability. No Early Payment Incentive was offered in the year ending

be refunded and will be recognised as revenue in the financial year ending 30 June 2021.

30 June 2020.
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12. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES
2020

2019

$’000

$'000

Trade payables

8,150

10,035

Other payables

9,311

7,127

17,461

17,162

Current

Accounting Policies
Trade payables are carried at cost. They represent liabilities for goods and services provided

Other payables are recognised for amounts to be paid in the future for goods or services

to the Group before the end of the financial year that are unpaid and arise when the Group

received, regardless of whether they are billed to the Group. Payables are normally settled on

becomes obliged to make payment for these goods and services in the future. Trade payables

30-day terms and incur no interest.

are non-interest bearing and are normally settled on no longer than a 30-day term.

13. PROVISIONS
2020

2019

$’000

$'000

Current
Employee entitlements (a)&(b)

5,677

4,854

5,677

4,854

1,434

868

Non-current
Employee entitlements (b)
Leasehold make good provision

458

429

1,892

1,297

Accounting Policies
Provisions are recognised when:
• there is a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event;
• it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to
settle the obligation; and
• a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.
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(a) Annual leave
Liabilities for annual leave expected to be settled within 12 months of the reporting date, are
recognised in the provision for employee benefits in respect of employees’ services up to the
reporting date. They are measured at the amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are
settled. Any annual leave expected to be settled beyond 12 months of the reporting date is
measured at the present value of expected future payments.

Chartered Accountants Australia and New Zealand Annual Report 2020

13. PROVISIONS (continued)
Accounting Policies (continued)
(b) Long service leave
The liability for long service leave is recognised in the provision for employee benefits.
It is measured as the present value of expected future payments for services provided by
employees up to the reporting date using the projected unit credit method. Consideration
is given to expected future wage and salary levels, experience of employee departures, and
periods of service. Expected future payments are discounted using market yields at the
reporting date based on Australian high-quality corporate bonds with terms to maturity
and currencies that match, as closely as possible, the estimated future cash outflows.

Reconciliation of movement of provisions
Make Good
$’000
At 1 July 2019

429

Expensed/arising during the period

29

Used/utilised during the period

-

At 30 June 2020

458

14. COMMITMENTS
2020

2019

$’000

$'000

6,546

5,978

7,711

6,213

-

-

14,257

12,191

Expenditure commitments
Less than 12 months
More than 12 months and less than five years
More than five years

Expenditure commitments mainly relate to the Group’s IT strategic supply agreements,
IT software licence fees, software development costs and contributions to professional
accountancy body Accounting Professional & Ethical Standards Board Limited (APESB).
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15. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Indemnities for bank guarantees to the lessors of premises occupied under leases

2020

2019

$’000

$'000

1,086

945

2020

2019

16. AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

Group Auditor

$

$

235,000

394,740

30,000

31,110

265,000

425,850

5,517

1,424

Auditing of financial reports – Overseas subsidiaries

28,087

-

Total audit fee

28,087

-

7,984

10,103

1

Auditing of financial reports – Australia
Auditing of financial reports – Overseas subsidiaries
Total audit fee
Other services
Preparation of overseas subsidiary financial statements1
Other Auditor2

Other services
Payroll and advisory services
The group auditor also provided audit services to the Chartered Accountants Benevolent Foundation Limited on a complimentary basis.
The group auditor charged $5,500 (2019: $5,500) to each of the Chartered Accountants Scholarship Fund and the Chartered Accountants Necessitous Circumstances Fund for audit services
and donated back $5,500 (2019: $5,500) to each fund.

1 Audit services for the 2019 financial year were provided by EY. Grant Thornton were appointed auditors to the Group at the Annual General Meeting for the 2020 financial year.
2 McMillan & Co LLP are the auditors for the United Kingdom entity.
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17. UNLISTED SHARES IN OTHER ENTITIES
The parent has an interest in the following corporations:
Name of corporation

Country of incorporation

Percentage of ownership
2020

2019

Australia

100%

100%

Singapore

100%

100%

(Hong Kong) Limited

Hong Kong

100%

100%

CAANZ (UK) Limited

United Kingdom

100%

100%

CA ANZ (Malaysia) Sdn Bhd

Malaysia

100%

100%

Chartered Professional Accountants Pty Ltd

Australia

100%

100%

Chartered Accountants Benevolent Foundation Limited
Chartered Accountants Australia and New Zealand
(Singapore) Private Limited
Chartered Accountants Australia and New Zealand

Chartered Accountants Australia and New Zealand has control of:
• Chartered Accountants Australia and New Zealand (Singapore) Private Limited,
• Chartered Accountants Australia and New Zealand (Hong Kong) Limited,
• CAANZ (UK) Limited,
• CA ANZ (Malaysia) Sdn Bhd, and

Chartered Accountants Benevolent Foundation Limited is the Trustee for Chartered
Accountants Scholarship Fund and Chartered Accountants Necessitous Circumstances Fund.
The purpose of these funds is to provide scholarships and financial assistance to people in
financial hardship.
Chartered Accountants Benevolent Foundation Limited, Chartered Accountants Scholarship
Fund and Chartered Accountants Necessitous Circumstances Fund have not been

• Chartered Professional Accountants Pty Ltd.

consolidated as the parent does not have the ability to use its power to affect the amount of

These entities’ results have been consolidated into this Consolidated Financial Report at

return nor is it entitled to returns from these entities.

30 June 2020.

The parent’s results include the regulatory operations of the New Zealand Institute of

The parent’s results are materially consistent with the consolidated financial results, therefore

Chartered Accountants, as per the New Zealand Institute of Chartered Accountants Act 1996.

separate parent disclosures are not included.

The parent has 33.3% voting rights in Accounting Professional & Ethical Standards Board
Limited (“APESB”) but does not have right to any distributions from APESB. Chartered
Accountants Australia and New Zealand has committed to the on-going financial support of
APESB of $447,000 in the next financial year.
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18. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
Fair values
Financial instruments are recognised initially when the company becomes a party to the

Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the

contractual provisions of the instruments. Financial instruments are initially measured at fair

financial asset expire or when it is transferred, and the transfer qualifies for derecognition.

value including transaction costs.
After initial recognition, financial assets are measured at amortised cost.

Financial assets and liabilities by categories:

Notes

Total
$’000

Financial assets
measured at
amortised cost
$’000

Financial liabilities
measured at
amortised cost
$’000

2020
Current financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents

6

84,292

84,292

-

Trade receivables

7

19,450

19,450

-

Other receivables

7

369

369

-

Total current financial assets

104,111

104,111

-

Total financial assets

104,111

104,111

-

(17,461)

-

(17,461)

Current financial liabilities
Trade and other payables

12

Lease liabilities

9

Total current financial liabilities

(2,693)

-

(2,693)

(20,154)

-

(20,154)

Non-current financial liabilities
Lease liabilities
Total financial liabilities
Net financial assets/(liabilities)
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9

(18,368)

-

(18,368)

(18,368)

-

(18,368)

65,589

104,111

(38,522)
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18. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
Financial assets and liabilities by categories (continued)

Notes

Total
$’000

Financial assets
measured at
amortised cost
$’000

Financial liabilities
measured at
amortised cost
$’000

2019
Current financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents

6

76,539

76,539

-

Trade receivables

7

14,957

14,957

-

Other receivables

7

385

385

-

Total current financial assets

91,881

91,881

-

Total financial assets

91,881

91,881

-

(17,162)

-

(17,162)

Current financial liabilities
Trade and other payables

12

Lease liabilities

9

Total current financial liabilities

(2,510)

-

(2,510)

(19,672)

-

(19,672)

Non-current financial liabilities
Lease liabilities

9

Total financial liabilities
Net financial assets/(liabilities)

(20,920)

-

(20,920)

(40,592)

-

(40,592)

51,289

91,881

(40,592)

Expected credit loss
Allowance for expected credit loss in financial assets carried at amortised cost were

The Group has elected to apply the simplified approach for measuring the loss allowance at

recognised in surplus or deficit. AASB 9 requires an expected credit loss model to be used

an amount equal to the lifetime expected credit loss for trade receivables, contract assets and

in impairing financial assets. This model requires the Group to account for expected credit

lease receivables.

losses and changes thereto at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial
recognition of the financial assets. It is no longer necessary for a credit loss event to have

Refer to note 7 for further detail.

occurred before impairments are recognised.
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19. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
The Group’s principal financial instruments are comprised of cash, receivables and payables.
The Group manages its exposure to key financial risks in accordance with its policies, the
objective of which is to support the delivery of the Group’s financial targets while protecting
future financial security.
The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are market risk, credit risk and
liquidity risk.

Currency risk
This is the risk that the fair value or future cash flow of a financial instrument will fluctuate
because of changes in exchange rates. We manage currency risk of our New Zealand
operations by regularly monitoring the liquidity requirements and forecasting expected foreign
currency cashflows.
We are also exposed to currency risk from our foreign operations in Hong Kong, Malaysia,
Singapore and the United Kingdom. However, as at 30 June 2020, these activities were

We use different methods to measure and manage these risks, including:

immaterial and the risk is minimal.

• monitoring levels of exposure to interest rates,

Credit risk

• conducting ageing analysis and monitoring specific credit balances to manage credit risk,

Management believes that the Group does not have a concentration of credit risk. The Group’s

or

exposure to credit risk is equal to the carrying value of the cash at bank and short-term

• monitoring liquidity risk through the development of future rolling cash flow forecasts.

deposits which are held with financial institutions with a credit rating of AA- or better and

The Board reviews and agrees on policies for managing each of these risks.

been given to the impact of COVID-19 on the credit risk on receivables (refer note 7).

Market risk
Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will
fluctuate because of changes in market prices. The main components of market risk to the
Group are interest rate risk and currency risk.

Interest rate risk

receivables which are generally high volume and low individual amount. Consideration has

Liquidity risk
This is the risk that, due to our operational liquidity requirements, the Group:
• will not have sufficient funds to settle a transaction on the due date;
• will be forced to sell financial assets at a value less than what they are worth; or

This is the risk that movements in variable interest rates will affect financial performance by

• may be unable to settle or recover a financial asset at all.

increasing interest expenses or reducing interest income. The Group is exposed to floating

The Group receives a substantial part of its cash inflows at the beginning and end of the

interest rates on its cash and fixed interest rates on its term deposits. The effect of a

financial year and manages its expenditure within these cash inflows and approved funding

reasonably possible change in interest rates will result in an immaterial amount of change to

arrangements.

interest revenue.

Most of the Group’s financial liabilities, such as payables and accruals to suppliers and
employees, are due within 30 days.
To help reduce liquidity risk, we have a liquidity policy which sets targets for the minimum and
average level of cash and cash equivalents to be maintained.
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20. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
The Group made related party payments to certain parties including partners or employees of

Chartered Accountants Australia and New Zealand incurred no external expenses

director-related entities. These included payments to members and member firms for services

(2019: $8,257) on behalf of Chartered Accountants Benevolent Foundation Limited.

including training, support for the Chartered Accountants Program, reviewer fees for the
Quality Review Program and consulting services. These payments were made on arm’s length
commercial terms and conditions.

The Group also provides complimentary accounting and administration services for the
Chartered Accountants Benevolent Foundation Limited, Chartered Accountants Scholarship
Fund and the Chartered Accountants Necessitous Circumstances Fund.

The following transactions occurred with director-related parties:
2020

2019

103,277

386,132

Consulting

KPMG (NSW)1

Venue Hire

KPMG (Melbourne)1

1,364

-

Sponsorship

Committee for Economic Development of Australia2

8,194

7,864

Royalties on Event Materials

KPMG (NSW)1

22,638

3,391

Membership

Committee for Economic Development of Australia2

16,322

-

1 Penny Stragalinos is a partner of KPMG
2 Ming Long is a non-executive director of the Committee for Economic Development of Australia (CEDA)
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21. DIRECTOR, VICE PRESIDENT AND EXECUTIVE DISCLOSURES
Details of key management personnel
(I) President and Vice Presidents

(III) Executives

Presidents

A van Onselen

Chief Executive Officer

Commenced 18 May 2020

P Rupp FCA

Appointed 1 January 2020

W (Rick) Ellis

Chief Executive Officer

Resigned 15 April 2020

S Walker FCA

Term Completed 31 December 2019

S Hann

Interim Chief Executive Officer / Group
Executive, Education and Learning

Appointed Interim Chief
Executive Officer 31 March
2020-22 May 2020

D Breust

Chief Marketing Officer

S Grant FCA

Group Executive Advocacy, Professional
Standing and International

J Paterson CA

Chief Financial Officer

Resigned 16 August 2019

C Ng CA

Chief Financial Officer

Appointed 4 November 2019

M Rice

Group Executive, Member Engagement

S Bala

Group Executive, General Counsel &
Corporate Assurance

P Vial FCA

Group Executive, Advocacy, Professional
Standing New Zealand and the Pacific

Appointed Interim Chair 13 December 2019

J Quinn

Group Executive, Public Affairs

Appointed Chair 22 April 2020

S Tarrant

Group Executive, People & Culture

L Whitney

Group Executive – Account Management
& Strategic Planning

Vice Presidents
N Botica Redmayne FCA
P O’Regan FCA

Appointed 1 January 2020

P Rupp FCA

Term completed on taking up role as President on
1 January 2020

(II) Directors
Chair
M Jack FCA

Resigned 31 July 2019

A Harrington FCA

Appointed 1 August 2019
Resigned 28 February 2020

J Palermo FCA

Board Members
C Hayman
M Long FCA

Executives are classified as the Chief Executive Officer (CEO) and the Executive Team who

R McDonald FCA
J Palermo FCA

Appointed Chair 22 April 2020

P Stragalinos FCA

are the authorised key decision makers for the organisation. Except for the CEO and CFO
who joined during the year all other members of the Executive Team were key management
personnel for the full year.

C Townend FCA
D Williams
A Harrington FCA

Commenced role as Chair 1 August 2019
Resigned 28 February 2020

S Petersen CA

Part II: 36

Appointed 1 January 2020

Chartered Accountants Australia and New Zealand Annual Report 2020

21. DIRECTOR, VICE PRESIDENT AND EXECUTIVE DISCLOSURES (continued)
(IV) Compensation policy

(V) Compensation of Directors, Vice Presidents and Executives for the year

Remuneration of the Directors is approved by the Council based on recommendations from
the Nominations and Governance Committee using external market benchmark data.
A total remuneration pool for Directors is then approved by members at an AGM and was
last approved at the 2019 AGM in respect of 2020 to 2022. In response to the COVID-19
pandemic, the executive team voluntarily relinquished their eligibility to 2020 variable

2020

2019

$’000

$'000

4,864

4,945

Compensation of Directors, Vice Presidents and Executives
Short-term benefits

remuneration and the Directors also voluntarily reduced their Q4 2020 fees by 20%.

Other long-term benefits

The directors’ fees for FY20 includes the Vice Presidents fees to reflect their participation in

Termination benefits

the board meetings for this period. The remuneration of the CEO and the Executive Team is

-

-

230

-

5,094

4,945

considered by the People and Remuneration Committee with a recommendation put forward
for Board approval. Further information on the People and Remuneration Committee is set out
in our 2020 Corporate Governance Statement which forms part of this annual report.
To ensure equity in our remuneration decisions, we use salary bands to establish remuneration
ranges for jobs of similar value. The Group benchmarks jobs for job sizing using a wellestablished methodology that provides remuneration ranges for salary bands based on
job size. In structuring remuneration ranges, we aim to remain competitive and positioned
appropriately for the scope and size of our operations. The CEO is entitled to a base
remuneration plus an ‘at risk’ component based on achieving approved KPI’s.
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(VI) Loans to key management personnel
There are no loans between key management personnel and the Group.

(VII) Other transactions with key management personnel and their related parties
There are no other transactions conducted between the Group and key management
personnel or their related parties, apart from those disclosed above relating to compensation
or that were conducted other than in accordance with normal employee relationship on
terms no more favourable than those reasonably expected under arm’s length dealings with
unrelated persons.
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22. INDEMNIFICATION OF DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS
The parent’s By-Laws provide that each Director and Officer will be indemnified against any
losses or expenses that they incur or become liable to pay by, reason of any act or deed done
by the Director or Officer in discharging their duties, unless the act or deed arises from the
Director’s or Officer’s own wilful default. Further, Directors and Officers are not liable for:
• the acts of any person,
• joining in any receipt or document,
• any act of conformity, or

Cash flows are included in the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows on a gross basis.
The GST component of cash flows arising from investing and financing activities (which is
recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority) is classified as part of operating
cash flows.
Commitments and contingencies are disclosed net of the amount of GST recoverable from,
or payable to, the taxation authority.

(b) Reserves
Other components of equity include the following:

• any loss or expense happening to the Group

Amalgamation reserve

unless it arises from the Director’s or Officer’s own wilful default.

1 January 2015.

23. MEMBERS AND MEMBERS’ LIABILITY

Represents the fair value of net assets transferred from NZICA on amalgamation,

Revaluation reserve
Comprises gains and losses from the revaluation of property (see Note 8).

Total membership increased to 128,683 as of 30 June 2020 (2019: 125,802).

Accumulated Surpluses

Under the terms of the Group’s Supplemental Royal Charter and By-Laws:

Includes all current and prior period retained profits.

• members are not entitled to receive a dividend from the Group; and

Foreign currency translation

• former members remain liable for all amounts they owed the Group at the time they

The assets and liabilities of foreign operations are translated into Australian dollars at 30 June,

ceased to be a member. Other than this, members have no liability for any matters related
to the Group.

at the rate of exchange at reporting date. These exchange differences are recognised in Other
Comprehensive Income and accumulated in the foreign currency translation reserve.

24. SUMMARY OF OTHER ACCOUNTING POLICIES

25. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

(a) Goods and services tax (GST)

As discussed in the financial commentary, the COVID-19 pandemic has impacted the Group

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of GST except:

during the period. Subsequent to the end of the financial year, the pandemic and its impact

• where the GST incurred on a purchase of goods or services is not recoverable from the

Australia and Auckland, New Zealand, additional border closures between Australian states,

taxation authority. In this case, the GST is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of
the asset, or as part of the expense item, as applicable; and
• on receivables and payables which are stated with the amount of GST included.

has continued to evolve with further outbreaks resulting in lockdown restrictions in Victoria,
new stimulus measures and many other items. It is therefore not practical to estimate the
potential impact, positive or negative, after reporting date.
Other than the above, between the end of the financial year and the date of this Financial

The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included as

Report there has been no item, transaction or material or unusual event that is likely, in the

part of receivables or payables in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position.

opinion of the Directors, to affect significantly the operations of the Group, or the Group’s state

For all Contract liability – fees in advance that are subject to GST, a liability for GST payable

of affairs in future financial years.

is raised. The exception is for Contract liability – fees in advance that have a settlement date,
for the GST liability, that occurs before the balance date (at which stage the liability will have
already been settled).
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Directors’ Declaration
The Directors of Chartered Accountants Australia and New Zealand declare that the consolidated financial statements and notes set out on pages 4 to 38, which have been prepared as required
under the By-Laws:
(a) Comply with Australian Accounting Standards and other mandatory professional reporting requirements, and
(b) Present fairly the financial position of the Group as at 30 June 2020 and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the year ended on that date.
In the opinion of the Directors, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the parent will be able to pay its debts as and when they become due and payable.

J Palermo FCA

C Townend FCA

Director and Board Chair

Director

Sydney, 21 September 2020
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Level 17, 383 Kent Street
Sydney NSW 2000
Correspondence to:
Locked Bag Q800
QVB Post Office
Sydney NSW 1230
T +61 2 8297 2400
F +61 2 9299 4445
E info.nsw@au.gt.com
W www.grantthornton.com.au

Key audit matter

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Revenue recognition - Note 3

Independent Auditor’s Report
To the Members of Chartered Accountants Australia and New Zealand
Report on the audit of the financial report

Opinion
We have audited the financial report of Chartered Accountants Australia and New Zealand (CA ANZ) and its subsidiaries
(collectively the Group), which comprises the consolidated statement of financial position as at 30 June 2020, the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity
and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements,
including a summary of significant accounting policies, and the directors’ declaration.
In our opinion, the accompanying financial report of Chartered Accountants Australia and New Zealand presents fairly, in
all material respects, the Group’s financial position as at 30 June 2020 and of its performance and cash flows for the year
then ended in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards.

Revenue has a recorded value for the year ended 30 June
2020 of $138,710,000, made up of member subscriptions &
fees of $80,851,000, CA Program revenues of $40,936,000,
other member services revenue of $16,617,000 and other
revenue of $306,000. $125,281,000 of revenue has been
recognised over time with $13,429,000 recognised at a point
in time.
The process to measure the amount of revenue to recognise
in the financial statements, including the determination of the
appropriate timing of recognition, involves significant
management judgement.

Our procedures included, amongst others:






This area is a key audit matter given the management
judgement involved in developing and applying appropriate
accounting policies that comply with accounting standards and
in determining the timing of amounts to be recognised as
revenue.





Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Our responsibilities under those standards are
further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report section of our report. We are
independent of the Group in accordance with the ethical requirements of the Accounting Professional and Ethical
Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the Code) that are relevant to our audit of the
financial report in Australia. We have also fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.





We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.



Key audit matters
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the financial
report of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial report as a whole, and in
forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

‘Grant Thornton’ refers to the brand under which the Grant Thornton member firms provide assurance, tax and advisory services to their clients
and/or refers to one or more member firms, as the context requires. Grant Thornton Australia Ltd is a member firm of Grant Thornton International
Ltd (GTIL). GTIL and the member firms are not a worldwide partnership. GTIL and each member firm is a separate legal entity. Services are
delivered by the member firms. GTIL does not provide services to clients. GTIL and its member firms are not agents of, and do not obligate one
another and are not liable for one another’s acts or omissions. In the Australian context only, the use of the term ‘Grant Thornton’ may refer to
Grant Thornton Australia Limited ABN 41 127 556 389 and its Australian subsidiaries and related entities. GTIL is not an Australian related entity to
Grant Thornton Australia Limited.

www.grantthornton.com.au

Reviewing revenue recognition policies for
appropriateness and compliance with AASB 15
Revenue from Contracts with Customers / AASB
1058 Income of Not-for-Profit Entities;
Considering whether any distinct services were
provided or transferred to members on initial
application and the implications, if any, on when the
associated revenue should be recognised in relation
to application fees;
Reviewing management’s estimate in relation to the
average duration of membership in order to assess
the timing of recognition of application fee revenue;
Performing analytical procedures using active
student data and standard cost per unit of study in
order to assess CA Program revenue;
Performing analytical procedures on revenue figures
to identify large or unusual movements, and
reviewing industry trends;
Performing substantive procedures whereby we
selected a sample of revenue transactions and
inspected student enrolment documentation, the
course fee structure, cash received and agreed the
recognition of revenue in accordance with the AASB
15 / AASB 1058; and
Assessing the adequacy of disclosures for
compliance in accordance with Australian Accounting
Standards.

Property revaluation - Note 8
The carrying value of the Erskine Street, Sydney property at
the reporting date is $91 million and constitutes 40% of total
assets of the Group.
This property is carried at fair value based upon a Directors’
valuation each year. The valuation was supported by an
independent external valuation obtained by the Directors.

Grant Thornton Audit Pty Ltd ACN 130 913 594
a subsidiary or related entity of Grant Thornton Australia Ltd ABN 41 127 556 389

Evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of
management's internal controls related to revenue
recognition across different revenue streams
(member subscriptions, member services & CA
program revenue);

This was considered a key audit matter due to the value of the
asset and the judgments applied in determining the fair value,
in particular in the context of the impact of the COVID-19
pandemic on CBD property values.
.

Our procedures included amongst others:








Obtaining an understanding of management’s
process for assessing the fair value of the freehold
property;
Assessing the qualifications, competence and
objectivity of the independent external valuer and
scope of their work;
Assessing the appropriateness of the valuation
methodology employed by the external expert and
evaluating the key assumptions used in determining
the fair value; and
Assessing the appropriateness of the disclosures in
Note 8 to the financial statements.

Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation.
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Information other than the financial report and auditor’s report thereon
The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included in the
Group’s annual report for the year ended 30 June 2020, but does not include the financial report and our auditor’s report
thereon.
Our opinion on the financial report does not cover the other information and accordingly we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.
In connection with our audit of the financial report, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial report or our knowledge obtained in the audit or
otherwise appears to be materially misstated.
If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are
required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.
Responsibilities of management and those charged with governance for the financial report
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial report in accordance with Australian
Accounting Standards. This responsibility also includes such internal control as management determines is necessary to
enable the preparation of the financial report to be free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
In preparing the financial report, management is responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the
management either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.
Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.
Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial report
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole is free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance
is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with the Australian Auditing
Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions
of users taken on the basis of this financial report.
A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial report is located at the Auditing and Assurance
Standards Board website at: https://www.auasb.gov.au/auditors_responsibilities/ar5.pdf. This description forms part of our
auditor’s report.

Grant Thornton Audit Pty Ltd
Chartered Accountants

M A Adam-Smith FCA
Partner – Audit & Assurance
Sydney, 21 September 2020
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